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Tuesday, March 1, 2022
--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.
ENBRIDGE GAS INC. - PANEL 1

Craig Fernandes

Jeff Hodgins

Tom Grochmal

Daniel Johnson

Sutha Ariyalingam

MR. MURRAY:  Good morning, everyone.  This is the second day of the Enbridge DSM proceeding, technical conference.  Before I hand it over to the first questioner from OGVG, I am going to hand it over to Mr. O'Leary who, I understand has one preliminary matter he wants to address.
Preliminary Matters:

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  Yes, there were some questions that were posed to the panel by Ms. Girvan on behalf of CCC, and I believe that one of our witnesses would like to speak to the answers given.

I believe that is Mr. Johnson, if I am correct.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  That's correct.  So, yeah, yesterday I said subject to check in response to Ms. Girvan that the methodology outlined in CCC 13 was consistent with how we did it in the past.  That was only partially correct.

I would just like to clarify that is consistent with the methodology that we have applied for legacy UG but not legacy EGD.  There is a bit of a difference.  At legacy EGD, all portfolio costs including the low-income portion were charged out based on a pro-rata share of program costs relative to the total spend, excluding the low-income program spend.

So in effect, the second paragraph outlined in the IR response is not consistent with the historic approach at legacy EDG.  We believe the legacy UG method is better, so that is why we propose to do that going forward for everything.  Hopefully that is helpful.

MR. O’LEARY:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, I don't know if -- Ms. Girvan, are you -- I know she may have been unavailable this morning, but I just want to check to see if she here and if so whether she has any follow-up.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I believe she is not here today in the morning.

MR. MURRAY:  So then I will hand it over to you, Mr. Buonaguro.
Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Great.  Good morning, panel.  My name is Michael Buonaguro.  I am counsel for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.

I am scheduled for 20 minutes.  It probably will be that or maybe a little less, with any luck.

I am going to start with Exhibit I.6.EGI.OGVG.1.  Thank you very much.  If we scroll down to page 4 of 9, as part of the -- that's fine, thank you.

As part of the answer to part A I was referred to Exhibit I.5.EGI.GEC.5, which includes an Excel spreadsheet that shows amongst other thing participants by rate class for the period 2015-2019, but also extending from 2020 all the way through to 2027, which is the end of the current proposed plan.

And in reviewing that -- and I don't think you have to turn it up, but in reviewing that I noticed for 2021, which is the last year of which will now be actuals, the participants, unique participants for the contract rate classes increases significantly over the 2020 to 2015 period.  Is that fair?  I think it is an average of somewhere between -- it's usually around 200 to 250 participants, and in 2021 the forecast amount of participants was about 375, I believe.

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry I am just trying to pull up.  You said GEC 5?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  I5-EGI-GEC-5, attachment 1.  It is an Excel spreadsheet, but, yes, that is it too.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  So you're saying the, sorry -- could you --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Go to page 2.

MR. JOHNSON:  -- to the next page?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  You're referring to the --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I can jump in.  It wasn't a specific point.  It's just I noticed that in my interrogatory, so in the interrogatory I asked for the actuals from 2015 to 2020.

Part of my answer which referred to this which included 2021 information and beyond, and I noticed that 2020-2021 there is a significant jump in participants in the contract classes but also overall, which you can see at the bottom.  About 61,000 in 2020 and 2021 it is 70,000; do you see that?

MR. JOHNSON:  I can, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think this is another, in other answers and I know in I think it is the DSM variance account, I think 2020 may have been affected adversely by COVID in terms of participant numbers?

MR. JOHNSON:  That would be correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. JOHNSON:  Well, sorry.  I do want to clarify.  In certain areas and not others.  So not necessarily in the total, but for certain programs for sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Relative to that 2021 was a pretty good year it looked like.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  So the only thing -- I apologize, I am trying to -- yes.  So 2021 would have been a forecast.  You are not looking at actuals here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So thank you, that was my next question, because I do note and it is on the page there this is filed 2021-11-15.  I was wondering, for example do you have actuals for 2021?

MR. JOHNSON:  We don't have finalized actuals yet for 2021.  We're in the process of doing that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When you say finalized do you mean -- do you have a rough copy of the 2021, unaudited version?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah.  So we have sort of non-final.  We go through quite a process to make everything is ready before we hand it over to the auditor at the end of March.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Would it be possible -- now, if we look at my interrogatory again, so this is back to -- I am just pulling it up myself -- back to I6-EGI-OGVG-1, thank you.

So what I asked for was with respect to actuals, and you produced tables 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5, which were all based on periods in ending in 2020.

And it would be useful to me if I could get those tables updated to include the 2021 results.  Is that possible?  Understanding that those are rough results, that they need to be audited?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  So I am not quite sure on what the timing of when undertakings need to be complete by, because as I say we're still in the process of finalizing 2021 results.

What I can do is certainly undertake to do that on a best-efforts basis and you know, I guess my question to you would be, if it is something we can't produce in time but you would still like it, is it useful for us to produce it for you afterwards but still before the hearing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I would say yes, thank you for that.  It would be useful prior to the hearing, at least directionally, and I will point out why.  It is quite simple.

If you go to table 5, for example, if you look at that.  So this is one of the areas of interest I have.  It says -- and I will say that generally speaking when I am asking you questions I am interested in the contract classes, so you can presume that in my questions.

It says customers that have not participated in the 2015-2020 period in DSM, and the total there is 360.

Now, your forecast for 2021 was 375.  So it is possible that 2021 may have put a big dent in that number, right, which would be good news from my perspective as someone who is looking at that issue.

So it doesn't have to be exact.  I am just looking at it directionally too.  So if you can't give me the actual numbers until after the hearing, but you give me something directional, a rough number, that would be helpful as well prior to the hearing.

If I can -- I will recap the undertaking, then.  The undertaking would be with respect to Exhibit I.6.EGI.OGVG.1, tables 1 to 5, to update those tables to include 2021 results.

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, just before that gets finalized, could I ask -- since you mentioned the contract rate classes.  It would decrease our work significantly if we could focus on just updating the contract rate classes.  As you noted, they're much smaller numbers so it is much easier to verify things.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough.  As I said, I am primarily in in this context interested in the contract classes, so fair enough.  I will take that limitation.

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Johnson, I believe the undertakings as per the procedural order are due on the 16th.  So, Mr. Buonaguro, if that is not capable, you're okay with that being filed at a later date?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  It would be nice to have it for the hearing, but fair enough if I can't get it right away.

MR. JOHNSON:  We could certainly have it I think, before the hearing because we should have everything finalized around that time.  We just won't necessarily have it finalized by -- I think you said the 16th, Mr. Fernandes?

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine for me.  So thank you.  So can we get an undertaking number.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes, that will be undertaking JT2.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.1:  WITH RESPECT TO EXHIBIT I.6.EGI.OGVG.1, TABLES 1 TO 5, TO UPDATE THOSE TABLES TO INCLUDE 2021 RESULTS FOR THE CONTRACT RATE CLASS.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And have I sufficiently described it for the record?  Where is counsel --

MR. MURRAY:  I believe so.

MR. OLEARY:  Mr. Buonaguro, are you looking for my approval of the description of the undertaking?  I am not sure what the process is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  We were asked at the outset to make sure we describe it succinctly and I think I have done that.

MR. OLEARY:  I think so.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, we're on table 5 and I have a very, very technical question.  I see that for rate 100 and rate M5, we have negative numbers, so negative customers that have not participated.

I paused over that a little bit.  I think that is because the way you calculated that, the total number of unique participants in those rate classes over the
period -- so in this case 2015-2020 -- is greater than the number of customers in those classes at the end of 2020 or January 2021, and that's just sort of pops out a negative number.  Is it that simple, or is there something more to it?

MR. JOHNSON:  I would have to take that away to provide an explanation.  It is a good point.

It could also be just because --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I can tell you what I did was I looked -- if you go up to table 2, it shows the number of customers at January 2021, and you look at one of those classes.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The total number at the end of 2020, essentially, and you compare that to the number of unique participants over the period, the difference is those numbers, negative 3, negative 5.  So I think it is that.

You can take that subject to check.  If there is something else going on, you will let me know?

MR. JOHNSON:  I could repeat my understanding or if you want to repeat it, and I can try to confirm what you just said.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  If you go to the rate M5, you have 38 as at January 2021, that's the total number of customers.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you compare that to -- I think it is table 3.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Same class, you have 43.  The difference of that is five.

MR. JOHNSON:  Right.  I got you, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So it is just the way -- you sort of assumed that the year ends is a total over the period, which you have to do.  I understand that.  It is rough.  So there isn't that it is negative five, it's just -- I think the implication I can take from that is with respect to rate M5 over the five-year period all, if not almost all of the customers in those classes that participated at one time or another, accounting for the fact that customers move in and out of that -- that is interruptible?

MR. JOHNSON:  Exactly, yes, that would be my understanding as to -- because presumably just at the end of the period that we're asked for, there happened to be less customers in that rate class and, to your point, for that to be true; virtually all or potentially all of them would have participated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So moving on, at part C -- and I won't repeat the question.  I asked a question about trying to figure out for the people, for the customers, the contract customers that have participated why that was the case.

As part of your answer, you talk about the steps that Enbridge Gas takes to contact the customers for the commercial and industrial programs.

And in that case, you're combining the contract and uncontract rate accounts and that number is over 300,000.

I just want to confirm my understanding that for the contract rate customers, we're talking about -- if we go up top, it is about a thousand customers and those customers all have customer account representatives assigned to them.  Is that true for contract rate customers?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Mr. Buonaguro, I can say that as a general rule, that is a true statement, that we would be proactive in having a technical relationship with those customers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you give me a rough ratio of customer account representatives to those 1,000 customers?


So for a typical customer account representative who is dealing with contract rate customers, how many customers are they responsible for?

MR. GROCHMAL:  The average number of customers per utility rep that is responsible for that support?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. GROCHMAL:  I would rather -- I think it varies depending on the account.  If you are looking for an overall average, for say like the industrial sector or you're saying all contract rates, I would rather just take that away.  I could come up with an average for you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine.  So that will be an undertaking.

MR. MURRAY:  Can we describe the undertaking again just for the record, just so it is clear?

MR. BUONAGURO:  To provide a description of the ratio of customer account representatives to contract rate customers, essentially, you know, with some narrative about how many contract customers an average account representative is responsible for.

MR. MURRAY:  And can you confirm, Enbridge, that you are going to do that?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Confirmed.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT2.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.2:  TO PROVIDE A DESCRIPTION OF THE RATIO OF CUSTOMER ACCOUNT REPRESENTATIVES TO CONTRACT RATE CUSTOMERS, ESSENTIALLY, YOU KNOW, WITH SOME NARRATIVE ABOUT HOW MANY CONTRACT CUSTOMERS AN AVERAGE ACCOUNT REPRESENTATIVE IS RESPONSIBLE FOR.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And those customer account representatives, would they have a role in promoting DSM to their customers that they are responsible for?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes.  Mr. Buonaguro, that is their job, is to proactively promote the programs to those customers and build long-term relationships, and support them on their journey to continuous improvement with energy efficiency.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Moving on again a sub part of this answer at part 1, so I should say that generally speaking, you provided four explanations as to why contract rate customers might not participate in DSM in any particular year even though they're aware of it.  Is that a fair description of these answers, the 1 to 4 answers?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Well, maybe could you take me back to the question quickly, then I could.  We're responding to the questions, so I just want to make sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If you go up the one page, it says: "Enbridge Gas can provide insight into some of the main reasons why contract rate customers who have been contacted by Enbridge Gas choose not to participate in the program, and they include..."


I was just summarizing that, really.

This basically says they know about DSM, but they might not participate and here is some of the reasons why.  That is all this is, right?

MR. GROCHMAL:  That's fair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So the firsts one, number one, most customers have limited available funding each year and other investment opportunities can be prioritized over energy efficiency projects as a result of low natural gas rates.

Can you give me a sense of how big a problem is that?  I mean, how often, generally speaking, are your contract rate customers not participating because the customer obligation, so the spending that the customer has to put into the effort is too high?  Can you give me a sense of how much of a barrier that is, again specific to contract rate customers.

MR. GROCHMAL:  How big a barrier?  Sort of in relative terms?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So for example, how many customers per year are telling the company, we can't afford this.

MR. GROCHMAL:  I think that's a tough one to answer, and I will tell you why.  I think we kind of allude to it in the preamble to this response.

We have a lot of -- 1,000 customers, as you can clearly see.   We have a number of what we refer to as energy solution advisors that have sort of ongoing relationships with many of these customers.

We don't necessarily track all of the interactions and all of the reasons in all of the opportunities, like why they pursue some and don't pursue others.  I think that is actually, if you scroll up a little bit, what we refer to.

So as a result, we kind of gave you a general sense of what are the themes that we, you know, see on a recurring basis the number of customers.

I would think, you know, going back -- sorry, if you scroll back down so I can look at your question about the first bullet time about limited time and resources --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry to interrupt, but I am focussing on number 1.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Limited funding, sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. GROCHMAL:  The quick answer is I can't give you a precise answer because again, we don't have -- frankly, I don't have data I can go back to and say for this amount of opportunities, they're sort of just not moving ahead.  We can go and canvas all energy solution advisors and give you some sense of that, it would be a lot of work to do that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So let me put it this way.  You know it is a problem.  You can't really tell me how big of a problem it is, you don't collect the information relative to this issue, right now.  But it is something that you could, but it would take a lot of time to do, or you would have to change your sort of reporting structure on this particular issue going forward.

MR. GROCHMAL:  I would say some of the information exists throughout.  Like, we do -- we do have a sense -- I do think we document to some extent in our application process, but is that is more for opportunities that go ahead, you know what I mean.

In terms of documenting why ones don't, I think it would be quite an intensive effort to consolidate and bring together information to say, you know -- especially if you are looking to qualify it in some sense.

I can tell you it is a prevent issue.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Again, we raise it here in evidence because it is prevalent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So my next question on this is -- I guess there's two parts to the cost.  One, some of the cost is offset by whatever the incentive is for whatever program the customer would be interested in, correct?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry, the cost of undertaking an energy efficiency project?  Is that what you mean, sir?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  So the program, the definition of the program is that they're getting some sort of incentive.  So some of the cost of the program is borne by the company through the DSM program.  There is some incentive usually, correct?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes.  If they participate, yes, there's that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So for the remainder of the cost, which presumably is the problem that is being illustrated in number 1, is there a mechanism in your framework that addresses that?  That provides some way for the -- for a customer facing this issue to overcome it?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Is there a mechanism in our framework?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And I am not trying to be sneaky about it, it is, for example -- Mr. Elson talked about this a little bit in the context of a particular program, financing, so some way for the customer to harness the gas savings that are going to be generated through this, through whatever DSM project they are, and pay that over time, for example.  Is that a mechanism --


MR. GROCHMAL:  That's fair.  I think that would be -- the obvious example would be financing of some sort.  I think that is what you are getting at, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. GROCHMAL:  This might be one where I might refer to a fellow panel member, but my understanding is that you know, as far as DSM goes, I mean providing financing is not sort of our focus or it is not -- I think the framework in fact says that that's sort of not our game, so to speak.  But I might just ask Mr. Fernandes to comment on that.

MR. FERNANDES:  I believe the OEB has told us in the past that the utility is not a financing operation for its customers.  They should be capable of doing that on their own.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So, thank you.  One thing I would throw out there for your consideration -- and this occurred to me recently.  When it comes to customer connections and in particular when we're talking about contract customers, Enbridge applied for and reached a solution in terms of, under the scope of the hourly allocation factor where rather than paying a capital contribution up front, contract-level customers were able to as part of their contract commit to a number of years in order to essentially finance what would be their capital contribution through a minimum amount paid to Enbridge for distribution services.

It occurred to me that something like that might be feasible here.  Have you ever thought about that or having heard that possibly for the first time, do you think that might be something that could be considered?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think it is something that might be considered, but at this point in time I think that would be a challenge for the present framework.  We would need some direction from the OEB in order to undertake to do that work.  But I don't think we would say we would necessarily be against it, but it does require a number of framework or policy considerations to be put in place.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I don't want to put you on the spot now, but is it something you could think about by way of undertaking, what are the challenges?  Is that sort of a mechanism for the contract rate customers in the context of DSM?


MR. FERNANDES:  Presumably you're talking about creating some form of a rate rider in order to recover the cost or access to --


MR. BUONAGURO:  It is interesting you mentioned a rate rider, because the equivalent mechanism for the general rate services classes in the context of a new connection or an expansion would be the system expansion surcharge, which would be an approved rider.

I think on the contract basis, which is the one I am most interested in, they don't need the SES, the system expansion surcharge, because individual customers can as part of their contract commit to X number of years to essentially guarantee the income necessary to offset the costs of the connection.

In the case of DSM, I am wondering whether it might be something -- to be able to do something similar where for example the customer would guarantee consumption at a level of the status quo and essentially pay the costs of the capital -- the costs of the capital related to their DSM project through the savings that they're going to experience.

So even though -- if their status quo consumption is X and the savings because of DSM reduces consumption to Y, the difference between X and Y would still be built in the contract and that is how they would pay it.

I am sort of thinking a bit on the fly here, but it's sort of that.  And then the reason why I thought this might be feasible is because you're actually dealing with contract customers, who don't just rely on base rates; they actually tailor the contract to their specific needs, in the same way that [audio dropout] was utilized in the contract relationship between them.

Anyway, I don't want to spend all day on it.  I am just saying is it something you could think about because I would be, I think it would be useful to explore further possibly at the hearing and it would nice to take an undertaking where you thought about it and maybe raise issues about how it would be feasible or not feasible.

MR. FERNANDES:  We would have to take it back to -- there is a number of other departments within the utility that would have to take a look at that, and I think there is probably more than one way.  So we can undertake to take a high-level overview and at least hopefully provide some sort of response to you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MR. FERNANDES:  We kind of understanding where you are going with it.  There is probably more than one way of doing that.  We might be able to come up with something that would be a high-level review of where we might go with that.  In terms of this proceeding, though, I would want to set the expectation that, you know, the procedural elements that are left and the timeline wouldn't necessarily allow to flesh that out in this sort of time frame.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I appreciate that.  I mean, it is the kind of solution that I don't think necessarily has to be available day 1.  It is something that could be developed over time, in any event, parallel to the framework.

But anyway if I can get the undertaking to take a look at that, that would be great.  If you give me the undertaking number I will provide a little summary.

MR. MURRAY:  The undertaking number would be JT2.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.3:  TO CONSIDER THE ISSUES SURROUNDING A FUNDING SOLUTION WHERE CONTRACT RATE CUSTOMERS THROUGH THEIR CONTRACTING WITH ENBRIDGE ARE ABLE TO ESSENTIALLY FUND THEIR DSM INVESTMENTS USING THE SAVINGS THAT THEY EXPERIENCE OVER AN APPROPRIATE PERIOD OF TIME, SIMILAR IN NATURE TO HOW CONTRACT RATE CUSTOMERS CAN FUND THEIR WHAT OTHERWISE WOULD BE THEIR CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION REQUIREMENTS THROUGH THE HOURLY ALLOCATION FACTOR.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The undertaking is to consider the issues surrounding a funding solution where contract rate customers through their contracting with Enbridge are able to essentially fund their DSM investments using the savings that they experience over an appropriate period of time, similar in nature to how contract rate customers can fund their what otherwise would be their capital contribution requirements through the hourly allocation factor.  Does that make sense?

MR. GROCHMAL:  We can certainly have a look at it, Mr. Buonaguro.  My only thing, upon giving it further thought, because I think one of the first things we would do is have you explored what services are available on the open market, because I think that is part of the reason the OEB previously gave a direction we should facilitate financing but not actually be in the financing business ourselves when it comes to energy efficiency projects.

What you described sounds like more of an ESCO model, and so I think the thinking is that there is and open market there for service providers who not only can sell the equipment, they can finance it, and then the bill is available as a mechanism to facilitate that.  I am just curious, have you done any work yourselves to investigate that on behalf of your customers?

MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  Simple answer.  I mean, fair enough, and maybe that that is part of your answer about how that impacts the market for that similar type of service.  Fair enough.

I was looking at more of the mechanism that you are already using in one context.  It seemed to me to be something that could be transferred to the DSM context, but that might be one of the issues.

So if we are okay with the undertaking I only have one or two more questions left.  Okay.

For this next last couple of questions I am going to change the interrogatory response I am looking at.  I am looking at Exhibit I.7.EGI.OGVG.2 and this is in -- yes, sorry.  This is in the context of the reply evidence, although the particular answer I am looking at was actually provided by Enbridge.

I am looking at part C, Enbridge Gas response.

So the question is right above and I am just going to read the last bit of it which was the actual question.  The actual question was:
"Please provide EGI's current position on the risks associated with declining load and customer numbers and its plans to address those risks as part of its next rebasing application, including any plans to seek approval of shortened amortization periods."


The response was:

"Enbridge Gas notes that this interrogatory is out of scope for this proceeding and therefore cannot respond."


Now, I don't want to infer too much from that response, so I am going to put to you what I do infer and you can tell me if I am right or wrong.

I infer from this answer that the framework that Enbridge is putting forward is viable regardless of what Enbridge proposes for rates in 2024 and going forward, including the things that they might have to do with respect to the risk associated with declining load and possibly shortened amortization periods.

You're basically telling me, none of that affects the viability of what you are proposing.  Is that a fair inference from what -- your answer?

MR. FERNANDES:  It is a fair inference, but the more important issue is that the company does need to do a rebasing application, and not all elements of that have been determined.  So you know, all of the issues in that proceeding will be covered once it is filed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So part of the answer is we don't know what we're going to file in the way that we can tell you, is that fair?

MR. FERNANDES:  That's the most important aspect of it.  But to your other point, you know, this DSM plan application that includes a framework, the way that we would look at DSM overall is that it is kind of traded as a Y factor, it always has been traditionally.  We run on a separate regulatory time frame and, for all intents and purposes, the results of this will sit on top of whatever the base utility rates are.  So it is kind of distinct and separate.

So your inference about, you know, this being applicable regardless of what happens with the base rates is generally what we would say.  But it is very hard to be absolute when you don't know what the other piece is.  I don't know if that is helpful.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I mean, you're kind of alluding to my concern, that I don't know what the other piece is either.

I would say that it seems to me -- and I am asking if you agree or not -- part of why you don't have to be as worried about how rates change going forward in the ways that I have mentioned in the interrogatory request is that your proposal, your current framework expenses all DSM costs as they're incurred, subject only to some true-up through the deferral accounts, so that there is no -- the rate impact of DSM is on a year-by-year basis, it is not that DSM spending in year 1 has an effect on rates over a 10-year period, for example, because your amortizing costs, at least in the framework you proposed.

MR. FERNANDES:  Yes, that's correct.  It is largely an expensed in the year and then a true-up through a variance account treatment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Would you go further and agree with me that that helps in terms of not having to worry about how rates might change going forward, since you're expensing these costs every year?  It is -- it is not definitive, but I would suggest that it is helpful.

MR. FERNANDES:  If we had a framework that had amortized costs over some period of time -- which is one of the issues in this proceeding -- as long as it was known, I don't see how it would be that much different.

When you look at it, it's more the case that the function or service that we're providing, which is conservation programming, is distinct and separate from the rest of the utility services that are offered.  So it runs on a separate regulatory timeline, has a separate envelope and budget, and it's recovered.  There is a crossover in terms of you're overlaying it on top of the same rate structure and that is one of the things that, if I understand things correctly, may or may not be looked at as rate structure changes, because the utilities have amalgamated.

But our plan is distinct.  It has a specific budget for a specific purpose and there is really no overlap with the base utility services being offered.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  The last point I would like to put to you, based on your current framework proposal which is to essentially -- again setting asides the fact that you have to true-up through deferral variance accounts based on the DSM spending and so on -- because for the most part you are expensing the costs as they are being incurred, when you are expensing them, you know who you are collecting those costs from within reason, unless there is massive drop off of customers in load or change in customers in load in the same year that you are spending the money, whereas -- and the issue and this is actually an issue raised by your expert in his evidence, when you start to amortize, if you're not amortizing these costs over a number of years, you have to worry about what customers are left during that amortization period to actually pay for the costs that were incurred in year one.  That is something that you now have to consider whereas in your expense model, it is not as much of an issue if it is an issue at all.  Correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  So if I understand your questioning, I would tend to agree.  A longer amortization term does create challenges with recovery compared to a shorter term, with expenses being a term of one.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Great.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  I appreciate it.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Next up is Mr. McGillivray.
Examination by Mr. McGillivray:


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  Jonathan McGillivray, counsel for Anwaatin.

I would like to go to Exhibit I.10.I.EGI.Anwaatin.1, and look at the response to part A of that interrogatory.

In your response, you stated in that second paragraph than Enbridge is currently working on an off-reserve strategy and will review if and how offers or participants can be tracked and reported at a high level while adhering to privacy legislation.  Do you see that?

MR. HODGINS:  Good morning, Mr. McGillivray.  Yes, I do.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  It is also mentioned -- and we can go there, if you like.  I think it is the same thing, Exhibit I.17.EGI.Anwaatin.5.  On page 2, it says:
"Enbridge Gas is also currently working with urban Indigenous organizations, Indigenous housing entities,   and other collectives that serve off-reserve populations help with all the DSM program strategy to support off-reserve Indigenous customers through HWP."


So two references in two different places to what sounds like an off-reserve strategy.

I wanted to first of all confirm that these are in each instance -- each of these two instances, they are references to the same thing, and off-reserve strategy.

MR. HODGINS:  Yes, that's correct.  I mean, it's something we just started to work on, so it hasn't been finalized.  But we have started to have consultations with a number of off-reserve groups about collaboration.  So yes, it is the same reference, same strategy.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  You answered part of my next question there, because I was going to ask about what stage of development the off-reserve strategy is at and what the nature of it is.

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.  So it is too early to say what the nature of it is.  I will say, like I stated before, we have had a number of discussions with off-reserve associations in the province.  And we have also had discussions with Efficiency Manitoba, who has an off-reserve strategy to help inform what ours could look like.  But it hasn't been developed as of yet.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  So would I be right to say that you haven't put pen to paper yet on that strategy.

MR. HODGINS:  You would be correct in saying that, yes.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Okay, thank you.  I think we can stay on Anwaatin 5 here.  It is in relation to this interrogatory response -- but actually, I think it might be better to go to Exhibit I.10.EGI.OSEA, and then it is number 3.  I think it is part B of the response where Enbridge notes that it is considered an Indigenous -- it considered an Indigenous offering during the development of the DSM plan, and I think it might be the next bullet down.  Yes.

Enbridge Gas determined that a survey on reserve -- so this in relation to on-reserve customers, the existing home winter improvement program is appropriate and the current HWP offering can continue to support a customized on-reserve outreach and approach to market while providing flexibility.

I won't read the rest of it, but I wanted to -- I think if we scroll up this page a little bit, I just want to make sure I haven't missed something that was above.  Can you go to the previous page, a little bit further up.

There is another mention here of Indigenous offering.  It says this DSM offering would be a stand-alone offering specific to on-reserve Indigenous homes, and would include all the offering elements available through the home winter proofing offering.

I just wanted to understand the distinction between those two bullets, and to understand which offering you elected to proceed with in the DSM plan and which one you elected not to proceed with.  Can you clarify that?

MR. HODGINS:  I believe what we're referring to, and that is we did look at a stand-alone Indigenous offering that would, you know, potentially be different from our HWP offering, but we determined that it was appropriate to continue with our home winter proofing offering on reserve, mainly informed by feedback that we've gotten to the communities that we have delivered that program to.

I believe we referenced our results in Staff 41 where we had been to 12 of the 14 communities and we received positive feedback through our delivery agents on that program and on our customized delivery approach.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  So the stand-alone on-reserve offering, I think you mentioned would be different from the HWP, is that right?

MR. HODGINS:  I believe that is what that is referring to, that bullet.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Right.  So can I ask what it did refer to?  If it wasn't HWP, what was it?

MR. HODGINS:  Well, I don't believe that we determined anything specific.  I believe this is just referencing the consideration of a stand-alone offering that would be different from our HWP.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  I see, okay.  Okay.  That is helpful.  Thank you.  You just mentioned Staff 41 and I would like to go there.  So it is Exhibit I.10B.EGI.Staff.41.

MR. HODGINS:  Just give me a second to get there myself.  Okay.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And I think it is in your response to part B.  I think this is probably on the page there.

The paragraph beginning:
"In order to further learn about the needs of Indigenous on-reserve homes within the Enbridge Gas franchise area, a third party consultant was hired..."


And unfortunately it looks like this project was cut short as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, but nonetheless a report was generated based on findings from a visit to one, I think one of five communities.  Is that right?

MR. HODGINS:  That's correct, yes.  So there was an initial report that has been generated.  I would characterize it as we're still reviewing that and determining what our plan is going forward with that research.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Okay.  And is that report on the record in this proceeding?

MR. HODGINS:  I don't believe it is, no.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Would you undertake to file it?

MR. HODGINS:  It is a preliminary report, but if that would be helpful, we can undertake to file that.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  That would be great.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT2.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.4:  TO FILE THE REPORT REFERRED TO IN STAFF 41.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  I guess you can include as part of the undertaking response, if you would like, or maybe you can answer it now.  You mentioned that it is preliminary.  It sounds like originally the scope of the project was broader and unfortunately had to be constrained.  Do you have any comments at this stage on the direction that that work will take going forward?

MR. HODGINS:  No.  As I stated, we're still considering the direction that we're taking, as it says in the IR response there.  It was related the COVID pandemic that put it on hold.  The intention was it would be much broader.  So next steps are yet to be determined.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Okay, thank you.  I think it is also in relation to this interrogatory response in the next paragraph, actually, where there is a reference to the HWP Indigenous Delivery Agent, which it sounds like is a company called First Nations Engineering Services Limited.  And I think my question is, is there just one Indigenous delivery agent for each First Nation reserve served by Enbridge or are there multiple entities that you work with that serve as Indigenous delivery agents?

MR. HODGINS:  No.  That is the contracted delivery agent we have for all Indigenous communities.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Okay.  Great.  That answers that.

The next place I would like to go is Exhibit I.10I.EGI.Anwaatin.1.  I think we were already there at one point but this is a different part of the interrogatory response.  Part D.

And here you have indicated I think in the second sentence that you will further explore DSM opportunities in connection with Indigenous-owned or Indigenous-occupied multi-residential housing.  Do I have that right?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And there is a further indication here that that will include potential cooperation with the IESO CDM commercial offer and there is a reference to Exhibit I.16.EGI.Staff.86h.

On my reading, the IESO CDM commercial offer relates to commercial and institutional buildings that are owned and operated by band councils.  I am just hoping to have better understand the relationship between that program and our reference earlier to Indigenous-owned or occupied multi-residential housing, because it sounded to me like the IESO CDM program was for commercial and institution buildings, but the original reference was to multi-residential housing.  So I am hoping that you can clarify that and speak a bit more about it, if possible.

MR. HODGINS:  My understanding is that IESO is looking at developing a new commercial offering, but I will ask Mr. Grochmal if he has any comments, because he's been in discussions with the IESO as well.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Actually you know what, would it be okay if we can confer quickly here?  We will try to get you an answer here, Mr. McGillivray.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GROCHMAL:  Thank you, Mr. McGillivray.  I can tell you what we do know which is the IESO has they're in the midst of you know, putting together basically a CNI program for on-reserve band-owned buildings.

Whether there is multi-buildings in the scope of that we're not clear.  We're not driving it.  You know, we're looking for ways to collaborate with them on it.  I think once it is known it will be communicated by the IESO.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Just as a final follow-up, I think the extent of your further exploration of this issue won't be limited by the scope of the IESO offering.  Is that right?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry, what do you mean by that, Mr. McGillivray?

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  I am looking at the second sentence in the response, which says:

"EGS will further explore this opportunity which will include exploring potential collaboration with the IESO CDM Indigenous commercial offer that has not been released."


If it turns out that that IESO offer is constrained in scope to C&I, and the reference here is to multi-residential housing, do you anticipate that Enbridge would therefore have to perform further analysis or explore further the opportunity from the perspective of multi-residential housing since it's not -- in that scenario would not be included in the IESO program?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I think you're asking me to speak to a hypothetical.  We would certainly endeavour to make it as broadly applicable for on-reserve customers, especially if they have similar characteristics.  But I can't give you an assurance, if that is what you are looking for.  Each collaboration opportunity is unique.

We would look to enhance it with sort of our measures, our incentives, joint delivery, those sort of natural elements that we will pursue to make it more valuable for the on-reserve customers.

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. McGillivray, sorry for cutting in, but, you know, we're in the process of working with IESO.  So, you know, I understand the points that you are making and they're valuable points, the company understands them.

But until we're done a negotiation with another entity, we really can't speak to it.  Once that is done, clearly both the IESO and Enbridge would announce that and we have the right incentives to try and pursue this, so I am not sure how much more we can answer here.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  I think that's fine.  Just as a final point, I will just say the low-income program includes the home winter proofing program and affordable housing multi-residential offerings, and that's what we had asked about here.  And we asked specifically about multi-residential housing, which we understand is eligible for the affordable housing multi-residential offering.

But then in response, a reference was made to what sounds like a C&I program and perhaps it is in development and we don't know what it will look like.  But I just wanted to clarify because we got a reference to a C&I program and a question that was about a multi-residential offering.

The last area I would like to go to is Exhibit I.12.EGI.Anwaatin.3, specifically the response to part B.  And in your response, you state:
"Enbridge Gas understands the challenges associated with providing residential offerings to on-reserve customers and as part of the program set-up for this program, the residential heat pump program will consider specific support to the HVAC contracting community to reach on-reserve customers."


And the example that is provided is of Indigenous delivery agents and community project leads which I think have been used in the context of the HWP offer.

So I am wondering if you can provide a better sense of what you're referring to when you say specific support to the HVAC contracting community in this response.

Are you referring to perhaps additional training to HVAC contractors that may service on-reserve customers?  Or are you referring to a program that might employ Indigenous contractors?  Can you provide any additional information on that?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.  I don't think this is meant to have determined anything.  I think that the answer was meant to say that it will be something that we consider moving forward.

I would expect that it could fall under the umbrella of the research that we spoke about earlier, in terms of identifying on-reserve opportunities moving forward for our Indigenous customers.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Again a bit more colour here as well.  One of the objectives of the low carbon program -- and I believe that is what you're asking about, correct, that is the subject of this interrogatory, is it not?

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Yes.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yeah, I mean one of the focus areas -- a big focus area is capacity building and what does that mean?  Well, that means creating effectively a network of, in this case, heating and cooling contractors, giving them as you mentioned sort of the sales and technical training to be able to ultimately provide access.

And the access is the issue and I think you noted it well in the interrogatory that you asked that that's one of the big barriers.

So, you know, what we have in mind is making sure that, you know, ideally it is finding on-reserve contractors that we can build this capacity for, so that those communities have access.

I mean, alternatively it would be ensuring if they have to come from off-reserve that at least they're part of the network, they're trained and then the community still has access, nonetheless.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  That was very helpful.  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions for this panel.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. McGillivray.  Next up we have FRPO, Mr. Quinn.
Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Good morning, can you hear me okay?

MR. FERNANDES:  Yes, we can.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  Good morning, panel.  If we may turn up I.7.EGI.FRPO.9, please?

Thank you, Bonnie.  One of the things we want to establish this morning is that we have a firm foundation on capital assets.

In summarizing this interrogatory response, would a fair summary be that under the company's proposal, no capital assets will be created and amortized for DSM purposes.  Is that correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  I would say that we don't plan to have any capital assets in this proposal.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. FERNANDES:  I wouldn't preclude anything in the future and there's, you know, there's no policies on how to do that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Fernandes.  I am going to ask a little bit about that, but I thought I would lead you through the thought process to make sure I understand your thought process, because obviously that is what we're trying to understand in this process.

So is the reasoning behind that is the company is not investing its own capital in the asset expenditure?

MR. FERNANDES:  I don't think that is it.  It is the nature of the services being provided.

So if you think of DSM programming as a conservation program service, the vast majority -- and in this case, all of the planned expenditures are typically things that would be expensed.  Part of that -- I think Mr. Johnson can jump in on kind of the unique IT systems that are used for conservation programming.

Most of them are hosted externally so as an expense.  But if we felt it was necessary to, you know, build an IT-type asset or something, you know, it could be any type of capital that would be amortized more than -- over more than one year, we would do so.  We just don't have any.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am going to explore that idea of the system.  So thank you for giving that as an example.

But the reason I am bringing this up is First Tracks' evidence spends a lot of time talking about the potential impact of creating regulatory assets from DSM expenditures.

But if I understood your discussion with Mr. Brophy yesterday, the company is not seeking that approach, correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.  We have not proposed amortized -- there is a very different thing of what we were just speaking about, which is an actual capital asset used to deliver the service versus amortization of program costs.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  So I wanted to establish, though, Enbridge is not seeking that.  But if the Board were to contemplate a return on ratepayer-funded capital, would Enbridge expect to adjust its performance incentives accordingly.

MR. FERNANDES:  Sorry, I'm sorry, there is two different things that are mixed in there.

So first in terms of the amortization of DSM program costs or the totality of the portfolio, Enbridge was not asked to look at that.  We didn't file that.

I wouldn't want anyone to take it that we're necessarily against amortization.  First Tracks did bring up some concerns.  We would share some of those concerns, probably the vast majority of them, but we're not against amortization.  We don't have an amortization model in front of us that we can speak to.  So it is difficult to say yea or nay on anything without seeing the specifics.

And that amortization model, as you see in the evidence from the experts, one of the items with it is spreading out those costs over time or amortizing the costs over some specific term has a cost of carry.

So the company would expect that it would be reasonably compensated in any such model.  We don't know what that looks like, but you are now talking about performance incentives, which you know, would -- based on the jurisdictional research that we have seen from the various experts would put us in a very different model.

So can you clarify how you think that crossover is, because one is inherently a cost of carry, and the performance incentives are a completely different thing for a different purpose.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's well said, Mr. Fernandes.  I am just going to leave it at, you would only be seeking cost of carry.  You would not be necessarily seeking enhanced return.

MR. FERNANDES:  I don't know how I can answer that question without -- I mean there is a lot of other factors there, but I would say that we'd be at a minimum seeking cost of carry.  But not knowing -- you know, amortization isn't a complete model.  If you look at the evidence that we have on the record, there's a huge number of items that are in there that we would have to --

MR. QUINN:  I have to agree with you and I think I will move on, because I don't want to paint scenarios that you know, could go in a lot of different directions so I just want to get clarity or your position.

So I think it would be helpful if we just move forward to I.8.EGI.FRPO.11, please.  At the end of the preamble -- thank you, Bonnie -- it talks about the utility is not unduly exposed to risk.  We asked about this concept of risk and your answers are below.  We don't have to go through them in detail.

But specifically on page 2 EGI identified earnings risk associated -- sorry, earnings risk and utility disallowances as financial risks.

So would it be fair to say that earnings risk is more or less an opportunity cost of not meeting performance metrics to capture the incentive?

MR. FERNANDES:  Can you clarify the question?

MR. QUINN:  Sure.  When I read earnings risk, it seems to align with the idea that the earnings risk is an opportunity cost associated with not meeting the performance metric to be able to capture the incentive.

MR. FERNANDES:  So the entire model that we're in has a number of factors and this is what we've been in for a number of years, so the company's proposal may have many unique aspects of it but fundamentally it is still an incentive model.

MR. QUINN:  It's an incentive model, but the risk associated with your earnings is that you don't perform well enough to capture the incentive.  That's what you are describing in number 2, is it not?

MR. FERNANDES:  And part of it is the fact that we have a delayed evaluation, so we may be looking at earnings that could be preliminary and then have adjustments made at a later date.

MR. QUINN:  That is a good clarification.  So earnings anticipated but not realized?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Great.  Turning to the disallowances, then, for our discussion a few minutes ago Enbridge does not normally have capital at risk unless there is a disallowance like in this case that there was an over-expenditure disputed in the 067 proceeding.

First, the DSM tracking reporting system that was created, it would not have been -- would it not have been capitalized in this, in the separation of capital assets, is there a reason why that IT system would not have been capitalized by the company?

MR. JOHNSON:  Mr. Fernandes briefly alluded to earlier the system was a cloud-based system.  So by our, you know, finance group looked at it based on the definition, and determined it should be expensed, not capitalized.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's helpful to understand, Mr. Johnson, because that's what I was trying to get my head wrapped around; because it seemed, I didn't have a picture of what it looked like, and when I picture a cloud it is intangible.  It might look more like an expense than a hard asset.

So using that as a background, the 500,000 disallowance, this was experienced during the 2015-2020 period and would be an example of what Mr. Fernandes was saying about anticipated recovery that wasn't realized.  Is that a fair way of saying that?

MR. FERNANDES:  The company actually expended those dollars and did not recover them.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So it expended and not recovered.  That is good clarification.  Thank you.

So the company earns DSM incentives through rates.  Does the panel know a round number of how much Enbridge earned in the 2015-2020 period as a total of incentives earned for that period?

I understand that some are still to be completed, but with what has been produced does the company have a round number estimate of what it would realize in the 2015-2020 period?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we could go to -- let me find --

MR. QUINN:  I have a number for you to save us time.  You had reflected in one of the IR responses to go to FRPO 4.

MR. JOHNSON:  I was just going to point us there.

MR. QUINN:  Would you take it subject to check -- it would be an eye test if you try to add up the numbers.  And they're not totalled, by the way.  I didn't have the foresight to put it in Excel and total that.  I did that on my own.

Would you take it subject to check that it is approximately $32 million in each rate zone?

MR. JOHNSON:  We can take that subject to check.

MR. QUINN:  It can is helpful to see it, Mr. Johnson.  Bonnie can bring it up.  I don't think it will help anybody.

MR. FERNANDES:  Can we go to Issue 8, Staff 18.

MR. QUINN:  If you have a better number, Mr. Fernandes, that will help.  I just wanted to get an order of magnitude.  I am not looking for precision here because I understand as you described before there is no certainty on your earnings for let's say 2020 at this juncture.

MR. FERNANDES:  Ms. Adams, could you scroll down to that first table under A.  I believe this is what you're looking for.  So it starts with a historical shareholder incentive with the current methodology and shows how much was earned between the legacy utilities and a total for the 2016-2020 period.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well we will use your numbers as opposed to what I have come up with, but I guess the way that I am looking at it is the capital that was unrecovered and therefore notionally invested by the company is the $500,000.

You have incentives earned as described in this table.  It doesn't include 2015, but that I am sure you have your hands on more readily than I.

So by way of undertaking, would Enbridge be able to provide a return on investment to its shareholders of the $500,000 that it had to invest over the six-year period, given the incentives that it earned?


MR. FERNANDES:  I'm sorry, Mr. Quinn, that doesn't actually make sense from a financial point of view.  The company had no investments.  This is a flow-through cost.  So part of the fundamental framework that we were operating under had an element that said the utility has a right to recover its costs.

We are under an expense treatment.  So the company didn't invest anything.  This $500,000 that you are referring to is actually an unrecovered expense.  To calculate a return on investment, there was no investment.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Can you help me with who paid the $500,000?

MR. FERNANDES:  The shareholders paid the $500,000.

MR. QUINN:  So if the shareholders paid the 500,000, in some ways -- because as you described before, you are always at risk for your incentives to be earned or not earned, or in this case, your expenses to be covered or unrecovered -- so in this case here, the shareholders paid $500,000 over the 6 year term.

Are you aware of any other disallowances that the OEB has made to this point in your last 2015-2020 framework?

MR. FERNANDES:  If I might ask my fellow panellists -- but I am not aware of anything, certainly not anything that is substantial.

MR. QUINN:  Well, okay, thank you.  And that is helpful, Mr. Fernandes.  I was going to ask you to put it in as part of the undertaking.  But if the $500,000 is a shareholder payment, call it what you will, but they provided the capital, that was a shareholder capital infusion -- I am trying to choose my words carefully -- and at the same time, there was earnings stream over a six-year period.

So could you hypothetically look at the return on investment of $500,000 over that six-year period?

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Quinn, I am not going to take that as an undertaking.

I think I have been clear.  There was no capital.  That money was not capitalized in any accounting treatment that we did.  It was an unrecovered expense.

MR. QUINN:  Unrecovered expense, okay.  Maybe we're getting into philosophical differences and so I am just going to move on and take that as a refusal.  Thank you.

Okay.  I just want to touch on I.10.EGI.FRPO.14.  Great, thanks Ms. Adams.

Again I am talking about this concept of risk and I was trying to get an understanding.

The response clearly identifies the company is not investing funds in the Low Carbon Transition Program.  So again, those funds would come from ratepayers, I trust.

MR. FERNANDES:  The entirety of the plan comes from ratepayers, as it has in the past.

MR. QUINN:  Specifically the low carbon transition program.

MR. FERNANDES:  All of the plan, including the low carbon transition, is proposed to come from rate payer.

MR. QUINN:  So what the company described is a reputational risk.  I read the sentence and I am thinking about the technical and commercial barriers, and I understand a little bit of the social environment as people understand that all aspects of society are considered moving to lower carbon.

So can you help me what the reputational risk is that Enbridge would be exposed to by investing ratepayers' money in this Low Carbon Transition Program?

MR. FERNANDES:  So the company clearly has to have market-facing information on all of its conservation programs.

So the reputational risk is our customers not being happy with, you know, any of the programming that we have.

So, you know, we have for example -- and this very sense have been called out publicly by the failure to move forward with respect to a new suite of programming because we have had two rollovers.

So there is a number of items that impact the company, in terms of its reputational risk associated with delivering this service that we provide to our customers, and that's actually not really any different from any other service that we provide.  Like that would not be different from distribution services as well, the very act of doing that exposes you to some level of reputational risk.

MR. QUINN:  That's fine for now, Mr. Fernandes.  I was just trying to understand the concept.

The last question I have -- and again there is no IR to turn up, so thank you for your service, Ms. Adams.

It comes back to a conversation you had with Mr. Brophy yesterday, and it was about NRCan providing funding.  So if NRCan -- I understand the attribution agreements are still being negotiated and so I am not asking for any specificity.  But if NRCan provided funding that allowed higher metres cubed saved per dollar spent in the program, funds that are generated in the program, would Enbridge adjust its proposed targets for the purpose of earnings incentives?

MR. FERNANDES:  If there is a material change on the attributed savings, we do feel that it would be necessary to file some form of adjustment with the OEB.

MR. QUINN:  I think that is fair, Mr. Fernandes.  Thanks for confirming that.  Those are my questions for today.  Thank you very much.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Quinn.  Just to provide people an update in terms of the schedule, we did skip two people, LIEN and OSEA.  OSEA indicated to Board Staff that they didn't have any questions, and LIEN is currently having a few internet technical issues which they are hoping to resolve and have their questions later.

Given the time, I think it makes sense now to take the morning break and we will come back at eleven o'clock and the next on the dock will be OEB Staff.
--- Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:01 a.m.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much, everyone and welcome back.  I am now going to pass it over to OEB Staff.  Mr. Wasylyk will be asking the questions.
Examination by Mr. Wasylyk:


MR. WASYLYK:  Great.  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  You see up on your screen is the updated evidence that you provided or witness CVs along with some updated details on your collaboration with NRCan on the Greener Homes Program, some program partnership details you had.  You had a few discussions with the previous intervenors over the last day and a half, so I am hoping this will move through in fairly short order and just a few clarifications for you.

First, this has been discussed a couple of times and it relates to the attribution of savings I talked about a little bit with GEC as well as with Pollution Probe.

So I am just hoping you can confirm my understanding as to kind of where the current status is, is that this element related to the attribution of savings is still outstanding, and there are no more final details with how program savings will be attributed between the Greener Homes and Enbridge Whole Home Program currently; is that correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  Confirmed.  None at this point in time.

MR. WASYLYK:  A follow-up to that.  Is it your expectation that the final agreement between NRCan and Enbridge will include details on how savings will be attributed to each of the programs?

MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.

MR. WASYLYK:  Great.  Thank you very much.  So moving on.

Now, also mentioned here in the slide, and I am hoping you can confirm, that Enbridge will deliver the NRCan/Enbridge collaborative program to all residential customers in Ontario regardless if they're an Enbridge customer or not.  Is that correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  Qualifying everything that we need to reach an agreement, but that's currently what we're proceeding under, the assumption of the negotiation.

MR. WASYLYK:  Perfect.  Thank you.  And I appreciate that all of this needs to have the disclaimer that the agreement still isn't finalized.

Okay.  Just a couple of more small clarifications.  Let's see on here, the final bullet point notes that the program will be offered until the earlier of December 31, 2027 or funding streams are exhausted.

I know this is looking ahead quite a ways and probably getting into a little bit of a hypothetical so I appreciate if you can't speak to details.

But have you considered what may happen in the event that all federal funding is exhausted before December 31st, 2027 when Enbridge's plan to continue offering the program potentially with the same parameters or sort of incentive structure that follows the NRCan program?

MR. FERNANDES:  So we're aware that may be an issue.  So we will have some off-ramp, so to speak, and in that instance, but we don't know what that looks like at this point in time.

Presumably it would be in the latter part of the period.  So there is not much we can say at this point in time, given we don't have the agreement, but that is a consequence of the nature of the funding from the federal side.

MR. WASYLYK:  Yes, okay.

MR. FERNANDES:  There is potential they could go back and ask for more in that event but presumably there is enough funding to get us through a large portion of that period.  So it would be quite a number of years out.

MR. WASYLYK:  Great.  Thank you.

Okay.  Then finally, can you please discuss any considerations that Enbridge has put towards the residential program and how it will be evaluated under the joint program deliverability model.

MR. FERNANDES:  So at this point in time -- not having a final agreement -- there's still some uncertainty, but we do believe that what we proposed in terms of a scorecard is, continues to be appropriate.

So we do believe it will still be measured on cubes for residential sector.  And then once the Attribution Agreement is finalized we would expect that to be the basis of the claimed savings from the company.

MR. WASYLYK:  Great.  Thank you very much.

Okay.  So moving on to another topic area.  My next couple of questions relate to sort of generally plan development and policy direction, they refer or are a follow-up to interrogatories.  One is I.1.EGI.CME.5 where you discuss kind of how your plan was developed in response to the OEB's December 1st letter.

Then as well -- and Bonnie, you don't necessarily to pull them both up at the same time; I am not sure if that is possible -- but I.6.EGI.Staff.13c we discussed a little bit yesterday with the intervenors related to the two sensitivity analyses that you provided related to plus 10 percent and plus 20 percent budget increases.  So that is the sort of the bases to my follow-up questions here.

As I mentioned, these two are more policy-related.  So I am not looking for discrete or specific responses in terms of program changes or plan changes, but more a general response directionally as to how your proposal may have changed under different scenarios.

Being fully aware that currently the primary and secondary objectives which were outlined by the OEB in its December 1st letter for DSM relate to a number of different objectives, the primary objective being helping customers manage their energy bills.

But in an effort to provide the panel, parties to the proceeding, and all ratepayers with insight into your DSM plan development and how that works, I am interested in your general thoughts on how your plan would be structured if the sole focus was on maximizing overall natural gas savings as opposed to the current framework that includes a wide range of policy objectives some of which could compete with each other.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.  I think I understand what you are saying.

So if there was solely a desire to go after annual gas reductions -- and I think you implied in the most cost-effective manner?


MR. WASYLYK:  Yes.


MR. FERNANDES:  Okay, because I think that is what I was reading into it, so I just wanted to confirm that.  I think we would you know, when we look at even the inherent structure of what was proposed, breaking out the various sectors so that they had their own scorecard and allocation of the shareholder incentives, that was specifically intended incentive model to kind of speak to the OEB's direction that provided that we needed to do a broader base.

If there was solely a goal for the most cost-effective savings and the most savings presuming we're still under a budget constraint, that would lead people towards the most cost-effective sectors and having them bear all of the costs in order to get the most cost-effective savings within whatever budget constraint there was.

I think -- is that what you are looking for, Mr. Wasylyk?

MR. WASYLYK:  Yes.  I think that that's a sufficient response.  Thank you, Mr. Fernandes.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.

MR. WASYLYK:  And somewhat related but along a slightly different path, if the OEB determined it appropriate to no longer allow Enbridge's DSM plan and the program offerings within to provide incentives for customers to purchase gas-fired equipment such as boilers, but rather directed those funds to be used for fuel agnostic measures, for example adapted thermostats or insulation, what sort of impact would this have generally on your DSM plan?

MR. FERNANDES:  In a general basis, I think what that would do would force us into less cost-effective measures.

So and it would also be inconsistent with the Board's current and the proposed framework on trying to minimize lost opportunities.

So it would also be inconsistent with the mandate letter that was released I guess in the fall to the OEB, where it named a number of priorities.  One of them was customer choice.

So I think you know, broadly speaking, if that were to be the case obviously the company would abide by that direction, but we would expect that it would have the impact of our targets necessarily needing to go down.

MR. WASYLYK:  Great.  Thank you for that.

Okay.  Moving over, this is a follow-up to Exhibit I, tab 5, EGI.SEC.13.  While it is being pulled up there I will just describe it.

The IR asks about offerings which involves fuel-switching away from natural gas.  In your response you noted that insofar as fuel-switching away from natural gas aligns with the OEB's stated DSM objectives, it does not involve completely switching the participant off of natural gas completely.  That then you provide a list of various offerings that provide incentives to support fuel-switching measures.  There it is.  Perfect.  Thank you.

A couple of follow-ups.  Do any of Enbridge's proposed offerings involve offerings for customers to switch off from natural gas completely?

MR. FERNANDES:  Just to be clear, so the response was intended to demonstrate that the company has in the past and will in the future allow customers, like our incent customers to do beneficial electrification.  That is inherently part of why we proposed specifically like the hybrid heating option.

So it has to make sense and it has to be in the policy direction that we're under, which I think you mentioned the primary objective and the government policy is around, you know, rate and bill impacts as they're one of their primary concerns.

So, you know, can you remind me again your question was around?

MR. WASYLYK:  I think you're getting there and thanks for reading into the question a little more.  Maybe I could have been more clear.

But really I was looking at -- and this kind of leads into, and you kind of touched on electrification.  And it is more does Enbridge believe it can play a role in moving its customers to full electrification of their heating systems?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think the plan that we're proposing is actually bringing in that direction.

So I think you were talking about customers moving off the gas system.

MR. WASYLYK:  Right.

MR. FERNANDES:  Inherently that is embedded in a policy of cross-subsidization.

Number one, when we look at some of the items that have been noted in the response, we do do some presently limited electrification within projects.  We are proposing hybrid heating; that is an early market adoption to prepare the market and it's primarily about getting the market prepared for electric heat pumps.

Enbridge has no way of keeping the customers on its system, so if they choose to leave, they can.

Our basic policy concern is around, you know, cross-subsidization.  So if some of the parties have suggested that we should be incenting non-customers and we're just not -- there's not a policy framework that would allow us to do that.

And our real concern is where do you draw the box around it, because if they're not our customers, we need clarity about what we can and can't do.  You know, would we be incenting customers in Vermont?  Like that's -- I think all people would say that's clearly, you know, off the table here.  But what about outside our franchise area?

So we need an understanding of the policy framework before we can get any clarity from the OEB saying what are the rules and boundaries.  And it is, you know, there has been noted cross-subsidy issues even within the present framework period.  So that's where we're going.

But all of the policy direction that we have had to date, both from the government of Ontario and from the OEB itself, really emphasized natural gas customers.

So that is how we're approaching it, is that it is collected from gas customers through rates and the dollars flow back to their benefit.

MR. WASYLYK:  Great.  Thank you for that response, Mr. Fernandes.  Always thorough.  I appreciate it.

Okay.  I am going to move over to a new question.  This is -- there's a few that this relate to.  Maybe the most helpful for you would be Exhibit I, tab 5, EGI.SEC.17.  This relates to -- this is an evaluation related and your gross measurement policies you put forward for the OEB to approve consistent with your program plans.

And included in the response to SEC 17, as well as at Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 1, page 26 of your evidence, you indicated that it is critical that gross measurement approaches are determined and approved for each program offering at the beginning of the DSM multi-year plan term as they directly impact how the program offerings are delivered and how DSM budgets and targets are set.  Any impact evaluation undertaken should align with the gross measurement approach.

Then in response to Staff 11(b), your response notes that should the OEB approve the offering and gross measurement methodology as filed, future evaluation and verifications of the offering should be based on the same measurement methodology and, in brackets:

"(and not based on a different methodology, for example using different modelling software other than NRCan's HOT2000 or using billing analysis)."


So just a couple of follow up questions to this request and your response there.

The first follow up is:  Did Enbridge consider seeking feedback from the OEB's independent evaluation contractor, and input from the evaluation experts on the OEB's evaluation advisory committee on its proposed gross measurement methodologies prior to filing its application?

MR. JOHNSON:  We did not.

MR. WASYLYK:  Can you maybe discuss why you did not do that?

MR. JOHNSON:  We really viewed this as something that is strictly tied to program design.  So how the programs are designed relates to how gross measurement makes the most sense.  So we viewed that strictly within the utility's purview.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay.  And the request here is that the methodologies used for gross measurement should be the same that are used for the verification activities that are conducted under the impact evaluations that are overseen by the Board.  Is that correct?

MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.

MR. WASYLYK:  So then one could make the natural step that this will then be reviewed by the evaluation contractor and the EEC after the program year in respect to the evaluation of those program, those draft program results.  Is that correct?

MR. JOHNSON:  In terms of performing the impact evaluation, correct.

MR. WASYLYK:  That's right.  Okay.  And can you please explain why Enbridge is of the view that it is critical that gross measurement approaches are determined and approved for each program offering at the beginning of the plan term?

MR. JOHNSON:  So I think you mentioned -- I think we mentioned and you referred to an example in there in terms of residential and using HOT2000.  That is probably a really good example to use where, as has been talked about a few times, where we're in the process of negotiating an agreement with NRCan and making sure that we're using the same, you know, gross measurement methodology I think would be key.  If we suddenly changed the gross measurement methodology after the fact, after we'd come to an agreement with NRCan and spent a whole bunch of time and effort on doing that, you know, on how we're going to measure savings, and then fundamentally changed the way we will measure savings, the agreement may not even make sense -- again understanding we don't have a final agreement there yet.  But presuming we did have one, we need that clarity when we're doing things like collaboration to know how we're going to measure our savings.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay.  That's a good example because that's been the methodology that's been followed for a number of years just through the program design and leveraging HOT2000.

Can you please discuss how the kind of proposed fixed gross evaluation methodologies would respond to program changes.  For example, if HOT2000 was determined no longer useful, or a different model or a different methodology should be used, where does that leave evaluation efforts with your request to set the evaluation methodologies now?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  So if I understand your question correctly -- and if my answer doesn't make sense, please let me know -- but I think that is where at the bottom here you can see, if we've -- again let's use an example where we wanted to collaborate with another group on a particular program or offer and, you know, it required us to do a different gross measurement methodology in order to have that collaboration and we wanted to propose it, we would therefore change that gross measurement, then we would file with the Board that we were making that change.

I think if that -- the reason I would say we would file it is if, you know, there was no real impact, you know, that change wasn't expected to have a material impact on the savings, I think our hope would be we could just file something and that would be fairly straightforward.

If we were expecting, you know, that resulted in a significant increase or significant decrease in the savings, then I think as part of that filing we would propose changes to targets as well.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay, thanks.

MR. JOHNSON:  Does that answer your question?

MR. WASYLYK:  I think that is fair.  Thanks for the answer.  I am going to move on.

My next question relates to assumptions that were used in developing your plan, and this is in response to EGI ED 1(a).  You had a discussion yesterday with Mr. Elson about this and just a couple of hopefully fairly minor clarifications.

In response to 1(a), you provide a trend line of DSM savings from 2019 through the term of the proposed plan on top of the 2019 APS scenario.  In the caveats you note that the APS uses a fixed assumption for net to gross values that is substantially different from the DSM plan values utilized, which would have a material effect on the comparison of the DSM plan values to any APS scenario.

So just a couple of follow-ups to this.

Was a portfolio level net to gross ratio used to produce the trend line shown there in response to ED 1a?

MR. FERNANDES:  I believe that's not the case that's broken out, but I would have to do that subject to check.  It is included in our current net to gross values for the corresponding individual offerings and programs.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay.  I wasn't sure -- yeah, that was going to be my follow-up or did you, rather, use the more granular net to gross values that you had.  So I think Mr. Fernandes, you clarified that.  Is that correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.

MR. WASYLYK:  Subject to check.

MR. FERNANDES:  Subject to check.

MR. WASYLYK:  Fair enough, thank you.  I am going to move on.

This next follow-up is in response to I.9.EGI.Staff.20.  The question responds to discuss annual versus lifetime or cumulative gas savings metrics.

In your response you note that among other benefits that annual energy savings also provide the simplest approach in exploring potential collaboration or coordination program delivery with municipalities or the IESO.

And a couple of follow-ups.  Has the inclusion of lifetime savings in past DSM plans prohibited previous attempts to collaborate with any other energy efficiency program administrators, including the IESO or municipalities?

MR. FERNANDES:  I would say that preclude is too strong a language.

What we were trying to demonstration is that the methodology that we have is inconsistent with what most other parties use.

It is confusing, the cumulative, when others are using annual.  And we have a lot of struggles with conversions or when you are doing an attribution agreement with people, you know, with other parties talking about not double counting because if they're on an annual basis, but we're on a cumulative and there is usually other things like if you are collaborating with the electric side there is all of the conversion of units and whatnot.

MR. WASYLYK:  Right, okay.

MR. FERNANDES:  So it is just a barrier.  I can't say it would preclude anything.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay, that's fair.  Okay, thanks.

I am going to move on.  A similar sort of question area, a follow up to -- I guess maybe this is an interrogatory response from First Tracks, GEC 14b and you had a discussion with Mr. Poch yesterday about the sort of speak, devil being in the details of the average, the weighted average measure life.

Just a couple of follow-up questions.  Because in here the response from First Tracks just notes several nuances related to annual savings goals, and one example you were discussing with Mr. Poch yesterday was an example from Illinois, where the commission in approving the switch to annual savings, included a provision that required the utilities to maintain a portfolio weighted average measure life.

So first maybe just for clarity, can you confirm that you know, assuming that there is a reasonable weighted average measure life implemented, that Enbridge would be amendable to the OEB approving its proposed shift from net lifetime savings to net annual savings, if it also came with a condition that Enbridge's overall plan needed to maintain a weighted average measure life value?

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Johnson, did you want to go into a break out room and have a --


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, have a quick chat about that.

MR. WASYLYK:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JOHNSON:  Just to confirm, you are asking if we would be amenable to you know, some kind of floor or minimum average measure life, if we were to go to an annual cubic metres savings, is that correct?

MR. WASYLYK:  That's correct.

MR. JOHNSON:  So again as we discussed yesterday, as long as that number was reasonable like not you know, so precise so as not to allow movements in sort of our normal changes in measure mix, I think the company would be completely open to that.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay, great, thank you, Mr. Johnson.

Maybe this is best done via undertaking, because I think it would be helpful for the panel and for parties to have a sense as to what that reasonable weighted average measure life would be from the company's perspective.

So would you be able to provide that, a number or a range or option or threshold?

MR. JOHNSON:  I want to make sure I understand your question because if you are asking what our average is, I think we actually undertook to provide that yesterday for Mr. Brophy.  Or are you asking for us to undertake what we think an appropriate future value would be?

MR. WASYLYK:  The latter.  Something that if the panel does determine that it is appropriate to shift to annual lifetime savings -- sorry to net annual savings but with this provision, that it would be based on something, something that you thought was reasonable at least going forward.  Not based on historics.

MR. FERNANDES:  So you are referring to the threshold that the portfolio should need to maintain?

MR. WASYLYK:  That's correct.

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we can undertake to do that.

MR. MURRAY:  So that will be undertaking -- Mr. Wasylyk, perhaps you can just summarize the undertaking.

MR. WASYLYK:  That's right.  Maybe Mr. Murray would you like to give it a number and then I can clarify for the record.

MR. MURRAY:  It is JT2.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.5:  ENBRIDGE TO PROPOSE OR PROVIDE A WEIGHTED AVERAGE MEASURE LIFE FOR ITS PORTFOLIO FOR THE PENDING TERM FROM 2023-2027; A THRESHOLD WHICH THE COMPANY SHOULD KEEP THE PORTFOLIO ABOVE

MR. WASYLYK:  Great.  This would be for Enbridge to propose or provide a weighted average measure life for its portfolio for the pending term from 2023-2027.  Mr. Fernandes, is that satisfactory?

MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  With the clarification that I think we're not proposing what our forecast weighted average measure life would be, as we're talking about a threshold which the company should keep the portfolio above.

MR. WASYLYK:  Great, thank you.

MR. FERNANDES:  Thank you.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay.  Just a couple of more questions as I know I am close to time, then. I will just ask a couple of questions related to savings comparisons between the 2019 APS, your DSM plan, and then the PG Mirror posterity model you had put together.

This is a follow-up to, it provides some helpful attachments to Staff 24b and also discuss this in response to Staff 23.  And in response to Staff 24b you provided an attachment, attachment number 2, that compared projected savings both from your plan and the 2019 APS, and in 23 you provided the PG mirror model outputs.

And so my first question trying to put all of these things together, and there is a whole lot of data there, if you can just help me, if you know off the top of your head and if not maybe you could undertake to look into it further.

But can you please confirm if scenario A from the posterity mirror model found more or less or the same amount of potential natural gas savings as the OEB's APS scenario A, or the planned term from 2023-2027.

MR. FERNANDES:  I don't have that off the top of my head, so I think we would have to take it as an undertaking.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay.  Before we do that, Mr. Murray, we will just wait one second because my follow-up was kind of going there, and it is probably best to be undertaken, Mr. Fernandes.

It is essentially can you please provide an update to the table provided to Staff 24, attachment 2 that includes this scenario A results from the Posterity mirror model.  And then I think the comparisons can be done from there by the parties.

MR. FERNANDES:  So can I clarify.  So --


MR. WASYLYK:  Yes.

MR. FERNANDES:  Ms. Adams, are you able to pull up the reference?

MR. WASYLYK:  It is Staff 24, attachment 2.

MS. ADAMS:  It is just opening.

MR. WASYLYK:  It is an Excel file, so it might take a minute.  That's perfect.

So here we can see in row 2 you identified kind of where the outputs are coming from either the DSM plan, then scenario A, C and B from the 29 APS.  If maybe just next to those APS runs, you could include the PG mirror model savings that were identified for each of the sectors for the -- I am not sure if you went back to 2019 for the PG model, but at least for the current plan term from 2023-2027 would be sufficient.

MR. FERNANDES:  And so you are looking for the same sectors and you are looking for scenario A?

MR. WASYLYK:  For scenario A.  That would be most helpful, yes.

MR. FERNANDES:  Yes, we can undertake that.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT2.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.6:  ENBRIDGE TO UPDATE ATTACHMENT 2 TO STAFF 24 TO INCLUDE THE POSTERITY MIRROR MODEL SCENARIO A RESULTS FOR ALL SECTORS FROM 2023 TO 2027.


MR. WASYLYK:  Okay.  Just for clarity on the record, that will be for Enbridge to update attachment 2 to Staff 24 to include the Posterity mirror model scenario A results for all sectors from 2023 to 2027.

Just a couple on this, and then a few related to undertakings.

Can you please confirm that in working with Posterity, you made a number of changes to inputs you used in the 29 APS to better reflect your DSM plan structure?

MR. FERNANDES:  We did make a number of changes in their mirror model that were intended to reflect what the company would be able to claim, and thought it would be reasonable to do in the Ontario market, yes.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay, thanks.  So then looking at, you know, I was able to look through the Posterity mirror model a little bit to get an understanding as to what the outputs there were,  and it appears that there is a significantly greater amount of savings identified in the scenario A of the PG mirror model than have been incorporated into your plan.

Maybe at a high level, can you just discuss the design of your programs and why the savings in your proposed plan are so much lower than the Posterity mirror model in scenario A when you undertook additional work to try to make adjustments to better match your plan?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think the simplest answer is we worked for a substantial amount of time with Posterity Group to try and reverse-engineer or deconstruct the 2019 APS.

We found a number of items where we didn't think it would be useful for our plan, or it wasn't consistent with what we would reasonably be able to claim, so some of the measures weren't substantiated or weren't applicable.

All of these are noted in the evidence and also in the Posterity report.  But we kept trying to make adjustments so that we were hopeful that the mirror model would be useful to substantially, you know, input into our DSM plan and we don't believe we ever got to the point where it was.

So the basic fact is that that was not used as a substantive input into the DSM plan that we proposed.  We ran out of time.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay.  Okay, thank you for that.

Knowing that I am a little bit over time, if I can ask for an indulgence just to hopefully get a couple of undertakings that will have a little bit more evidence in preparation for the hearing.

Now, this is in response to Exhibit I.18 EGI.Pollution Probe.50.  This discusses various pieces of guidance that would be helpful for the company in transitioning from the legacy plans in-market in 2022 to the proposed new integrated plan for 2023.

I am thinking this is best done by way of undertaking.  I will describe it and, Mr. Fernandes or Mr. Johnson, you can correct me.  But it would be helpful, I think, to have a comprehensive list of the specific pieces of guidance or expectations Enbridge has for how its programs should be transitioned in the latter portion of 2022 from its current legacy plans to its new 2023 plan in order to foster a smooth transition.

Is this something that you can provide by way of undertaking so that it is clear for the panel?

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Wasylyk, are you -- I think what you are asking for is -- we kind of answered it at a fairly high level and qualitatively based on the timing, and I don't actually recall the exact timing of all of the procedural steps.

I think at this point in time, we didn't know the final procedural steps, if I recall correctly.

So I think we can provide a little bit more detail.

MR. WASYLYK:  Sorry, Mr. Fernandes, I will interrupt so maybe I can help a little bit here because you are going along the track I was thinking.  Due to timing of the one year plan was filed interrogatories or responses were filed, I don't think there is clarity on when the proceeding would come to an end.

Now that we have more clarity, you provided some examples related to the building beyond code program and the low carbon transition program, which are kind of newer ones getting into market.  If there are other things similar to that or other transitional elements, that it would be helpful to have guidance from the panel in its final decision, I think that would be helpful.

If there is nothing else after you have a look, then that is fine, too.

But I think that it would be helpful to have those clear.

MR. FERNANDES:  Understood.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay.  So maybe, Mr. Murray if you don't mind giving this an undertaking number.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be JT2.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.7:  ENBRIDGE TO PROVIDE A LIST OF TRANSITION GUIDANCE REQUIRED FROM THE OEB IN ORDER TO TRANSITION FROM ITS LEGACY PLANS TO ITS NEW INTEGRATED PLAN BEGINNING IN 2023.

MR. WASYLYK:  This would be for Enbridge to provide a list of transition guidance required from the OEB in order to transition from its legacy plans to its new integrated plan beginning in 2023.

MR. FERNANDES:  Thank you, Mr. Wasylyk.

MR. WASYLYK:  Just two more.  This is in reply to the report authored by Optimal Energy Inc., Exhibit L.OEB, Staff 2.  This is the program review report between Enbridge's programs and others in various jurisdictions.

Optimal included a number of recommendations related to each of Enbridge's proposed programs for enhancements or improvements.  Since we don't have Enbridge's thoughts on those on the record, it would be, I think, helpful for the panel and other parties to have Enbridge's response to each of the program recommendations tabulated in a table that is clear, the response to each of the recommendations.

I think that is best done by way of undertaking, but I am open to your thoughts, Mr. Fernandes.

MR. OLEARY:  If I could simply interrupt for a second and I don't know the answer to this, but it sounds like you are looking for something, Mr. Wasylyk, that could have been asked in an interrogatory.

Given that we are, you know, required to have responses completed in two weeks, it may be an undertaking that should not be given and should have been asked earlier.

MR. WASYLYK:  I appreciate that, Mr. O'Leary.  I don't think the timing allowed for that.  I think that expert evidence -- when was that filed?  It was filed after interrogatories were filed.

MR. OLEARY:  Expert evidence.

MR. MURRAY:  Expert evidence was filed on December 1.

MR. OLEARY:  In any event, I leave that as a possible concern and perhaps Mr. Fernandes has a view on matters?

MR. FERNANDES:  I just wanted to -- maybe we can scroll to the specifics of what you're looking for.

MR. WASYLYK:  Yes.  The summary of recommendations I think are included in the Executive Summary starting page (i) -- so maybe, Ms. Adams, you could scroll down.  There.

They start there and they kind of go by different sector and provide -- it is a decent list of considerations or recommendations.

I think that this is -- as the panel is considering your proposal for your continuation of programs and things, there was no real procedural step for Enbridge to respond to the recommendations here.  So I think that now is our opportunity to have the company file its response to these recommendations for parties to consider.

MR. FERNANDES:  So, Mr. Wasylyk, there was also two other expert reports filed, and there were interrogatories on both of those.  I just want to make sure I understand how much we're committing to, because it is a substantial amount of effort.

MR. WASYLYK:  Well, my follow-up question was going to be, I had another undertaking to also provide a similar response to the recommendations provided in the evidence put forward by the Small Business Utility Alliance, as it had a number of program recommendations there.

I think we are looking to optimize programs, deliver the most cost-effectively and deliver the best value for ratepayers funding, and with these experts providing independent recommendations based on their review of other programs in markets, I think that this would be in the best interests of all parties and ratepayer funds in order to have Enbridge's perspective on these recommendations on the record prior to the hearing.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.  So it is more than one of the reports and there are still several others.

MR. WASYLYK:  You're right, there are.  I am sorry that timing kind of is working out the way that it is and I am not trying to make a mountain of work for you guys, but I think, like, knowing that, you know, a good amount of work went into these expert reports and that they did identify some things that -- you know, and it could be that you review and you say, well, this was considered and you know, we didn't incorporate because X, or this is incorporated and maybe you just didn't notice it is here or, okay, we will take this under advisement.

I will leave it to you and sort of the depth that you want to get into on each of the recommendations, but I think that in some way as long as there's some response, even a high-level one, to each of the recommendations, it would be helpful so that parties can consider when kind of providing submissions and the panel providing its determination on the merits of the programs.

MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Wasylyk, it is Mr. Brophy.  Do you mind if I just take a second to make a quick interjection?

MR. MURRAY:  I am already over my time, so go for it, Mr. Brophy.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  This is one of the issues that we have been struggling with a little bit, and I think you've made the point that there is information that you know, it is important to know what Enbridge's position is on.

There is a certain timeline for undertakings, but a bigger issue would be if we wait past then to the oral hearing and ask these questions, Enbridge would be in a worse position to work under those constraints.

So I think it is favourable to do it now, and then on a best-efforts basis.

And to the extent that any of the requests that you had they can't meet within the timeline, then they have you know, several  options.  One is to ask for an extension, which is done very often by Enbridge on certain things when there's some questions that take longer, or there might be other options as well.  But you know, best efforts to at least hit the timeline.

Then to the extent that can't be done, but you know, if that is not -- if that approach isn't taken then we will end up in a much more difficult spot in the oral hearing, where there will be even less time to get what you are looking for.

So I just thought I would share that, because it was something I meant to indicate earlier and it is very valid based on what you are asking for.  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  Can I just add, David Poch here we're in some unusual situation where Enbridge sought and was granted the opportunity to file reply evidence.  And then as we have learned in the last day and a half, Enbridge is not necessarily adopting the suggestions in the reply evidence that it sponsored.

So we are kind of left wondering what Enbridge's position is on some of these things.  They haven't said they rejected those submissions.  They're just saying you know, they're not necessarily agreeing with them.

So I think, yes, it would probably help the Board a lot and make things run smoother in a hearing if we had a better sense of where Enbridge stands on the various questions that have been raised by the various experts.

MR. OLEARY:  Is there anyone else?

So to Mr. Poch, my response is that in respect of the compromise proposal that has been articulated by First Tracks in its report, you already have the company's response to that and its view on matters, and there were questions asked yesterday about that as well.

But in terms of what Mr. Wasylyk's asking for now, there is a long list of, in particular the Optimal thoughts on program offering redesign.  And the concern that first comes to my mind, beyond the length of it and therefore the time that would be required to respond to it, is, is it possible to even understand exactly what Optimal is proposing specifically?

And is it something that that is fully understood?  Or are there a series of questions that the company would need to ask Optimal about what it is they're proposing and how and to what extent, when, and how long?


And the other thought is, just from a design perspective, if these sort of let's call it micro-managing steps were ultimately what the parties were going to propose, what impact is that going to have on Enbridge's plan even starting in 2023?

So I am not sure that I agree that the OEB would be interested in knowing, on a program-offer-by-program-offer basis, exactly what other parties -- because that invites everybody to take a different position on this, and that seems to be inconsistent with the way DSM programs have been considered by the OEB in the past.

So I think the request is over-reaching it and not of the value that you are suggesting.

MR. WASYLYK:  Mr. O'Leary, I thank you for those comments.  I would respectfully disagree.  I think that the company's put forward a very comprehensive proposal that includes all macro- and micro-details of its programs as opposed to just essentially asking the OEB for blanket funding for sectoral programs.  So and --


MR. OLEARY:  I wasn't saying that.

MR. WASYLYK:  -- in its application -- I know you didn't say that.  But insofar as pointing out the recommendations from Optimal Energy here are so to speak micro-managing the utility's programs, I think that the panel here is tasked with approving the plan, including all of the program design details put forward by Enbridge.  The response here from Optimal Energy speaks to a number of alternative program designs or modified program design elements.

And the panel's final decision, similar to the one provided in 2014 it took a very detailed review of the programs proposed and offered a number of comments and rejected some proposals and modified others.  I think it would be -- sorry, I would like to finish then you can go ahead.

MR. OLEARY:  Sure.

MR. WASYLYK:  So I think it would be in the interests of parties will be commenting on the proposals and in the interests - more importantly, in the interests of the Panel will be ultimately deciding on the program proposals, to have the company's perspective on whether or not these changes are feasible, practical, relevant, or even something that can be considered.

And really what I am looking for here is on a best-efforts basis for Enbridge.  I appreciate the timing constraints and the number of recommendations here, but on a best efforts basis it would be, it would be extremely helpful to parties in the proceeding to have the company's response to these recommendations.

MR. OLEARY:  Well, so but in response, specifically, I mean on the screen I see item 24, revisit the technical caps for large volume programs.  So that is not even a specific recommendation.

What is ultimately Optimal asking the company to do?  Should it go back and propose different incentives?  We don't know what it is suggesting.  Is it a material increase or not?

I could go through this list and come up with at least a hundred questions back to Optimal about what it is they're proposing, how far to go and when, so I just don't see how you can answer these things.

MR. WASYLYK:  Mr. O'Leary, I think a lot of those questions may be answered if you read the report.

But you may have other follow-up questions and that is fair.  I am not here to say that these are correct or these are good recommendations.  These were not authored by OEB Staff.  They were done by an independent expert, but they are recommendations directly related to your company's proposal and ones that would merit the review and the response.

I see Ms. Girvan has her hand up.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, before we go to Ms. Girvan, perhaps if I could just weigh in.

Mr. O'Leary, to the extent you need clarification questions with respect to some of these recommendations, there was an opportunity to ask interrogatories about that, and there is also an opportunity tomorrow to ask questions from Optimal to clarify if some things not clear to your clients.

I think what we heard from a number of people is a number of these recommendations, we want to know what Enbridge's position is on them.  And if the panel is interested in them, the panellists here today, it would be good to know whether or not Enbridge agrees or disagrees --and if it disagrees, as to why.

Otherwise, they are looking at these recommendations in a blacks box without knowing Enbridge's position as to whether it can or cannot be done.  I would urge you to reconsider the position.

 Otherwise, ultimately a number of these questions may come up again at the hearing and, as other intervenors have pointed out, we're even in more of a time crunch there.  Thanks, Ms. Girvan.

MS. GIRVAN:  I was going to express my support for Board Staff's proposal and I think it is important.

Like Mr. Murray just said, I think potentially parties are interested in Enbridge's response to some of these recommendations.  And if it is not dealt with now, ultimately it will be dealt with at the hearing.

So I just wanted to express my support.  Thank you.

MR. FERNANDES:  So, Mr. Wasylyk, hearing all of the commentary, one additional thing that comes to mind that I would be particularly concerned about going through item by item, particularly with different parties and there were a large number of recommendations, is that even the perception of condoning that you can take an individual item and just adjust that one factor without considering its impact on the whole and some of them are -- you know, in isolation, they're mutually exclusive.

So, you know, really what I believe everyone is interested this is having the best totality of the framework and plan, and that kind of going through listing one by one, it is not a cafeteria-style I want to pick this, I want to pick that.

Some of the items that the company proposed are actually meant to work together as a whole.  So that's, you know, one fundamental concern.

But I do want to try to be as helpful as possible because I kind of understand your concern.  You know, Mr. O'Leary raised a number of items there as well.  There is a number of suggestions that at this point in time just wouldn't be viable for us to do.

But if you are really looking at a high-level overview of those, what I am afraid it is going to look like is it will look like another reply, and then are we going to be looking for, you know, interrogatories on that?

We have been in the process of litigating the plan that we filed last May.  You know, the company put this together based on the direction from the OEB and we were only given five months to file the complete application.

I am just worried about timing of the overall proceeding here.  So I think we can try and take it away and look at something on a best efforts basis, but I can almost guarantee that we're not going to be able to do a fulsome job of that in the time allotted and it will lead to a lot more questions.

MR. WASYLYK:  That's fair, Mr. Fernandes.  I appreciate the concerns around timing and I think we share those and that we would like to have a plan approved in the late summer, so that we're launched effective January 1st.

I urge you to make best efforts.  I think that if the response is too high level, that it may just spur additional more specific questions at the hearing.

So on a best efforts basis, if you can go through the recommendations that have been provided by Optimal and also by the Small Business Utility Alliance expert and provide a response and appreciate that the programs are interactive and that a number of parts work together, but that there are a number of recommendations here that may be able to stand alone.

So with that, if you are amenable, I would like to get an undertaking for Enbridge to provide best -- to best efforts basis responses to the recommendations provided in the Optimal Energy report and Green Energy Economics Report.

MR. FERNANDES:  Is it only those two reports, the Staff -- I don’t have a --

MR. WASYLYK:  Yes.  I can give you the specific references that we focussed on, but I am sure other parties have other things.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  This is Roger Higgin for Energy Probe.

We would be interested in the same response to the Energy Futures report and the recommendations, particularly those as they relate to the Home Energy Program.  Thank you.

MR. WASYLYK:  I think Mr. Shepherd is waiting.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am a little bit concerned that it sounds like Energy Probe or -- not Energy Probe, but Enbridge is saying we presented a plan, it is binary, take it or leave it.  We're not going to discuss how it can be amended.

And I understand the timing concerns, don't get me wrong.  But if what Enbridge is saying is we're presenting you with an up-down decision, Board, approve it or not, then you should be clear about that.

If you are not saying that, then I think the information that other people are asking for is just obviously helpful to the Board.  That's all I have to say.

MR. OLEARY:  Anyone else?  What I am hearing from Mr. Fernandes and based on my own observations, it seems to me that what you are requesting is beyond the capability of the company to provide anything that would be meaningful on a timely basis before the hearing.

Mr. Shepherd, the company is not saying that it will not listen to what positions the parties are taking at the hearing for the purposes of ultimately the Board approving a plan.  But the company has put forward a comprehensive plan that has different elements that are interrelated and integral to one another that to start asking to nit-pick a piece here and a piece there, as Mr. Fernandes said, may undo the whole string.

So I will propose this, if it is satisfactory, that if permitted, I will speak with the witnesses and with the company.  We can come back with a final response as to whether we will give such an undertaking and if so to the extent of that, if that is satisfactory.

MR. WASYLYK:  Well, I think if that is the kind of the best we're going to get right now, then let's take that so we can proceed with the day.  But I think that you have heard from parties that this would be of great benefit --

MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Wasylyk, it is Mr. Brophy.  Maybe we can get some timing on when we would hear back.  Because if Board Staff or other parties want to put a motion forward based on the refusal to take the undertaking, that would have to probably go in this week to give them time to comply with that prior to the hearing.

MR. WASYLYK:  Mr. Fernandes or Mr. O'Leary, if you can speak to timing on when you can let us know the extent that you can respond to the recommendations from experts.

MR. FERNANDES:  Before we do that, can we again go back to clarify the specifics of which reports, because there were a number of them.  So what I heard was Staff 2.  I heard someone looking to add EFG and I heard SBUA.

MR. WASYLYK:  I think those are the three main -- those are the three reports in question.

DR. HIGGIN:  Just to clarify, my interest in the EFG report relates specifically to the Whole Home Energy Program and its recommendations related to that.  So I am not trying to, in my -- that's what I asked for.  Others may want to talk about other aspects of the EFG.

MR. FERNANDES:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.  So we have Staff 2, SBUA and EFG related to the residential program only.

MR. POCH:  That was not my choice and I sensed from Mr. Shepherd nodding earlier he would also find it helpful.


Whatever responses you can give to all of the recommendations from the experts, that is just going to narrow discussion for the hearing, and I think it improves the process.

I appreciate some of these will be complex and interrelated, and you may just have to say that in some instances, you know, that this could be considered if X and Y; but you know, let's get as much as we can.  And obviously you folks need to go away and think about that.

MR. FERNANDES:  So we have Staff 2, SBUA and the EFG report?  Okay.  Because I think we need to be clear on that before I think Mr. O'Leary can give a time frame and when we would be able to respond to that, as per Mr. Brophy.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay.  So I guess we will wait for Mr. O'Leary and yourself, Mr. Fernandes, to get back to us on timing for that.

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we will probably have to have a discussion maybe at the break.

MR. WASYLYK:  Maybe you can update us this afternoon or something.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Wasylyk, it is Mr. Murray.  Time check.

MR. WASYLYK:  You know, what, I think I have gone far past my estimate.  This discussion took a lot longer than I had expected, so in the interests of helping others I will stop my questioning now.

MR. MURRAY:  Next on the list is SBUA.
Examination by Ms. Seers:


MS. SEERS:  Wow, what a prelude to my questions.  I guess I couldn't have been better timed.

First, since this is the first hearing I have attended at the OEB since the pandemic started, I hope you can indulge me one second to say it is absolutely lovely to be back and see you all again, wearing what I think is fair to describe a very different hat this time representing neither Union Gas nor Enbridge but the new intervenor, Small Business Utility Alliance on whose behalf I would like to thank the OEB for allowing us a seat at the table, together with my colleagues Sebastien Melo, who is also on the call, and our expert witnesses Francis Wyatt and Theo Love from Green Energy Economics, whose report was just up on the screen.  We look forward to working with all of you in the future in this new capacity.

By the way, I know Mr. Wyatt and Mr. Love are thrilled by the recognition just now that they and the other experts have made some very good suggestions, and that Enbridge should address those.  Of course we agree, and we would submit that it is indispensable, actually, in fact for this proceeding to be able to move forward in an orderly fashion and that the Board is set up to make the best decision that it can make based on the best information available.

I would particularly echo Mr. Shepherd's point that the plan cannot be -- absolutely cannot be binary or take it or leave it, and that is indeed why this Board's process includes an opportunity for extensive participation by stakeholders, why there are 45 people on this call.  It's not so that the plan proposed by the utility can be accepted or not accepted; it is to have extensive exchange and debate about it.

That certainly does not occur before other administrative tribunals in Ontario or indeed before courts in the province of Ontario, where decisions are indeed binary.

And so I would submit and support the request and the undertaking that was requested by Mr. Wasylyk that Enbridge provide a response to the expert reports.  Obviously in particular the one that concerns SBUA is Green Energy Economics, but we would certainly echo the submission that this process has to be the product of consultation and compromise and there is absolutely nothing binary about that.

So with that preamble, returning to first principles, let me begin by asking about residential-sized equipment.  So panel, hello, panel.

Does the panel have any reason to disagree that residential-sized heating equipment is used by some small business, small business customers -- I am talking about water heating and space heating in particular?

MR. FERNANDES:  I don't believe we do.

MS. SEERS:  Have you done any customer research or engagement to determine whether that is the case or not the case?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry just to clarify here, Ms. Seers, whether we have done consumer research on?


MS. SEERS:  Whether small --


MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry, please finish.

MS. SEERS:  My apologies.  So the question is:  Has consumer research been conducted by Enbridge to determine whether small business customers use or do not use residential-sized heating equipment, whether water heating or space heating?


MR. GROCHMAL:  I am not aware of any, but as Mr. Fernandes said I think we accept the fact that there is quite possibly small business customers that might be using residential-size equipment.

MS. SEERS:  But the rebates for that equipment are only available for residential customers, not commercial customers?  In the plan, I mean, that you are proposing.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry I thought that might be a question for Mr. Hodgins just to confirm the opportunities of the residential program.

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.  So the residential programs are for residential customers.

MS. SEERS:  So the answer to my question is, yes, the residential-size equipment used by commercial customers are not eligible for the rebates?

MR. JOHNSON:  Perhaps could we quickly confer on this one?

MS. SEERS:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers]


MS. SEERS:  Can I just confirm with Mr. Wasylyk?  Does my time keep running as the panel is conferring?

MR. WASYLYK:  I think, Ms. Seers, we will consider the time the panel has taken from your time.

MS. SEERS:  Thank you.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Thanks for your patience.

MS. SEERS:  No problem.

MR. GROCHMAL:  We had a conference because you're getting into program details that we're trying to recall.

Anyhow, I am not sure, the answer isn't necessarily no to your answer.  I would be more comfortable if we could simply undertake.  We might actually have examples where we do service small commercial customers with that type of equipment, but instead of speculating on the record I would prefer to go back and talk to the team and confirm for you, if that is okay.

MS. SEERS:  So the undertaking I am requesting is to provide details as to the circumstances under which a small business commercial customer would be -- pardon me.  Circumstances under which a small business commercial customer would be eligible for rebates under the proposed plan if they are using residential-size equipment that would be eligible if the customer were residential.

MR. MURRAY:  I think that also gets -- I think to me the question was just -- if I understood it, and correct me if I'm wrong -- if a small business customer is effectively using residential scale equipment, do they have access to any sort of rebates or incentives.  Is that fair?

MS. SEERS:  That's fair.  Sure.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT2.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.8:  TO CONFIRM (A) WHETHER IF A SMALL BUSINESS CUSTOMER IS EFFECTIVELY USING RESIDENTIAL SCALE EQUIPMENT, DO THEY HAVE ACCESS TO ANY SORT OF REBATES OR INCENTIVES; TO THE EXTENT THAT A CUSTOMER, A COMMERCIAL CUSTOMER IS NOT ELIGIBLE FOR THE REBATE FOR RESIDENTIAL-SIZE EQUIPMENT, PLEASE EXPLAIN WHY THAT IS THE CASE, WHAT ENBRIDGE'S RATIONALE WAS IN DETERMINING THAT ELIGIBILITY CRITERION

MS. SEERS:  Thank you.  And perhaps this will be another undertaking, because it is a follow up question.  And the question is as follows: To the extent that a customer, a commercial customer is not eligible for the rebate for residential-size equipment, please explain why that is the case, what Enbridge's rationale was in determining that eligibility criterion.

MR. GROCHMAL:  I will put that over to Mr. Hodgins quickly, if that is something he can answer on the spot or if that is something we take away as well.

MR. HODGINS:  I would take that away, I would suggest as part of the previous undertaking.  I think that is what Ms. Seers was suggesting, too.  Is that correct?

MS. SEERS:  Correct.  So let's make that the same undertaking under the same number that Mr. Murray just provided, with A being the first question and B being the second question.  If there is confusion about it, subsequently we can clarify in writing.

Okay.  So I would like to turn to customer engagement next -- Ms. Adams, if I could trouble you to pull up Exhibit 1.10 EGI SBUA 3, and zero-in on the quote there in the middle.  Perfect.

This quote is from page 43 of a report by IPSOS entitled "IPSOS Enb5ridge Gas Commercial Next Gen DSM Stakeholder Engagement Report of Qualitative Research Findings".

Now, is that the only stakeholder engagement relevant to DSM that Enbridge has done that addresses small business customers specifically?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yeah, that would be the most relevant for the purpose of this filed plan, yes, Ms. Seers.

MS. SEERS:  Thank you.  It says in the highlighted part on the screen:
"Associations would recommend a multi pronged, proactive outreach as the best means to reach and break through to small businesses and would be willing to disseminate energy efficiency conservation program information to its membership as they believe they would be a trusted source that could help Enbridge Gas cut through the noise."

And in response to the question, Enbridge says it will continue to work with associations to promote its energy efficiency programs through electronic communications, events, publications and web platforms, as well as explore other opportunities available through associations to effectively reach members.

So my question is just asking for more detail about that answer.  So firstly, what specific steps is Enbridge going to undertake to reach small business stakeholders?

MR. GROCHMAL:  What steps?

MS. SEERS:  Yes.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Well, first of all, I might offer through the normal course of operating our programs, you know, the primary way we reach these customers and you note it in your interrogatory response is through channel partners, or I think we refer to service providers in the evidence, through our marketing efforts, through customer and industry associations.

So if you are looking for more specifics, you know, it is part of our normal course to engage with, say, service providers and groups, you know, there's groups that represent heating contractors, there is groups that represent, you know, Boiler Society is another example that allow us to leverage service providers as a means to getting the word out and to equipment support small businesses with energy conservation opportunities.

Does that help, or would you like further information?

MS. SEERS:  It helps directionally, but it is still quite general.  So I would like more specifics as to -- for example, what is it specifically that you do through those service providers that specifically targets small business customers?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Well, the service providers are like --they would have a direct line to our program utility staff, you know, so we would put them with potentially sales material.

We, you know, educate them on the incentives that are available and the eligibility requirements, you know, something like a prescriptive measure, you know, like a [inaudible] or destratification plan, something like that.

A lot of those are pushed out through service providers who are the subject matter experts or product experts, in a lot of cases, and they facilitate -- like they're really the primary point of influence in a number of examples.

Direct install would be another example.  That whole program really is predicated on the idea of leveraging service providers who wouldn't interface customarily with the types of small businesses that you are referring to, right.

So in that case, we go even further, like we actually equip them with the ability to offer the incentive directly on the invoice, so customers are not out of pocket for the purchase, or they are less out of pocket, so to speak, for the purchase because that rebate sort of -- or that incentive is built right into the quoting process.

We provide them with marketing collateral so that they can effectively provide the turnkey service that small businesses are in need of.  That is what we saw in the market research, something that's sort of requires minimal effort on their part.

MS. SEERS:  Okay, thank you.  So given that small business decision-makers have so many competing priorities for their time, I think that is acknowledged and pointed out by IPSOS, their time, attention and their money.  What is Enbridge's strategy for getting information into the hands of the decision-makers at those customers that will encourage them to make the best possible decisions that are consistent with achieving DSM goals?

So you just talked about one part of that strategy  perhaps.  What is the rest of the strategy?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I think catching them at the right time, so to speak, I think is the one of the other part important parts to at a high level summarize how we get information to decision-makers, because it is noted in the evidence and in the market research that they have maybe fewer opportunities, and the opportunities often are sometimes event driven.  Your water heater breaks down, maybe coming back to the example you raised, Ms. Seers.

So it's like how do you ensure that when there is that opportunity, that you can reach them in that time sensitive moment.  That is actually the premise to some extent with one of our program offerings that's targeted to small businesses.  The midstream prescriptive offering we talk about in our evidence and the that we offer water heaters of varying sizes so when that moment happens, you know, typically those customers, our understanding of the market and what we see through the market research is that they're relying on the service providers in those cases.  You know, what is available very much influences their ability to implement a high efficiency measure, so that is the whole kind of construct of a midstream offer, is to be able to catch service providers who in turn service customers at those crucial points in time.  Does that help?

MS. SEERS:  It does, thank you.  Does Enbridge have a broader strategy, an overarching strategy to bring small business customers to the table, so to speak, in DSM?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Bring them to the table in which way, Ms. Seers?

MS. SEERS:  Is there a strategy for -- sorry.  My apologies.  Is there a strategy at Enbridge to ensure that small business customers are participants in DSM priorities to the same degree as residential customers and large industrial customers?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Well, I would say for the purpose of the plan, I would say actually they were at the table.

I mean, the market research, part of it was engaging with small businesses or their service providers.

So I don't know if I am at liberty to name the specific associations but I can assure you that there were some that do speak for small businesses that were consulted in the purpose of producing this plan.

So I mean, for the purpose of the plan were they at the table, but was your question intending more than that, Ms. Seers?


MS. SEERS:  Yes.  And I saw that you have named certain associations like the hotel association and others in the response, so I appreciate that.

The question is about whether there's a strategy at Enbridge to specifically ensure that small business customers are participants in overarching DSM goals that are the reason we're all here today.


MR. GROCHMAL:  Well, I would say the strategy fundamentally is to build a plan here that is responsive to the goals and objectives and the guiding principles, and I think the guiding principles which really emanate from you know, from the OEB's direction, their letter was that we need to ensure that all segments of the market are reached.  And they specifically named, among others, sort of low-volume I think was the terminology in the guiding principles we put forward.

So how do we do that?  Well, it even shows up on the scorecard the fact we actually created, large-customer, small-customer sort of metrics to ensure the emphasis is there that those customers will be well served over the course of the term.

MS. SEERS:  Okay, thank you.  I will move on back to the direct install program we were talking about just a moment ago.  Does Enbridge agree that there are additional cost-effective efficiency opportunities than those that are offered through the limited set of measures that are included in that program currently?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry, if you might just clarify for me, please.  When you say in the program currently, you mean like today, like in the current framework?  Or relative to what is proposed in the plan?

MS. SEERS:  Relative to what is proposed in the plan.  I apologize.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Okay.  Thanks that's helpful.  Can you restate the question then in light of that reference point.  Sorry.

MS. SEERS:  Sure whether Enbridge agrees there are additional cost-effective efficiency opportunities available than those that are proposed as part of the plan.

MR. GROCHMAL:  I think the potential is there.  I certainly would agree with that statement.  I mean I think what I would like to point out, though, is that, what is actually being proposed in the plan is actually quite an expansion of what is offered today.  I know you didn't ask specifically about that but I think it is important to understand we're looking to grow direct install.  It has had a good track record.  It's demonstrated it's effective in reaching small business customers, and so we are proposing that in multiple more measures.

Now, does that represent the full gamut of what is potentially cost-effective, that could be delivered through that model.  No, there is potentially others.  As you get further along and you start adding more measures, it just introduces new challenges, and that is among them you tend to get you know, we tend to want to bring forward measures that are not only easily accessible and easy to install for customers, but you know, that generate savings to justify the high cost because our incentives are tied to the costs, the way that we have designed that program.

So as you go further down the list it is just there's the diminished returns as you add other measures.


The other piece is you're fundamentally limited by what is available on the TRM.  That is the technical reference manual that sets out our prescriptive-type measures.  So we have talked about potentially exploring maybe simplified custom measures that we can even offer your customers more, Ms. Seers.


But these are the challenges that we are going to have to work through over time in order to grow this program to offer more.

MR. FERNANDES:  Ms. Seers, can I add that the company has proposed a portfolio on a number of sector scorecards which -- there is no expectation that that is going to remain static over the term.  As the program administrator, as Mr. Grochmal mentioned we would introduce new measures in the TRM as required, and that could change the program offerings and the measures within those based on the circumstances; which could include whether there is new things that come into the fore, or if it is other items, where there is more or less adoption, we're operating under an incentive model.  So we would have the incentive to do that over time.

It wouldn't necessarily be something that would be before the OEB for litigation.  We make those sort of changes all the time and we will continue to do so.

MS. SEERS:  Thank you, Mr. Fernandes, and in doing that, will Enbridge consider specifically the impact and potential benefit to small business consumers?  Customers, rather.

MR. FERNANDES:  What we have proposed and Mr. Grochmal can, you know, provide more detail on this, is we specifically proposed a large and small commercial measurement within the plan so it is inherently part of what we're trying to do.

MS. SEERS:  Thank you.  Just a bit further on specific measures, then.  So the residential offerings include custom whole-building treatment, adaptive thermostats, shell measures, including air sealing insulation.  Why hasn't Enbridge included similar offerings for small businesses?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry, do you have a specific list in mind?  Because I see there is actually some common measures but it sounded like you have a few.  Can you repeat them, please, if you do.

MS. SEERS:  Sure.  The ones I had noted, and certainly there may be others, the ones I had noted are the custom whole building treatment, adaptive thermostats, and shell measures including air, ceiling and insulation.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yeah, I think what I might offer, Ms. Seers, is that, again, the way the program is structured and a lot of it is sort of a function of simplicity.  It is not that you couldn't try and replicate what we're doing on the residential side of the Whole Home, but it would add a lot of complications.  We've got a direct install program that's you know -- like it is currently as proposed based on measures in the TRM.

So I mean first off, you just I think some of our limitations result from just sort of what is in the TRM.  And I think one of the examples might be, and this is subject to check but I think you know, like commercial adaptive thermostats I think that is something we have to be researching.

So you know, so that is I would say maybe one of the barriers.  And then that might even be the barrier for insulation measures as well.  So I think that is part of it.


The other piece is that, if you are -- I want to make sure I understand your question.  Are you suggesting that we should be, why aren't we offering something that is sort of whole-building-related similar to residential?  Is that kind of where you are going with this?

MR. FERNANDES:  And Ms. Seers, I think one of the items that is an issue is that a lot of the smaller business customers that you are representing don't actually own the space.  So I think Mr. Grochmal would be able to elaborate on the fact that in order to get around the necessary need in some of those other programs that would have a capital investment, a direct install is more targeted to those types of customers.

MS. SEERS:  Okay.  Understood.  But let's just put a concrete example, just to use as a hypothetical just to make sure we're talking about the same thing.

So I am a residential consumer and I have a house.  So therefore I may be eligible for an adaptive thermostat.  I'm a yoga studio owner that operates from a house I own but it is not my residence, and therefore I may wish to put in an adaptive thermostat.

Why would I be eligible for the incentive when I am a residential consumer but not eligible when I am a commercial consumer?

MR. GROCHMAL:  That's a fair point.  Can I quickly confer with the panel on this?


MS. SEERS:  Sure.

MR. GROCHMAL:  All right.  Thank you.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MURRAY:  Ms. Seers, do you have a sense of timing, in terms of how much longer?

MS. SEERS:  Sure.  Apologies for being over.  Ten minutes longer, if I can have the indulgence.  If I can't, I will cut it even shorter.

MR. MURRAY:  To the extent you can cut it short it would be great, because we're already running over time and we seem to be slipping.

MS. SEERS:  Sure.

MR. MURRAY:  Thanks.

MS. SEERS:  Thank you.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Thanks, Ms. Seers, again.  Here is what I would suggest.  There is some complexities in addressing the specifics, and I think it would be best if we tack that on to the first undertaking since your time here and let's follow up.

MS. SEERS:  Let's start a new undertaking, because I think if we don't, it will be a bit confusing.

The other undertaking I will request is -- I am actually -- since you are doing it by way of undertaking, I will ask something a little bit broader.

For each residential measure that is available in Enbridge's plan, whether it is also available to commercial customers.  I think the answer is no, but if you could confirm that.

Then the actual question is why?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Okay.  Noted.

MR. MURRAY:  so if no, then why?

MS. SEERS:  If no, then why.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT2.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.9:  FOR EACH RESIDENTIAL MEASURE THAT IS AVAILABLE IN ENBRIDGE'S PLAN, WHETHER IT IS ALSO AVAILABLE TO COMMERCIAL CUSTOMERS.

MS. SEERS:  I know we're way over time and this part specifically.  I just have one other area or two and I will try to be very quick.

So this is about the update.  So Exhibit, Ms. Adams, if I could ask you to turn up Exhibit E, tab 1, schedule 4, page 24 of 36, which in the PDF we had was page 238.  Found it.  Okay.

So this is with respect to the eligibility criteria for the commercial direct install program and it states -- the part that starts "To be eligible" --
"To be eligible for the offering, a participant must be an Enbridge Gas commercial or industrial customer with no past DSM participation in the last three program years."


So the question is why does Enbridge propose to not allow customers to participate in the direct install program if they have participated in another DSM program within the last three years?

MR. GROCHMAL:  The main reason behind that rule is that eligibility criteria reflects the intent which direct install program in particular, like it is an expensive program to run.  And because we're tying -- you know, we're covering a very high portion of the incentive, like most of the incremental cost and a good portion of the installation cost.

So I mean it is -- one of the drivers of this program is to again not only -- it's to serve small volume customers, but we want to ensure we're driving higher levels of participation and not just savings.

So I think that would be the main rationale is just to ensure that we're growing the number of unique participants in DSM with the resources that we have here.

MS. SEERS:  Thank you.  If I could have one moment.  Okay.  Just one last area, higher efficiency initiatives.

Does Enbridge agree that small businesses require higher efficiency incentives and assistance than large businesses for similar DSM program participation rates?

MR. FERNANDES:  Are you referencing a particular area, Ms. Seers?

MS. SEERS:  The IR reference I have is SBUA 5, part B, but I think the question is more -- a bit more general, but we're happy to refer to that IR response, if that is helpful.

MR. FERNANDES:  And the question again is?

MS. SEERS:  Does Enbridge agree that small businesses require higher efficiency incentives and assistance than do large businesses for -- in order to achieve similar DSM program participation rates?

MR. FERNANDES:  Higher proportionally?

MS. SEERS:  Higher incentives, more favourable incentives.  You need to make it more worth their while if they're small than if they're big, to put it colloquially.

MR. FERNANDES:  I think a large user would have a much larger incentive in absolute dollars.  Do you mean a proportion of the incremental costs, is that what you are saying?

MS. SEERS:  Proportionately, yes.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.  Mr. Grochmal?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Thanks for clarifying that, Mr. Fernandes.

I guess what you are asking is us to make a broad general statement about, you know, what is actually quite a diverse set of customers here in commercial.

And maybe what I would say is that's reflected in this plan is that we understand small business customers they just need more assistance overall, right.  I think that is what came through in our market research.  So it is more than -- don't get me wrong, the incentive is important.  But, you know, how do you build that incentive in to manage cashflow, the technical support, not leaving it to them to figure out who their service provider is, but being able to provide it in a package.  It is all of those things together that sort of, I'd say, you know, reflect sort of the unique differences of smaller businesses, if you were to make a broad statement.  But I would say there is certain exceptions to that because we're dealing with a spectrum of customers that range, as you said, from a yoga studio leasing a space or working from home to somebody who is, you know, maybe a portfolio manager, right.

MS. SEERS:  Absolutely.  Thank you very much, Mr. Grochmal and panel.  Let me just, if I may, consult with my colleagues just one moment to see if there is another question.

The question is simply to follow up on that outside of the direct-install program, which you have already told us about, are there any measures proposed to provide that type of assistance to small businesses above and beyond or outside the context of direct-install?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Well direct install is -- the programs already exist, to provide support, different types of support and to varying degrees.  I mean, direct install is unique in sort of its turnkey provision, if you will.

But it's, you know, customers can receive, you know, we equip service providers to provide the technical support for customers for other measures and to provide incentives and make the processes as easy and accessible as possible.

So I don't know if that helps, but I would say that there is just, you know, they're shades.

MS. SEERS:  Okay.  Well, thank you very much, Mr. Grochmal, Mr. Fernandes and panel.  It is great to be back here at the OEB as I said, and I really look forward to continuing to work with you in this new role.  Thank you.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  It is Mr. Mr. Murray here again.  I think now -- we were hoping to finish panel one by the end of lunch, but I think the chances of that have sailed.

So perhaps now would be a good time to take a lunch break.  I know the panel has been up there a long time, and I imagine they would like to get some food.

Perhaps we can come back at 1:25.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:40 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:26 p.m.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, everyone.  Welcome back to the technical conference.  By hand it over to the next questioner for VECC, I understand, Mr. O'Leary, you have some further guidance with respect to the undertaking that Mr. Wasylyk was asking for?

MR. OLEARY:  I do, thank you, Mr. Murray.

So we had a discussion during the break and you will recall that, just to put this in context, that Mr. Wasylyk asked that -- he took the witness panel to Optimal's report at Exhibit L, Staff 2 and in particular pages 36 and I believe they're 36 through 38, and asked for the company's response in terms of those.

And then other parties asked for similar responses in respect of the EFG report and the SBUA's report.

And what I am prepared to advise, in terms of giving an undertaking, is that the company will make best efforts to provide a high-level response to the program recommendations that have been made and I want to be clear as to what portions of those reports the company will be responding to.  And that include Optimal's Exhibit L Staff 2 report at pages 36 through 38, the SBUA executive summary, which is at pages 1 and 2, and the EFG report at page 36 which is section 1.

Those are the -- and it is a long list.  It is going to take a good deal of time to provide a response to these, if at all possible.  So in terms of timing, I can advise you the company does not believe that it has any hope of meeting the March 16th deadline.  It will provide the response in due course.  It will certainly be in advance of the hearing, but to be clear, the undertakings are given to not meet the March 16th deadline.


MR. MURRAY:  Mr. O'Leary perhaps we can have that with a number, that will be JT2.10.

MR. OLEARY:  I hope I don't have to repeat that.

MR. MURRAY:  No I think you provided a good summary in terms of what your client is going to provide and that is on the record and that is JT2.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.10:  ENBRIDGE WILL MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO PROVIDE A HIGH-LEVEL RESPONSE TO THE PROGRAM RECOMMENDATIONS THAT HAVE BEEN MADE AND I WANT TO BE CLEAR AS TO WHAT PORTIONS OF THOSE REPORTS THE COMPANY WILL BE RESPONDING TO.  AND THAT INCLUDE OPTIMAL'S EXHIBIT L STAFF 2 REPORT AT PAGES 36 THROUGH 38, THE SBUA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY, WHICH IS AT PAGES 1 AND 2, AND THE EFG REPORT AT PAGE 36 WHICH IS SECTION 1 (THE PORTFOLIO AND PROGRAM DESIGN SUMMARY OF KEY POINTS, THE FIVE BULLETS.)


MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Murray, it is Michael Brophy from Pollution Probe.  I just wanted to clarify.  I might have jotted this down wrong but Enbridge is only going to look at six pages, pieces of paper, paper?

MR. OLEARY:  I'm sorry, Mr. Brophy.  Do you have a question?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  So you said pages 36 to 38 of the Optimal, pages -- I think you said one and two of SBUA, and page 36.  So that is six pages.  If that is the correct interpretation; why is it going to be a challenge to read six pages?


MR. OLEARY:  Those are the summary of recommendations.

MR. BROPHY:  Oh, so you are going to respond to the whole report, but specifically the recommendations are what you are going to speak to?  But it doesn't mean that you are not doing it in the context of the broader report?


MR. OLEARY:  The response will be what the response is, but it is going to be responding to, as requested by Mr. Wasylyk, the specific recommendations that are made by those parties at the pages I identified.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.

MR. WASYLYK:  Mr. Brophy, maybe I will jump in.  I think that accurately describes my request.

MR. POCH:  Sorry, Josh.  I am concerned about the page reference.  I don't know if you misspoke yourself, Mr. O'Leary, but I don't see a summary of recommendations at that page on EFG, so maybe you could just clarify that.

MR. OLEARY:  Give me a second and I will make sure I've got the right page number.

MR. BROPHY:  It is Mr. Brophy.  Would be more appropriate to say the pages dealing with the recommendations and then we can save time?  It is what you meant I believe, Mr. O'Leary, without -- and that gets you off the hook for maybe the wrong pages.

MR. O'LEARY:  I don't think there is any hook to get off of, Mr. Brophy, and Mr. Poch, it is.  It is the portfolio and program design summary of key points.  We will address the five bullets that are there.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I think it is just the page number.  I didn't hear the page number correctly, perhaps.

MR. OLEARY:  It is 36.  I may have a different printed out version than others.

MR. POCH:  I think that is it.  In any event that is the topic.  I understand what you're saying.  So what you're saying is you are not going to respond to other recommendations in the EFG report such as spending, savings, performance incentives, or discount rates; things such as that?  You don't propose to respond your position on those in response to EFG's suggestion?


MR. OLEARY:  The company's position is its DSM plan filing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just want to clarify, I'm sorry to jump in, but it sounded, Mr. O'Leary, like you were saying,  our witnesses are not going to read the whole report.  They're going to read these pages and respond to these pages.  I am sure that is not what you meant.  I am sure what you meant was they will read the whole report, but the specific recommendations they will respond to are these ones listed.

Can you clarify?  Do I understand that correctly?  I don't want to misunderstand.

MR. OLEARY:  Sorry.  Was there any suggestion given that the witnesses have not reviewed these reports?  No.  But will the response relate to the specific recommendations that have been made?  Yes.  As identified in those pages.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. WASYLYK:  Thanks for that follow-up, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. MURRAY:  Before we hand it over to Miss Grice, I am going to sound like a broken record, as I have put it on the record the last couple of days, to ask people to do this.  Our timing isn't terrible, but we are running a bit behind so I would ask people to be mindful of the time and to the extent they can find some time to squeeze from their questions, to try and do so because we are still trying to get this thing done by the end of tomorrow.  Today we're about an hour and a bit over so it is not insurmountable, but we do have to have people look at their questions and try to tighten them up and save some time if they can.  With that I will hand it over to miss Grice.
Examination by Ms. Grice:


MS. GRICE:  Thank you very much.  Good afternoon, panel.  It is Shelley Grice representing VECC.

My first question relates to Exhibit I.6.EGI.VECC.7.  In this interrogatory, VECC asked for the overall allocation of headcount at the program and portfolio level for the year of 2021, and Enbridge indicated that it could not provide this information because it didn't track FTEs at the program level in the EDG rate zone, and that several of the programs did not align with Union Gas.

I wondered if Enbridge could provide just the totals at the program and portfolio level.  So not by program.  But just the program totals and the portfolio totals for the year 2021.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  So that statement would be applicable on a legacy Enbridge side, that statement would be applicable at that level as well.  It simply wasn't tracked that way at legacy Enbridge.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  But do you have it -- if you add up all of your programs so no details on the individual programs but at a total program level, do you have it at that level?


MR. JOHNSON:  That's what I'm saying, we do not.  FTEs were not tracked at the program level.  By individual program or by total program at legacy Enbridge.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Then can we just -- would we be able to get the final 2021 FTE count?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  We should -- so um..., yes, if you are asking for just the total FTE count, we can for sure undertake to provide that.

MS. GRICE:  That would be great.  Thanks so much.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT2.10 (sic).

UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.11:  WITH REFERENCE TO EXHIBIT I.6.EGI.VECC.7, TO PROVIDE THE TOTAL FINAL 2021 FTE COUNT


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Next question Exhibit I.6 --


MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, correction I believe 2.10 was actually the one we gave with respect to the recommendations and reports.  So it will be undertaking JT2.11.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Exhibit 1.6 EGI.VECC 9.  In this interrogatory we asked for vacancies per month for the years 2019 to 2020, and Enbridge indicates in the response that you couldn't provide the vacancies per month because it is not in a reliable format.

So would Enbridge be able to provide the dollar value for each of those years -- 2019, 2020 and 2021 -- related to the impact of vacancies on the DSM compensation budget?

MR. JOHNSON:  I can't give you an actual value because of the way our budgets were tracked.  They're tracked as a total overhead component.

What I can do is give you a very good proxy and I can try and pull it up and, if not, I can undertake to provide you the reference.

We have a value in terms of -- I just can't remember if it is 100-something, you know, 103,000 dollars that we provide in another IR as a proxy for the vacancies.

So the best thing to do would be to basically take that value and multiply it by that number and it would change, you know, by inflation for example over the years, but it would give you a very -- a pretty reasonable estimate of that dollar value.

MS. GRICE:  Would you be able to provide that reference at the break?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, absolutely.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, that's great.  Just one last question on this before we move on.

Does Enbridge build in a vacancy assumption for its compensation budget for 2023-2027?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, there would effectively be a vacancy component built into that.

MS. GRICE:  Do you know what that is in terms of a percentage?

MR. JOHNSON:  I don't have a -- I don't have it as a percentage.  I think it works out to like -- I mean, I could quickly do the math, you know, sort of three or four -- we would typically assume we have sort of three or four vacancies, call it three to five vacancies per year.  As you can see, that's been quite a bit higher over the past few years for various reasons.  But that is what we would have baked in.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  That's good.  Thank you.

My next question is on I.10.9.EGI.VECC.14.   And in this interrogatory, we asked Enbridge to complete this table and you provided -- you completed the table in the response.  Just going through this and looking at the change in the numbers, it occurred to VECC it would be helpful if you could provide the data for 2021 actuals and the 2022 forecast.  If you could just add those two columns into this table, it would be much appreciated.

MR. JOHNSON:  It hasn't come up, and I missed the reference.

MR. JOHNSON:  Go ahead, Jeff, if you have it up.

MR. HODGINS:  Miss Grice, you said the 2021 actuals?

MS. GRICE:  Yes.

MR. HODGINS:  So the 2021 actuals we have been asked about results a couple of times.  They're not finalized results.  But we could provide them.

MS. GRICE:  That was the first ask, and the second one is your latest 2022 forecast.

MR. HODGINS:  2022 forecast.  Yes, we can provide that.

MR. FERNANDES:  Miss Grice, how is that relevant?  Because it is a mid-year forecast.  I mean --


MS. GRICE:  It is just to see the change between 2020 and 2023 before the new DSM starts.

MR. FERNANDES:  But that is going to change every month.  So it's not accurate.

MS. GRICE:  Sorry.  Would 2021 be accurate?

MR. HODGINS:  2021 would be the unaudited results.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.

MR. JOHNSON:  I would even clarify unfinalized; we still haven't finalized those values yet.

MS. GRICE:  Could we get 2021, please?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Ms. Grice, perhaps for the court reporter's benefit, if you could just summarize exactly what you are asking for now.

MS. GRICE:  Yes.  I am just asking for the table in response to I.10a EGI.VECC 14, to be updated to include a column that shows 2021 actuals, with the caveats that have been described.

MR. MURRAY:  And Enbridge is prepared to do that?  I just want to confirm.

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  That is JT2.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.12:  WITH REFERENCE TO THE TABLE IN RESPONSE TO I.10A EGI.VECC 14, TO BE UPDATED TO INCLUDE A COLUMN THAT SHOWS 2021 ACTUALS, WITH THE CAVEATS THAT HAVE BEEN DESCRIBED.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  I have one last question related to VECC IRs, if we can please go to Exhibit I.10b.EGI.VECC 24.

In this interrogatory, we asked for a similar table to be filled out for the low-income offering.  And in the response, there were lots of references to other areas of interrogatory responses that would fill in the table.

And I have no problem, except when I got to the fourth line down where it says:  "For the 2023 average participant incentive, see the response to Exhibit 1.5 EGI.GEC.7."


I just had trouble pulling the data from that response and I thought it might just be easier and faster if Enbridge would agree to just fill in that information in the table.  So it would be the 2023 average participant incentive dollar value for the home winter proofing program and the affordable housing program.

MR. HODGINS:  Are you just looking for that value then?

MS. GRICE:  Yes.

MR. HODGINS:  The average incentive value for 2023 for home winter proofing and affordable housing multi-res?

MS. GRICE:  Correct.

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.  We can do that.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT2.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.13:  WITH REFERENCE TO EXHIBIT I.10B.EGI.VECC 24, TO PROVIDE THE DATA IN THE TABLE REGARDING THE 2023 AVERAGE PARTICIPANT INCENTIVE DOLLAR VALUE FOR THE HOME WINTER PROOFING PROGRAM AND THE AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAM.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you very much.  I have one last quick question.  If we can please go to Exhibit 1.5, EGI LIEN 2, I am just interested in part F of that response.

It says here -- the question was what research has Enbridge Gas conducted specific to the Ontario low-income segment, or any other jurisdictions -- pardon me, jurisdictional research to justify the amount of up front cost of low-income participants should pay for a particular measure or service, and the question was to provide this research.

And when I look in the response, I don't believe it is captured here.  I believe if you go to the next page that part G is under part F, and part F was not responded to.

MR. HODGINS:  Sorry, I just wanted to read this for a second.

MS. GRICE:  Sure, sure.

MR. HODGINS:  Okay.  So you would like us to provide an answer to that, then?

MS. GRICE:  If you could, please.

MR. HODGINS:  I think I know the answer, but I will agree to take it as an undertaking.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Appreciated.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT2.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.14:  TO PROVIDE A RESPONSE TO EXHIBIT 1.5, EGI LIEN 2, PART F.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Miss Grice.  Next I would like to go to LIEN.
Examination by Ms. Vallani:


MS. VALLANI:  Good afternoon, everyone.  This is Ms. Vallani for LIEN.  I am having trouble with my mic.  Can everyone hear me okay?

MR. FERNANDES:  We can.

MS. VALLANI:  Okay, great, thank you.  So all of my questions pertain to Exhibit I, issue 5.  So hopefully that makes things easy enough.

The first question pertains to LIEN 1.  In response to LIEN's interrogatory 1 about budget reallocation between DSM programs, Enbridge provided two tables.

These are showing the dollar transfer amounts from low-income programs to other programs and vice versa, and the net transfer end points from the years 2015 to 2020, but not for the year 2021.

Could you please advise when transfer amounts and end points data will be available for 2021?

MR. JOHNSON:  So again, as we have talked about a few times, that's something that we usually don't finalize until towards the end of March.

MS. VALLANI:  Okay.  And was there an undertaking to provide this data at a later point?

MR. JOHNSON:  So there's been various undertakings to provide specific components of it, of the 2021 data.  If you are asking for this component -- is that your request?

MS. VALLANI:  Yes, please.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  So it is to add 2021 to table 1 and 2.

MS. VALLANI:  Okay.  My next question --


MR. MURRAY:  Sorry I just want to confirm is Enbridge giving an undertaking?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  Confirmed.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  So that will be JT2.15.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.15:  WITH REFERENCE TO LIEN 1, TO ADD 2021 TO TABLE 1 AND 2 OF THE 2021 DATA.

  Thank you.  And my next question pertains to LIEN 4, and in particular to question B.

So other than Enbridge's annual DSM stakeholder meetings, we understand from Enbridge's interrogatory response that Enbridge plans -- Enbridge plans to collect feedback from contractors, community partners, service organizations and Indigenous groups and other stakeholders leading up to, and to inform Enbridge's mid-point assessment of its DSM programs.

Can you expand a bit of how Enbridge will collect feedback from stakeholders outside of the annual DSM stakeholder meetings?

MR. HODGINS:  Well, from a stakeholder perspective, I would characterize we have ongoing discussions with key stakeholders such as delivery agents or service organizations that deliver our programs.

I would also say that we have ongoing feedback from customers, from participant surveys.  So that would be more of an ongoing basis than a particular session.  But I will say that we're committed to having ongoing, you know, stakeholder feedback sessions as well. So as they're required or on a regular basis outside of just the annual DSM stakeholder event.

MS. VALLANI:  Okay, thank you.  Lastly, my question pertains to Issue 5, LIEN 5.  And particularly to question C, Enbridge respond that it did not consider the customer growth rate by sector when the three percent policy growth escalator was developed.

Can you expand a bit and elaborate on why Enbridge did not look at the growth rate by sector?


MR. FERNANDES:  Our customer growth did not factor into the growth rate.  It was a response to both the government policy that talked about gradual increases in the program budgets, and as well as the OEB direction for modest increases in the program budgets, in the DSM letter.  There was no references to customer growth rates.

I would note that I believe our customer growth rates are much lower than what was proposed, though.

MS. VALLANI:  Okay.  Thank you very much for clarifying that.  Those are all of my questions.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much.  Next I am going to hand it over to Dr. Higgin with Energy Probe.
Examination by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, thank you.  My questions will be starting with some of the exhibits that I listed.  The first one of thighs, Ms. Adams, is Exhibit 10.EGI.EP.15.

So in this question we asked quite a number of questions, mostly around the water heater segment, but then as you will see below, we were directed to go to the exhibits --


MR. JOHNSON:  If you are still speaking, Dr. Higgin, I can't hear you.

MR. HODGINS:  I lost you too.

MR. MURRAY:  It looks as though Dr. Higgin is frozen.

MS. WALTER:  Dr. Higgin, can you hear us?  If you are having an issue, maybe you can leave the Zoom meeting and then rejoin.

MR. FERNANDES:  Or may I suggest turning your video off, Dr. Higgin, that may help with your bandwidth.

MS. WALTER:  I still don't hear anything.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps what I might suggest is, Mr. Shepherd, if you are on the line perhaps we will go to School Energy Coalition now and come back to Dr. Higgin after School Energy Coalition.
Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine with me I was just actually having a computer malfunction myself, but it appears to be resolved through the age-old technical solution of rebooting.

My questions are actually mostly follow-ups to questions you've had, discussions you have had with other people.  The first one is, you had a discussion yesterday with Mr. Elson -- the transcript reference is 119 and 120 but I don't think you need to turn it up -- about the Canada Greener Homes Program and the possibility of using your Open Bill program to finance it.

Am I right that the Open Bill program is not a financing mechanism?  It is a collection mechanism?  Is that right?

MR. FERNANDES:  Yes, I believe you are correct, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you charge for that, right?

MR. FERNANDES:  I don't think anyone on the panel here knows the specific details of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Has CMHC or NRCan -- I understand NRCan is actually going to administer the Greener Homes Program, right?  Both the loan side and the grant side.  You might deliver it and CMHC might manage the loans, bur the actual administration is going to be done by NRCan.  Is that right?

MR. FERNANDES:  I don't think we can speak to what NRCan's doing with respect to any kind of loan program because we're not part of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, no you were asked about the $40,000 loans yesterday.

MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  And I think there was a couple of times where both myself and the other party misspoke and said NRCan, where we corrected ourselves and said CMHC.  Because as far as we understand it is CMHC that is offering the program.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your negotiations, though, are to deliver the grant program, right?  Or is it also the loan program?

MR. FERNANDES:  It's to deliver the grant program.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And you haven't had any discussions with them, they haven't asked you whether you can operate as a collection mechanism for the payments?

MR. FERNANDES:  Are you referring to NRCan?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, NRCan or CMHC.  In your discussions have they said to you, by the way in addition to delivering can you also collect the payments from the customers?

MR. FERNANDES:  With respect to NRCan, I can say that has not happened.

We may need to confer, because I don't know if the other panel members are aware of any discussion with CMHC, but I am not.  Can we have a quick breakout?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I would rather not spend the time.  I think that is -- it's not an important point.  I just wanted to make sure this is not a terribly live issue.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So my next one is you had a discussion with Ms. Girvan yesterday about the residential budget, and how much it could be increased through the two primary mechanisms, the DSMVA, which are the overspend which goes through the DSMVA, and the 30 percent reallocation.

And I am right in understanding the discussion to be that basically you can increase the residential budget by about 45 percent with those two mechanisms.  You don't have to, but you can.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah, I think the question is is that a possibility, and the answer is, that's absolutely a possibility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in the case of Enbridge, the rate class involved is rate 1 and it is all residential customers, right?  You can't be in rate one unless you are residential, right?

MR. FERNANDES:  That's my understanding, Mr. Shepherd.  Just the caveat we don't have rate experts on the panel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not going to ask you really hard rate questions.  But it is true that in Union, both north and south, the general service class M1 and 01 include not just residential, but all small volume customers, right?

MR. FERNANDES:  My understanding is that those rate classes are not categorized by the residential or commercial sector.  They're just driven purely by volumetric annual through-put -- but again, subject to check.  But I think what you are saying is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had a discussion with Ms. Seers a few minutes ago talking about small business customers, and small business customers in the Union territory are generally in M1 and 01, right?  The ones she is talking about are in M1 and 01.

MR. FERNANDES:  I believe that is the case.  It depends on how you define small business clearly, so it could go into some of the other rate classes presumably.  But for illustrative purposes, I think that is correct.  So you can continue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  When you collect your DSM costs, you collect them from everybody in the class by volume, right?  It is actually on the basis of cubic meters, right?

MR. FERNANDES:  I would have to double-check that.  I'm not sure if that holds across all rate classes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am just talking about M1 and 01.

MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  I think if it is general service I believe that to be correct, subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that means that the small business customers are paying for the residential program, just the same as the residential customers are, right?

MR. FERNANDES:  And conversely the residential customers are paying for the commercial programs as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the smaller ones.  Not the bigger ones, but the smaller ones, right?

MR. FERNANDES:  And that is a consequence of the fundamental rate design.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And have you looked at whether the -- whether you could recover the costs associated with the residential programs just from residential customers in the Union territories?

MR. FERNANDES:  No, we did not look at that for the purposes of this plan application.

That would require rate restructuring, which is not part of this proceeding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So from your point of view, whatever is happening on rebasing, when presumably there will be some sort of harmonization, that deal is not really your problem right now.

MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.  I mean we're asking for a budget portfolio to provide the services, and how that ultimately gets recovered through the rate structure can and may change over time.  But it's not really part of what is being proposed here.  It is not a rate structure proceeding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, as I --


MR. OLEARY:  Mr. Shepherd, if I might?  Excuse me.  You have not identified an interrogatory response that was asked that relates to this line of questioning.  I am just curious as to how this is going to clarify any of the responses given by the company, and what it is your intentions are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am following up questions by other people that were answered by your witnesses.  I am allowed to do that.

MR. OLEARY:  It sounds like a lot more like cross-examination, if I may respectfully --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I am not intending to.  I am just trying to understand.  I am just trying to understand.

Ms. Girvan talked about how much you could increase the residential budget, and what I want to ask about is whether one of the consequences of that is that the customers -- and Schools, by the way, are one of them -- that are not going to benefit from those residential programs end up picking a big chunk of that reallocation.  That's right, isn't it?

MR. FERNANDES:  So I think, number one, the structure that the company proposed breaking it into sector-based scorecards was specifically intended to address some of the stakeholder concerns that we heard previously with respect to this very issue, Mr. Shepherd.

So if we compare and contrast to the current framework that's been approved by the Board, the framework flexibility that we're proposing and the scorecard structure actually provides a disincentive for the company to do that in the future, and it puts more guard rails up for what you are talking about.  So the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just top you there.  You're talking about the reallocation.  You had guard rails that sort of make reallocation less attractive?

MR. FERNANDES:  Well, there's the shareholder incentive component that would make it less attractive, because if we pull it from one scorecard you clearly can't earn as much on that scorecard.

But previously in the framework, we had all of the sectors amalgamated in a single RA scorecard and there were no restrictions from reallocation within the scorecard.

So now there are, because the 30 percent applied between different scorecards and we have defined the scorecards as at the sector level.  So we've intentionally proposed something that is more restrictive than the current framework in order to address the type of concern that you are speaking to.

The conversation with Ms. Girvan from yesterday was talking about what's the theoretical maximum with what we're proposing.  So I think we have been pretty clear on what that is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you have said it is -- my math says 64 million in residential is the theoretical maximum, plus whatever incentive there is, because that's also allocated on the same basis, right, on the basis of budget?  On the basis of spend.  Sorry.

MR. FERNANDES:  So you are speaking again to the theoretical maximum which, you know, even in the previous framework which had more flexibility by the structure of the scorecards, we never -- we haven't done that historically and we wouldn't expect to do that going forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that's part of that reputational thing you were talking about earlier, that your customers would not be happy if suddenly you were spending all of your money in one area and they weren't -- DSM wasn't available to the others, right?

MR. FERNANDES:  And what we have proposed in terms of a scorecard structure would have a number of items that would disincent the company from doing that and the particular scorecard structure and how we provide it, the weightings provides a number of counterbalancing items for, you know, looking at that from the OEB's point of view is that that incentive structure is supposed to guide our behavior in an incentive mechanism.

So I think we would follow the direction from the Board that's embedded in that governance structure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good, okay.  So you also had a discussion, I think it was earlier today -- I am just trying to find my reference -- with Mr. Wasylyk about fixing the method of calculating of evaluating your results, right?  Do you recall that?

MR. JOHNSON:  I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I understand that about 60 percent of your M3 savings are in C&I customers, in that range.

MR. JOHNSON:  I will take your word for it.  I don't have that in front of me, but if you say so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that is mostly calculated using a software program called Etools, is that right?

MR. JOHNSON:  That I don't think is correct.  So Etools is one of the tools that we used to calculate results for our C&I results, primarily commercial and certain subsets of commercial.

From are other subsets of commercial that we use engineering calculations not part of Etools and most of industrial, I think, would use -- Mr. Grochmal might have better information than I there -- would use, you know, stands alone calculations as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, industrial would use Etools for boilers?

MR. JOHNSON:  It would depend.  Etools is -- sorry, Mr. Grochmal, if you want to answer that.

MR. GROCHMAL:  I am just saying not necessarily.  We have a set of calculators for industrial that we rely on and I think we also rely on for savings calculations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason I ask that is because you are proposing to sort of set in stone the methodology, if you like, but you would agree that Etools at least has been -- its accuracy now been called into question by a report that hasn't yet been made public, but it's not a secret.  You know about it, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah, I guess I am confused on and maybe it requires a bit of clarity in terms of our definition of gross measurement and what can or can't be debated as a part of gross measurement.

So perhaps providing some of that clarity would answer -- because I think your question doesn't align with my understanding or what we're presenting in terms of gross measurement, which is when you have custom calculations, that is absolutely subject to impact evaluation like CPSC.

So for example, E-tools, it is a calculator.  It is a calculator we used over and over again but still a calculator.  If someone said we disagree with the method of calculation here, we would view that as completely open to review as part of gross measurement.  In other words, all custom effectively would be open to review as part of impact evaluation for gross measurement.

Where we're referring to it is where we have a, where we've outlined, you know, a specific tool where you can only use -- again, I will go back to residential as the best example I can think of -- where we are using this one tool.  We are not saying customers, again, we're using this one specific tool to calculate the results.

I would view -- I was going to say all C&I.  Let me correct myself:  all C&I custom as open to review.  Does that answer your question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are saying that your gross measurement proposal is limited to prescriptive measures, number one?


MR. JOHNSON:  Again, residential is not an example of that.  Residential is a specific, it's not a prescriptive calculation.  Right?  We're proposing a very specific calculation methodology for that, for that program.  Or offer I should say.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  That is very helpful.  Thank you.

The next thing I wanted to ask is, this is SEC 24.  It is I.5.EGI.SEC.24.

We were asking about capital assets, and you said well, no, if you use capital assets in the DSM group, they're not included in the DSM budget.

Do we have a number for how much fully allocated DSM costs are not in the DSM budget?

MR. FERNANDES:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, you are bringing in two quite different items in there.

I think one is a capital asset question, and earlier I think I responded and said we're not proposing to have any capital assets.  If we were to propose to have capital assets we would, you know, rate-base them under you know, standard assumptions and they includes that within the budget envelope we're proposing.  We just haven't done that.  We're not saying it couldn't happen it just hasn't happened.  But.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not what this says.

MR. FERNANDES:  And that is one thing, which is capital assets.  But you are asking about fully allocated costs.  Can you clarify that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, sure.  So you have 169 people, 169 FTEs, sorry, in the group.  And so that would typically, the overheads, the allocation of common costs, office space, desks and furniture and IT and all of those sort of things, typically it is about, give or take, let's say $35,000 a person.  So that would be like five or six million dollars a year.

And I take it what you are saying -- maybe I am just misunderstanding this interrogatory, and that is why I am asking the question.  I take it what you are saying is that five or six million dollars a year that you need to spend for those 169 people is not part of your DSM budget.  Is that what this is saying?

MR. FERNANDES:  Sorry, I think we misinterpreted the question, then.  If you are asking about, what's included in the DSM budget, it is salaries.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So --


MR. FERNANDES:  And this is a historical from both the legacy utilities, that the overhead costs that you are talking about are actually included in base utility rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do we have a number for how much that is?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Johnson, do you want to have a quick discussion?

MR. JOHNSON:  Sure.  Sounds good.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. WALTER:  In the meantime, Dr. Higgin, are you back on the line?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  If you can hear me?  Can you hear me?

MS. WALTER:  Yes.  We can hear you.

DR. HIGGIN:  That's good.  I think I fixed the sound and I think the video is okay.  So let's hope we're okay.

MS. WALTER:  Okay, sounds good.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Cherida, I have about -- I am going to say ten minutes left.

MS. WALTER:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am giving you back some time.

MS. WALTER:  Oh, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD: Not including this breakout.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay, I think we are back.  So, Mr. Shepherd, we don't have an actual number on that right now, but I do want to note that historically the legacy utilities did do this in a similar fashion.  So we are more or less having our first amalgamated proceeding here.  So we had to make choices on how to present things.

And as you have noted, it is consistent with historical practices that we've chosen to do this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not complaining about it, Mr. Fernandes.  I am just saying -- I just want to see what the total cost of the DSM is, and you have -- maybe I am wrong on this, but I am pretty sure that you have standard overhead up-lifts that you use in calculating the cost of employees.  So with these 169 employees, you should be able to give an estimate of the overheads that are in base rates, assets and some of the capital.

MR. FERNANDES:  What I was going to ask is, what kind of a breakdown are you looking for, for it to be expeditious.  Are you really looking for, I think we have two broad categories, because one would be more difficult to -- sorry, additional breakdowns would be rather difficult to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking for breakdowns because I know that is difficult, but the 35,000 number I threw out, I think, is one of the numbers that you have internally, or it was at one time.  So is it possible for you to undertake to give us an estimate of the costs that are allocatable to DSM on a fully allocated basis, that are actually in base rates?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be wonderful.

MR. FERNANDES:  It will be a fairly high level estimate on a best efforts basis but we will certainly be able to do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's cool.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be an undertaking JT2.16.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.16:  TO PROVIDE AN ESTIMATE OF THE COSTS THAT ARE ALLOCATABLE TO DSM ON A FULLY ALLOCATED BASIS, THAT ARE ACTUALLY IN BASE RATES

MR. SHEPHERD:  My next question is, you had a discussion yesterday with Mr. Brophy about the jurisdictional research you were doing in 2020 and 2021 that led you to eventually retain First Tracks -- First Tracks, is that their name?

And I am not actually concerned with the retainer and stuff, but there was a lot of research done over the last few years.

My question is a simple one.  Are there any studies related to, or research related to amortization of DSM costs that you have that are not on the record?

MR. FERNANDES:  We've put everything on the record that we think we can reasonably -- I mean, some of it was conversation with other utilities.  In terms of actual documents that can be produced, we were asked that question and we provided everything.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I understood what you said was, we provided everything that was relevant to our plan.

MR. FERNANDES:  So I think the conversation, or at least my interpretation of it when we were talking was broader than simply amortization.

So we do continually do jurisdictional research and some of it is, you know, conversational-based, desktop searches.

We have a ton of information that isn't necessarily on the record, and that was intentional because it is not necessarily part of what went into the plan and that's normal course of business.

I did state that what was relevant to amortization we put on the record.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have no reports, or studies, or anything like that relating to amortization that are not on the record right now, am I right?

MR. FERNANDES:  That is absolutely my understanding.  I mean, we have been in this business for multiple decades, Mr. Shepherd, so there's clearly some caveats around that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you haven't like memorized all of the reports?  Come on.

Okay.  I have a couple of more questions.  The first relates to -- you had a discussion this morning about electrification of heating.  And I took it what you were saying was that you don't -- that your job doesn't include and the OEB doesn't want you to include, in fact, delivering programs that get people entirely off gas, that completely electrify and remove their gas connection.  Your job is not to deal with non-customers, right?

MR. FERNANDES:  The policy is actually explicitly mentioned both from the ministry's joint letter and the OEB direction, that it is for gas customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the deal you are talking about with Canada Greener Homes would include non-customers, right?

MR. FERNANDES:  That is absolutely the case, Mr. Shepherd, but let's be clear.  The funding would be from a different source.  So we are not asking for any funding from the OEB for things that don't go back to gas ratepayers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so the point of it is that if the gas ratepayers are paying for something, it should be to deliver programs to gas ratepayers?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think that's pretty explicit in the direction we have been given.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  My last question is -- you had a discussion with Mr. Poch yesterday about DSM and IRP.  I understand they're different, believe me.  I spent way too much time looking at IRP.

But am I right that you have an IRP department and, in fact, those people report to the director of DSM?  Is that correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  Partially correct.  There is an area that, based on the OEB decision in the IRP framework proceeding that has been set up, it does not report to the director of conservation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But there are people who are part of the IRP department who do report to the director of conservation?

MR. FERNANDES:  No, sorry.  Sorry.  There are people that are expected to be allocated through IRP that report through the director of conservation.  At this point in time, there is one in total.  And you know, that is not an issue in this proceeding because none of the costs are proposed in the budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yes, but that was my next question.  Are any of the people who are working on IRP right now, are they funded by the DSM budget today?

MR. FERNANDES:  So, no.  I mean right now, this is still very early days so IRP is evolving.

So there is a single FTE that reports through myself that is going to be allocated to IRP.  So those costs will be covered, but it is a full time equivalent.

So that may get adjusted over time as IRP unfolds and we know what the actual demands are, but it's not recovered through DSM at all.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, sorry, did I understand you correctly that that person -- I think we both know who it is actually -- that person is currently in the DSM budget, but that's transitioning over to the IRP budget and you are going to back it out.  Is that right?

MR. FERNANDES:  No, that's not correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I misunderstood you.

MR. FERNANDES:  So there's a -- there's where the budget comes from and where the reporting structure is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. FERNANDES:  So they're not included in the budget.  They're not currently being recovered by -- through DSM, but there is an individual that reports through the structure where all of their salary costs are allocated to IRP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  And IRP and DSM report up to the same senior management.  Right?

MR. FERNANDES:  Same PP, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just check to make sure I didn't miss anything, I don't think I did, but --


And okay, I think we are good.  Thank you very much.  I appreciate it.

MR. MURRAY:  Dr. Higgin, over to you.
Examination by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  I hope my audio is working.  Can you hear me?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Very good.  Sorry about that glitch.  So can we go back to the starting point, which is Exhibit I.10.EGI.EP.15.  Ms. Adams, thank you.  I had a follow-up question.  I just wanted to be clear what you are going to provide to miss -- heavens, Ms. Shelley Grice, yes, sorry, on the question of the Whole Home Program and the two --


[Technical interruption]


MR. FERNANDES:  Dr. Higgin, we have lost your audio, So can I suggest maybe you try turning off your video.

MS. WALTER:  Maybe he can leave the zoom and re-enter.

DR. HIGGIN:  Resume and enter, okay.  I will try.

MR. JOHNSON:  Perhaps while he is doing that, just to make use of time, I committed to after the break but I was able to do it sort of off the side here to provide Ms. Grice with an answer to sort of the average compensation for value to use when calculating the dollar value for the FTEs.

So it is at the bottom of our response to EP 4 -- I apologize I should have had the issue number.  Give me a second here.  Issue 6, EP 4, attachment 1.  At not quite at the bottom, but in that bottom section of combined, the second row average cost FTE, that would probably be the best proxy to use, to just multiply that by the number of FTEs in -- I think it was VECC 9 you were referring to.  Hopefully that helps to save us a few minutes when we come back from the break.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you very much.

MR. JOHNSON:  Certainly.

MS. WALTER:  Sorry, I do believe that Dr. Higgin is back.  So maybe, Dr. Higgin, maybe it would work better if you keep the camera off.  We can hear you clearly when the camera is off.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, I'll do that.  Let's go back again to this exhibit.  My question was simply a follow-up to what Ms. Grice was going to -- had asked you.

Would that response include both the number of participants by each part of the program?  Or would it only be the total participants for the Whole Home program?  In other words, did you have -- were you going to give a breakdown that would show the breakdown of participants and incentives for each of the components?

MR. JOHNSON:  So Mr. Hodgins, if you are aware of the question then I will leave it to you.

MR. HODGINS:  No, I am not aware.

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, Dr. Higgin, could you remind us of what the question was?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  We had a lot of questions.

DR. HIGGIN:  I can ask you my question, but I any it is has already been answered, that is the problem, okay.

I was going to ask you to provide the 2021 results and to do so by measure for the Whole Home Program, including the participants for each and also the incentives for each as well as the totals.

That is what I was going to ask you, but I believe that Ms. Grice asked for something which I think is the same.

MR. JOHNSON:  Again perhaps you do Mr. Hodgins, I don't recall that.  That sounds quite detailed, what you are asking for.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  Okay, so I will be then asking about whether you can provide that, which is looking at -- let's go down to ED 22, which I am going to go to now, and then let's look at the table in the question, in ED 22.  There we are.

What I am looking for here is to understand what the results have been using that table -- let's go back up to the table -- according to the measures for 2021.

MR. HODGINS:  So how many people received a rebate for each of those measures?  Like our participants?

DR. HIGGIN:  That would be the participants.  And then the amount of the rebates.  And then the totals.

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.  It may have to be average rebates.

DR. HIGGIN:  Oh, yes, that's fine.

MR. HODGINS:  So the number of participants for 2021, with the average rebates for each of these incentives?

DR. HIGGIN:  That's right.

MR. HODGINS:  Okay, I think we can do that.  It will be, once again, we've had a number of people request 2021 results so those will be unfinalized.

MR. JOHNSON:  Not audited and not final.

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  A couple of distinctions in there.

I also am getting a bit hesitant in terms of -- I will just clarify on a best efforts basis since we are getting a lot of these 2021 asks.

MR. HODGINS:  I would say that to, best efforts of what we can provide.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  That would be very helpful.  Just to give you some context.  So we are quite concerned --


MR. MURRAY:  Dr. Higgin, before we move on perhaps I should give this a number.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, please.

MR. MURRAY:  It will be JT2.17.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.17:  WITH REFERENCE TO THE TABLE IN ED 22, TO ADVISE THE PARTICIPANTS, THE AVERAGE REBATES, AND THE TOTALS FOR 2021, UNAUDITED AND NOT FINAL DATA.


DR. HIGGIN:  So just as context, we're quite concerned about some elements of the Whole Home Program.  I will go into a few of those in a minute, and that's why we're asking for this historic information at a measure level.

So we have some concerns about some of the measures.  And that's where I'm going to go now.  So we could keep that table up there and I will only be able to ask you for a few of the measures.  The first question is around the measure for attic insulation, okay.  That goes to the proposed measures.

And the question is first of all, is it the home owner or is it the EGI registered energy auditor or an insulation contractor that decides how much insulation there is now and whether the other requirements such as vapour barrier ventilation is there?  Who does that?

MR. HODGINS:  My understanding it is the auditor.

DR. HIGGIN:  The registered auditor, okay.

Now, the threshold is R35 and the ceiling, pardon the pun, is R60.

If it is R20, who pays for up to R35?  And if it is already R40, is the incentive reduced?  And who checks at the end whether the contractor puts in more or less insulation?

MR. HODGINS:  The auditor does a post-audit.  So they do the verification of what has been done.

Can you repeat what you are asking?  I don't think I can answer that, your question about who pays for what.  I would have to take that away.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  I am trying to get at, yes, who pays if you go in and they look at it and it's less than R35, which is the threshold.  Who pays?

MR. HODGINS:  Well, the home owner would pay -- oh, you mean the first one here, if it is less than 35?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. HODGINS:  Well, the home owner would pay to get it to R60, and we would give a rebate of $650.

DR. HIGGIN:  Even though it was at say R20, they still will get the benefit of the whole incentive?

MR. HODGINS:  Well, that would be my understanding, but...

MR. JOHNSON:  Dr. Higgin perhaps just to help, I know the devil is in the details here, but if you read, it's "increase insulation from R35 or less"; does that help clarify for you?

DR. HIGGIN:  That helps.  Now the first thing is you just said who checks if the contractor put in more or less insulation.  I can tell you that after mine was done, okay, nobody put their head up into the attic.  Nobody.

MR. FERNANDES:  Dr. Higgin, do you have a question?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  Are you very sure that the second check is being done properly, rather than the registered energy auditor just taking the contractor's say-so and bill?


MR. HODGINS:  Well, I personally cannot speak to the process, but it is all done through a certified NRCan-trained energy auditor.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  That is good enough for that one.  Next one is basement insulation.

And so the first question is how do you determine the existing levels of basement insulation, and specifically, is it only the exposed walls?  And then the second question is, why is a 20 percent base line a minimum?

MR. HODGINS:  I'm sorry, I don't have that level of detail to speak to.

DR. HIGGIN:  I am trying to relate the incentive, which is to say that 20 percent only is the threshold.  So what is the basis of saying, if it's less than 20 percent or more, what is the basis of the 20 percent incentive minimum?  That's all.


MR. JOHNSON:  Mr. Hodgins, do you want to have a quick chat about this?


MR. HODGINS:  Sure.

DR. HIGGIN:  I have one more question before you go on this one.  And that is, why is R23 appropriate?  So I would like you to confirm the code levels for the GTA zone only.  And also is that level also the same for the lower four feet of the wall?  What does the code say?

I am making sure here that the program is paying for the right amount for the right insulation.  That is why I am asking the questions.  Thank you.

MR. HODGINS:  Okay.  Yes, can we have a quick break out?

MR. JOHNSON:  Thank you.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. HODGINS:  Sorry, I was on mute.  Can we just go back to clarify what you are looking for from the perspective of how the R values are set, specifically?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  So there were two issues.  One was about a baseline of 20 percent as a minimum, and I asked if that was only for exposed walls, because otherwise how would the auditor know.

But then the other was, is R23 appropriate, and for the code levels which are Toronto GTA zone?  And also is that standard the same for both the upper and lower part of the wall.

MR. HODGINS:  So for those two pieces, I think we would be able to take that away, to confirm the 20 percent and the R23 is the appropriate codes level.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right, including whether that is for the whole wall or for -- maybe also it could be split as it used to be between the top four feet and the lower four feet.

MR. HODGINS:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

MR. FERNANDES:  Dr. Higgin, you are referring to the current code, right?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. FERNANDES:  Because the majority of the customers for this program would likely be buildings that were constructed under a previous code.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  But we're dealing here with the basement wall, and that was my first question.

I assume you can only insulate the part that the auditor can see.

MR. FERNANDES:  But my clarification was that if we provide information to today's code, most buildings that exist weren't constructed that way.

DR. HIGGIN:  Correct.  However, having done it, I will tell you that the homeowner has to frame the wall and has to have the specified foam insulation put in, and then be inspected by your energy auditor, okay.

I have done it, and I know exactly what is done.  Mine is an old home.

MR. MURRAY:  Dr. Higgins, can we perhaps for the record confirm again what the undertaking is, so I can give it the number JT2.19.

DR. HIGGIN:  I am asking them to do two things, to explain why a 20 percent baseline is a minimum.

Secondly, why is R23 specified in the table appropriate, to confirm the code levels and, also, whether that applies to the whole wall or is there a difference for the upper and lower four feet of the wall, because that is what the code used to be.

MR. MURRAY:  Enbridge, can you confirm you are going to do that?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes, we will confirm.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.18:  TO EXPLAIN WHY A 20 PERCENT BASELINE IS A MINIMUM (B) TO EXPLAY WHY R23 SPECIFIED IN THE TABLE IS APPROPRIATE; (C), TO CONFIRM CODE LEVELS; (d) TO CONFIRM WHETHER THAT APPLIES TO THE WHOLE WALL OR IS THERE A DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE UPPER AND LOWER FOUR FEET OF WALL

MR. FERNANDES:  One other piece, Dr. Higgin.  I think the basis of what you are asking for some of this clarity for was -- I believe you stated that that was to compare the value of the incentive within the program.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  I think all of these questions are related to value in the program.  Secondly, unfortunately I would have liked to have had a TRC done for every measure, but you have declined to do that on a per-measure basis.

So I can't look at the cost-benefit for each measure, okay.

MR. FERNANDES:  Dr. Higgin, that is where I would like to make sure that we provide the appropriate context on this line of inquiry, just to make sure we're setting the appropriate expectation.

So we have had the OEB in the past say they don't want to micro-manage us, and while all of this information is provided and we will openly be transparent about providing the information, what we're asking the Board to approve is the program including the fact and the known fact that we will make changes as time goes on.  We have made changes to this program in the previous framework and, you know, including changing incentive levels and we expect to do that going forward.

So we're not explicitly asking the Board to approve incentive levels.  We're in an incentive model.  So as things change over the course of the term, we will adjust the program as the program administrator.

So I just want to make sure that we have that context.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you for the context.  I would just reply as follows --


MR. MURRAY:  Dr. Higgin before we do that, it is Mr. Murray I just want to correct for the record I said JT2.19. It is actually JT2.18.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Just for the record, most jurisdictions do TRC at a measure level.  Okay.  Or a PAC, or some test to make sure that the measures are cost-effective.  You are doing it at a whole home level and that is a concern, which we will address in other places.  But that is why we're asking about measures.  Are each of these measures cost-effective?  Okay.

So I will just go to the next one and hopefully this will be quick.

I am looking at the exterior wall insulation, or building envelope.  Now, I would assume that in Enbridge's own legacy area, and even in Union's, a lot of the housing stock is quite old.  So this is a good idea to do this measure.  And we support it.

So our concerns are more in the detail.  First of all, I don't know whether you, when considering this measure, had any concept of what the cost to wrap a house to R20 was.  Do you have any idea what it would cost?

MR. HODGINS:  I don't.

MR. FERNANDES:  Can you clarify what you mean by "wrap a house"?


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  I did mine.  I have done mine, okay, so I speak from knowledge.  It cost me $45,000, including the stucco finish, and that was only, only up to the lower level of R9 here.  Okay?


So I am just saying this is a great measure, but it is extremely expensive, and that house could be there for 50 years, or not.  And so what I am saying to you, we are concerned that this measure, the incentives for it are way, way too low.  Okay.  And so that is the basis of why I am asking that.

The question is, will this be covered under the Greener Homes Canada Program and are you negotiating for extra incentives for building wrap?

MR. FERNANDES:  So Dr. Higgin, I don't think we can disclose our discussions.  They're in the process between two separate entities and one of them is thot here.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So then the next question is, why would the incentive not be on a per square foot basis for the three levels you have set out?


MR. HODGINS:  Well, I can't answer exactly why it was not set on a per-foot basis.  Incentive levels are set by the company in order to motivate action from customers, and so that is how we have set them.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, we understand the question and the answer.

In other jurisdictions, just to come back to this, it is usually done on a per square foot or square metre basis.

So I will leave that one and move on to the final one, you will be glad to here.  This is the incentive for the replacement of furnaces.  So basically what I am trying to understand, again, I would like to have a TRC for this measure for the replacement of furnaces.  We have quite a lot of concern about this particular measure and the incentive for it.

So in ED 22 part D, you do give some information in Part D to the response on the number of rebates that have been provided, and also you reference in here the study that you did.

Just take it -- because I am trying to keep time down -- that for now it appears from your survey, which is attached to this ED.22, that about 85 percent of furnaces are high efficiency, that is greater AFUE of 90 percent.

So do you agree with that statement or not?

MR. HODGINS:  I can't confirm that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, if we have to go and look at the percentages we will have to go to the attachment to ED.22 and to page 10.

MR. HODGINS:  So you are going to our survey, our end-use survey?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I am.

MR. HODGINS:  Okay.  So that is self-reported information.  So if a number there is, says the number that you quoted, that's fine.

What I would say, though, that is self-reported.  So it is not actually verified penetration level of an efficiency level of a furnace.

DR. HIGGIN:  So what do you use, then, to design this measure?  What is your base line?

MR. HODGINS:  Our base line is the current 95 percent AFUE.

DR. HIGGIN:  And you do not know how many furnaces have a better than 90 percent AFUE in the existing stock.  Is that right?

MR. HODGINS:  I don't believe we know.  We know, from the survey that you have quoted, what percentage people report that they have that are part of that survey.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So I will leave it there, just to know that we do not believe that continuing to rebate people who have to replace a furnace anyway is a measure that is cost-effective and $16 million was spent in those three years for rebates.  Basically we believe that is not a good thing.

So we will go back to that in the hearing.  So that was the purpose of the questions and thank you for your attention, and I appreciate your responses.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.  According to my schedule or Staff's schedule, that appears to be the end of the questioning of panel 1.

Panel one, we thank you very much for your attention and your answers, and we will take an 11-minute break and start with panel 2 and 3:05.

MR. JOHNSON:  Thank you.

MR. FERNANDES:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 2:55 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:06 p.m.

MR. MURRAY:  Welcome back, everyone, from the afternoon break.  We are moving on to panel number 2.  Mr. O'Leary, if I could ask you to introduce the panel.

MR. OLEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  The Enbridge panel number 2 consists of the principal of the Posterity Group, Mr. David Shipley, and I should note that his curriculum vitae was filed together with the expert's duty  form in the latter part of last week.

Mr. Shipley is available for clarification questions.
ENBRIDGE GAS INC. - PANEL 2

David Shipley


MR. SHIPLEY:  May I offer one point of clarification first?  I am not a principal of the company.  I am an employee.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Shipley.  With that, I will pass it over to Mr. Brophy.
Examination by Mr. Brophy:


MR. BROPHY:  That clarification changes all of my questions now.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Sorry.

MR. BROPHY:  I am just joking.  It is Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.  It is good to see you again, Mr. Shipley.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, you too.

MR. BROPHY:  You're looking well.  I had a few questions related to your work on the Enbridge evidence and in relation to the 2019 Achievable Potential Study.

So I might as well jump in.  I think I had only targeted fifteen minutes, so hopefully we can try to stick to that.

So the first one should be fairly simple.  What was your involvement in the development of the 2019 potential study?

MR. SHIPLEY:  I served on a panel of experts to provide some feedback on the study as it proceeded on different steps and methodological questions and review of some of the output of it.

MR. BROPHY:  That was across all of the sectors or just certain pieces?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Hmm-hmm, it was.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Across all of the sectors; great.  And so I understand ICF undertook that for the OEB and IESO and although you worked for ICF in the past, you weren't working for them at the time of the potential study.  Is that correct?

MR. SHIPLEY:  ICF did the study in 2016 and I was working for them then.  That was only a gas study.

The 2019 study was done by -- I think they were still called Navigant at the time, they have changed names since then, called Guidehouse now, I believe.  So I have never worked for them.

MR. BROPHY:  Oh, okay.  Okay.  So sorry the 2019 potential study was completed by which consultant?

MR. SHIPLEY:  As I say, I think they were called Navigant at that time, but they have changed their name to Guidehouse.  I could be wrong about the exact date of the name change.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  For some reason I thought it was ICF, but I could be wrong.

So then Navigant, or now Guidehouse, then, did they provide you a model in order to do your work for Enbridge?  Or did you try to -- or you developed your own model?

MR. SHIPLEY:  They provided us with outputs of their model and a selected set of inputs, and we were able to develop a model that behaved quite a bit like theirs, but not entirely like theirs.

MR. BROPHY:  I am not sure if you have had a chance to listen in during the technical conference at all, but on Monday, there was a bunch of questions on the Enbridge panel about the work you had done and they had suggested that, you know, you would be the person to answer some of them.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Okay.

MR. BROPHY:  On Monday, Enbridge indicated that they're having trouble understanding and reproducing some of the potential study assumptions and modelling in order to, you know, make it comparable.

Based on your work with Enbridge and knowing that you had done a previous version of a potential study modelling, how close do you think your modelling with Enbridge is in relation to the potential study?  Is it pretty close, or is it, you know, hugely different with big gaps?

MR. SHIPLEY:  It depends on the individual measure. We were trying to replicate the individual measure results and in some cases we were able to get really, really close to what they had.  And in other cases, we couldn't replicate it at all.

We don't know what goes on under the hood of Guidehouse's model, so we don't know why we weren't able to replicate the results.  But in some cases, we couldn't.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So is it fair to say that at an overall level, you know, there's decent alignment, but when you get down to the measure level, that is where some of the measures caused you trouble.  Is that fair?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, that's reasonable.  I mean, when you roll up all of the results, there are some divergences, but our purpose was really to try and understand the output of the Navigant or Guidehouse model to be able to provide information to Enbridge for the purpose of program development.

And so although we were trying to make a model that behaved as close to theirs as we could, the purpose of that really was to try and work out what the assumptions must be on a measure by measure basis to try, you know, to give those results.  What were they assuming to give those results so that we could understand what they had done.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And you mentioned the previous potential study work you had done some time ago was gas only.  This one is gas and electric.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Do you believe that Ontario is trying to do kind of comprehensive modelling?  It's better to combine it and do gas and electric.

MR. SHIPLEY:  I don't, actually.

MR. BROPHY:  Why not?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Good question.  I have looked at two studies that combined gas and electric into one, the British Columbia one and the Ontario one.

British Columbia -- they were both done by the same contractor actually, although maybe the name changed in between, I'm not sure.

And what we've seen in both cases is that the entity with the large budget drives the boat, and my observation in both cases was that the smaller utilities -- and in British Columbia, there were four involved -- the smaller the utility as a proportion of the overall project, the less applicable to their specific context the results were.

So I have real concerns about that.  I think if you -- my philosophy is if you want to do -- if you want to be able to operationalize the results of a conservation potential study, put them into practice and get them going in the field and get, you know, get things to happen, they have to be tailored to the entity that's going to then administer the programs.

And if you've got results that are really well suited to the electric side and not well suited to the gas side, it's harder for the gas utility to put the results into practice.

MR. BROPHY:  So I can understand, say, in a jurisdiction that has some mix of utilities including smaller ones that may not be representative of the broader results if there's bigger, larger funders in there.

In the Ontario context, you have really two big players, that's it, right.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  IESO on the electricity side there, and then, you know, Enbridge -- I think it is, you know, it is close to 100 percent, high 90s at the very least for the gas side.

So given that the OEB had funded out of ratepayers' funding a potential study, why duplicate it and have it now done again and spend that money twice?  Wouldn't it have been better to just have one model, and open source it and then everyone could use it?

MR. SHIPLEY:  You mean why did we try and develop a parallel model to the one that the OEB developed?

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah, rather than just trying to work with the OEB.  You know, you said you were on some of their committees and worked with them.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yeah.  It was quite difficult to use the output of their study, we found.  You know, the study was good for kind of ground truthing the overall potential and comparing that against previous experience and other estimates.  But one of the key purposes for me of a potential study is not just to identify how much potential there is, but where is it.  What sectors and sub sectors is it in. What types of buildings, what types of end uses, what types of measures are really important and to try to drill down into that type of information was very, very difficult, with the Guidehouse results.

So we were trying to essentially build a model to interpret their model in a way, by being able to replicate the results that their model produced.  We could then go into our model and say, well in order to get it to give that answer, we had to do this to this measure and then we could understand what was going on under the hood of it better.  We didn't spend anywhere near the money that they spent to do the study.  We were just trying to produce something that would give a pretty good interpretation.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  I'm sorry I have a bit of background noise here but, so if the OEB or Enbridge took the approach of an open source model where everybody could just use it, propose adjustments if they thought something needed to be adjusted and use the same, wouldn't that be better?

MR. SHIPLEY:  It sounds like a good idea.  Certainly in studies that I've done with Posterity Group and previous employers, we've tried to be more open about our model and to lift the hood and let intervenors play a role in guiding us, advising us on assumptions to make and so on.

I really like that approach.  I like to bring people into the table and consult them and I think we get better results that way.

Now, these models are very large.  So you can't -- I mean, we could make it open source.  We could give everyone the model to play with, but it is a steep learning curve to actually do the modelling itself, and so what we try and do instead, in order to consult people is we try and package the assumptions into manageable sort of accessible things that people can interact with so that they can give us advice, constructively, without having to look at millions and millions of numbers.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And so I understand you own your model, then, and Enbridge hired you to run it for scenarios for them.  Is that correct?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.  Posterity Group owns the model, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  So would there be any barriers to do an open sourcing of that or would you need Enbridge's approval for that?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Well, first of all, in order to actually run the model, people would have to buy a licence from us.

MR. BROPHY:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHIPLEY:  And they would require quite a bit of training.

In terms of using the output of the model, we would need Enbridge's permission, because our model is actually built at a level of detail that would allow you in some cases to look at the results of an individual customer, and that would violate the confidentiality of that customer.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So in the 2019 potential study, do you know, what was used for carbon pricing?  Do you know what that input was?

MR. SHIPLEY:  I don't remember what that was.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And do you know what it was, what it is in your model?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yeah.  We tried to replicate the pricing that was in the, in the Guidehouse model.  So we were backing out whatever numbers they were using.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. SHIPLEY:  But I don't remember how much of it was commodity cost and how much of it was carbon cost.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Yes.  You know, that those have changed over the last year or two, as far as information and assumptions.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Right.

MR. BROPHY:  So maybe would you be willing to undertake just to provide an answer on what is used in that model and if -- in your model.  And if it's in alignment with your understanding of what was used in the OEB potential study.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.  I could provide the year by year average cost per metre cubed that we assumed.

MR. BROPHY:  And what carbon pricing assumption is baked into that.  Is that okay?

MR. SHIPLEY:  I would suggest, just to be clear, what we were doing was calculating the cost per metre cubed that would give us the TRC results that Guidehouse was getting.  You know, so based on the costs of the various measures.  So we were basically backing out what number we think they were using in order to get the same TRC answer that they were getting.

So we don't know what component of it was carbon and what component of it was commodity.  You would have to go and look in the Guidehouse report and see if they provided that information.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So you know, if theirs was correct, then yours would be; and if theirs wasn't correct then the same thing, yours would not be.

MR. SHIPLEY:  That's true.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great, thank you.  Okay next question --


MR. MURRAY:  Can I clarify.  Are you asking for an undertaking there.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  Sorry about that, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you be clear as to exactly what you are asking for so the court reporter can write it down or put it down to paper.

MR. BROPHY:  These are the cost inputs, including the carbon price I think it was one bundled number.

MR. SHIPLEY:  One bundled number.

MR. BROPHY:  -- that was used in the Posterity model.  And whether -- well, that is it because he's already confirmed they used what was in the other model.

MR. OLEARY:  Is that something you are able to do, Mr. Shipley?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.  That's quite a quick thing to do.  It is just essentially a look-up.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  That will be Undertaking JT2.19, assuming that is being given.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.19:  TO ADVISE THE COST INPUTS, INCLUDING THE CARBON PRICE, USED IN THE POSTERITY MODEL


MR. OLEARY:  I believe it is, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  Let me just move on to the next question.  Okay.  So my understanding and obviously you know much more about this model than I do, is that both the Achievable Potential Study model, the OEB funded one and the Posterity one were built measure by measure across each sector.  Is that correct?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BROPHY:  So can you explain how things like behavioral based savings would be included in that model, if it's not a measure?


MR. SHIPLEY:  If it's not a measure, I know that there are -- there are behavioral components to how something like a programmable thermostat works, and Navigant or Guidehouse would have assumed a savings based on an assumed behavior that people would have with that kind of measure.

But I don't know that the details of how they would tease out what's the technology and what is the behavior. It comes as a package where there's -- both of those components are part of that same measure.  Difficult to separate.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  And actually using your example of the thermostat, you know, that does have a behavioral component.

MR. SHIPLEY:  That's right.

MR. BROPHY:  But jurisdictions use that typically as a prescriptive measure where it is all into one savings assumption and then that number likely would have been the number put in against that measure into the study.  That sounds right?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.  That sounds right to me.

MR. BROPHY:  So you know, when I -- I get when it is discrete technologies and you can link the behavioral based savings to that.  But I am thinking of you know, things like sub meeting suites in a condo where there's studies and the OEB has accepted these in the past, you know, I think it was 15 or 20 percent savings if you have your own meter and your own bill, occupant education programs like you know, we're going to hear from BOMA, those kind of things.

Even the municipal programs where there is a lot of education and outreach and other things that change people's behaviors, that kind of thing.  So it doesn't link to an actual measure itself.

So would those -- those would be external to the model, then, not put in if you don't have a measure number?

MR. SHIPLEY:  There were -- I am not aware that there was a sub metering of suites measure in the Guidehouse work.  I didn't see one.

I can tell you that there was energy, energy reports measure for residential, and there was a similar kind of behavioral program measure addressing commercial.

And in fact in our evidence, we talked about those measures because they were -- although they were there, their behavior in the Guidehouse model was quite unusual.  In both cases they offered a modest amount of savings, but the amount of spending associated with them grew to quite gigantic levels by the end of the study period.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, yeah, I heard that you're not sure about the submetering, but that was an example.  If there were things that weren't in the model, then those would be incremental to the results from that study, I assume.

MR. SHIPLEY:  I suppose.  I would imagine that submetering for suites wasn't included because in many apartment buildings and condo buildings, the gas is metered at the general building level and not the individual suite level, whereas for electric utilities, they generally meter to the suite.

So it would be a much more expensive proposition to do sub metering for gas at the suites because then you would have to put meters all over the building and they don't currently have them.

There would also be an equity issue.  I don't know if you have thought about if you have a tall building with quite a bit of stack effect, the people living on the ground floors would be paying an enormous amount for gas and the people on the upper levels would pay nothing because the heat rises.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I also understand --


MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Brophy, it is Mr. Murray here.  You are already about 30 percent over your time for this witness.  I just want to do a time check.  We are already significantly down on time and we need to keep things moving forward.

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  I think I only have one or two more questions, so not too bad.

So you probably heard Enbridge talking about the Greener Homes Program earlier today.  That is one of the examples that they're looking to partner with.  They don't have the agreement in place, but it is hopefully coming.

How does the model consider things like those programs where you're partnering across entities to bring down the costs and to increase incentives?

So, you know, in that case, NRCan puts in money above and beyond what was considered in Ontario, Enbridge would put in theirs.  Other proponents might put their thing in.

So does that then increase what is economically potential then, because you are increasing the amount of funding available to potential participants.  Is that the way it works?

MR. SHIPLEY:  I am not aware that Guidehouse would have considered that at all in their work, and we didn't either.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So any of that incremental funding that wasn't considered would have an incremental impact then on the results of that study?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Possibly.  We generally would say that that's a program design aspect, which is considered to be post the Achievable Potential Study.

MR. BROPHY:  But if you are bringing in more funding, more money from an external source, it is almost like decreasing the cost of the measure.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Consider that the high scenario in Guidehouse's work was 100 percent incentive level for all measures, right.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. SHIPLEY:  So unless you are proposing that more than 100 percent of the cost of the measure would be paid, then you are not going to get more result than that.

MR. OLEARY:  If I may, Mr. Brophy, I suspect that your questions relate to some of the answers that have been given about the Greener Homes and the prospect of a potential arrangement with them.

I can advise that Mr. Shipley has not been involved with that, and cannot comment on the impact that that might have on any analysis.

So may I suggest that you move on to the next question.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  Mr. Shipley answer is very helpful.  If you use the high potential, it basically includes that potential where additional funding comes in.  I think I heard that right, Mr. Shipley?

MR. SHIPLEY:  It is just 100 percent incentive.  It doesn't say where it comes from.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, that's great.  Thank you very much.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  Next on the list is GEC, Mr. Poch.
Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Good afternoon, Mr. Shipley.  Let me just start by asking -- you referred to your evidence.  I just want to clarify what "your evidence" is on the record.

MR. SHIPLEY:  My evidence is the report that has Posterity Group at the top of it.  So I have -- yes, that's it, that's where it starts.

MR. MURRAY:  Would you like the actual citation?  Oh, you have it up on the screen.

MR. POCH:  I think we've got it, E-7, attachment 1, right.  And that's it.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.  That's all.  Yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And can we turn to I.2.EGI.CCC.4, attachment 1?  At page 9, this is about the slide about the advisor group meeting and, first of all, you have indicated you were on the APS advisory group, right?  Were you there representing Enbridge, or nominated by them?  What was your status?

MR. SHIPLEY:  I was not on the advisory group.  I was on the expert panel, and I was paid by OEB.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  And are you familiar with this document?

MR. SHIPLEY:  I have seen this document before.  I have seen this chart before.

MR. POCH:  Perhaps you can just help us to understand it then, if that is okay.

Does net there in the last bullet refer to net of free riders, or is it referring to meaning incremental beyond existing programs as opposed to non-incremental?  Do you know?

MR. SHIPLEY:  I don't know for sure, but I believe it means --


MR. OLEARY:  If I can?

MR. SHIPLEY:  -- free riders.

MR. OLEARY:  Mr. Poch, is this is not a document that is in his evidence, and while he says he has seen it, to ask him what it means when it is an Enbridge-created document I would suggest to you is unfair.

MR. POCH:  All right.  That's fine.  Now, I would like to ask you -- because seem to -- you have developed some expertise about the APS.  That's what Enbridge or the Board was asking you to do.

And you were asked a few minutes ago about the embedded carbon price.  And I took it -- sorry about that.

I took it that you don't know.  You just backed out what Navigant at the time -- I assume it was Navigant at the time -- had in the TRC for the commodity cost including carbon.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  That's as far as your analysis went.  I understood that.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  You are going to provide that, I take it, in an undertaking, maybe we can compare that to forecast of commodity costs and then that will presumably tell us the answer.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Right.

MR. POCH:  My understanding -- and take this for what it is worth -- at the time it was fifty dollars per tonne and that was the end of the matter.

Would it be your understanding that now, with the new carbon tax ramping up to 170 all other things equal, more measures will be cost-effective than are in the APS and in your analysis.

MR. SHIPLEY:  That makes sense to me.

MR. POCH:  Okay, thank you.  The other thing is in the APS's study of industrial savings potential -- it is page 41 of the study, but I don't think you need to turn it up, I can just fill you in.  It is noted the industrial savings potential was primarily based on results of audits conducted under the U.S. Department of Energy Industrial Assessment Center, the IAC, and there is a link and you follow that link to the AIC and we learn that the industrial audits are conducted there for small and medium size manufacturers by students at various universities.  Is that your understanding as well?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.  And you are taking me a long way back, because I lived in Wisconsin in the '90s and I was aware that students at Marquette were doing those studies in Wisconsin.

MR. POCH:  I just want to make sure, if you agree with this, that something that flows from that would be that it would be unlikely that the audits would be comprehensive enough to truly capture all of the savings potential.  I am thinking particularly of unique, specific niches in industries or specific site especially so for large industrial sites which might have unique processes.  Does that conform with your understanding?


MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, I would agree with that characterization.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And also for that reason that the audits would be limited in scope, but by design they would be looking for common measures and then tend to ignore process-specific measures; correct?


MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And is it your understanding from what you were able to glean of the Navigant work, that the values for common measures were then applied by Navigant to the entire industrial sector in the APS?  That's how they did their work?


MR. SHIPLEY:  That's the way it looks to me.  I can't be sure, but I agree that that's the way it looks.

MR. POCH:  All right.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  I appreciate you can't be certain, but that is your impression.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  And then there was, I had a question about the budget constraints scenario in the APS, and my understanding is that it was constrained by setting the rebate spending level at $80 million per year, and so that -- and that was accomplished by fixing the rebate per cubic metre of savings at roughly seven and a half cents a cubic metre in 2019 declining to less than two cents in 2038.  That is the study at page 1 of 12, for the record.  Is that your understanding?


MR. SHIPLEY:  I haven't looked at those specific numbers, but I can tell you that we confirmed that Navigant or Guidehouse were assuming that pretty much all of the measures got cheaper to do with time.  Less and less incentive was needed to get the same savings.

MR. POCH:  Right.  But I guess my question is, they used the same incentive per cubic metre for all measures, they did it on an across the board basis?


MR. SHIPLEY:  Oh, okay.  I will have to take your word for that.  I can't confirm that.

MR. POCH:  Could I ask you -- is it possible for you to confirm that from the work you have access to?

MR. SHIPLEY:  See, my impression was that it was a percentage of the measure cost that was the same across the board.

MR. POCH:  Obviously you and I are a little in the grey here.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  I guess I would ask you, is it possible for you to go and check that from the materials you have available to you and give us an answer?

MR. SHIPLEY:  It probably will take me some time to figure that out.

MR. POCH:  It doesn't have to be today, obviously.  I would be looking for an undertaking for you to go back, best-efforts basis, to see if you can advise us if the, in the budget-constrained scenario the rebate was applied across the board on a consistent basis across measures, or otherwise.

MR. OLEARY:  I should caution you, Mr. Poch, that Mr. Shipley was not produced today to provide expert evidence in respect of the Navigant APS.  His evidence is as set out in his report, which you have referred to.  So to ask him to go now and to deconstruct further the Navigant report is beyond what he was asked to do in this proceeding.  So -- and I question --


MR. POCH:  Well, Mr. Shipley is I think being proffered as an expert on potential studies, and so I think it would help -- he has been very helpful so far in telling us some of the, to what extent we can rely on the Navigant study and some of its strengths and weaknesses.  It just seemed to me this is relevant to that discussion.

MR. OLEARY:  He can -- sorry -- I was going to say he can speak to those areas that he found that were problematic, but to ask Mr. Shipley to speak to literally any question that is asked about the APS study is beyond his engagement.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Mr. Shipley I think it is good; you don't know the answer off the top of your head.  I take it it would take some work for you to finds it or is that something you can look up?


MR. SHIPLEY:  It is not a look-up.  It is more a couple of days of work probably, and I can't do that pro bono, so I would have to ask for payment --


MR. POCH:  If it is a couple of days' work let's leave that.  I don't think it is critical enough.  That's a concern we have, but we will see if we can find an answer elsewhere.

I have a hunch you will give me the same answer here, but do you know if -- how the constraint on rebate spending was applied to the low-income sector as opposed to other sectors?  Was it the same or different?

MR. SHIPLEY:  So in our work, we separated the low-income sector out from the rest of the residential sector.  And gave it its own budget and kept that, that cap in place for the years as, you know, as a fraction of the overall spend.

So it had its own share at the beginning and then it kept that share.  So the -- so it wasn't forced to compete with the other sectors, is what I am saying.  It had its own little pot of money to be constrained by.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  And I take it you don't know how Navigant did it?

MR. SHIPLEY:  I don't.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  Next on the list is OEB Staff.  Mr. Wasylyk.
Examination by Mr. Wasylyk:


MR. WASYLYK:  Great.  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  Mr. Shipley, good afternoon.  I just have a couple of questions here.  These are in response to Staff 23.  It is your Posterity mirror model which is provided by Enbridge for us to just take a look at.

In the response that Enbridge provided to Staff when asking for your model and the details, Enbridge indicated that a number of changes in structural work was investigated and made to the Guidehouse model in making the PG mirror model and concluded that:

"In the end, while this work effort has led to many learnings, it should be considered for future APS development, Enbridge Gas maintains that even the mirror model was only directionally informative to the company's DSM planning efforts."

  I think this is probably consistent with the response that they gave to you after you provided the model.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. WASYLYK:  So I just wanted to follow up with that.  Do you agree the mirror model that you developed using your Navigator Energy and Emissions Simulator can only be directionally informative for DSM planning efforts in Ontario?


MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay.  And why do you think that it would only be -- the outputs of your work are, should only be directionally informative?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Well, I think essentially we ran out of time.  We identified deficiencies in specific assumptions in the model we were taking in, that we were starting with essentially, and we did a lot of work to improve things, but we didn't make it.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay.

MR. SHIPLEY:  I can tell you, maybe this is tangential, but we've recently completed an APS in British Columbia and we then proceeded to do, we are currently doing the DSM plan for the utility that commissioned that APS.

And we started that project with the intent that the results would be tailored for that utility and made extremely useful to the program planning process, and it is still challenging but I think we got much closer.

So this has been a difficult thing with APSes going back to the beginning, to even back to 1993 when I did my first one.  It has perennially been very difficult to operationalize them, and it has taken a lot of work to get closer.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay, great, that answered my follow-up.  So thank you for that.

Now kind of related to that, and you may have touched on it but maybe I will ask and if there is something else that comes to mind you can let me know.  Do you agree that the primary purpose of completing an APS is to inform and guide policy direction and/or conservation plan development both in terms of overall energy savings levels and budgets?


MR. SHIPLEY:  That does sound correct, yes.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay, fair.  And then so finally, in your experience -- sorry, I will just go back.  I guess maybe I can follow up on my previous question about the primary purpose of completing an APS.

If it's primary purpose is to guide policy direction   and conservation plan development with respect to energy savings and budgets, and you agree that that statement is generally true, how does that work?  Like how should that next step then be taken?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Well, I think the policy makers -- you know, it's a bit above my pay grade to understand what they then do with the results of an Achievable Potential Study.

I've typically been more focussed on the nuts and bolts of how you then proceed to develop programs from it, and so I think it provides an approximate estimate of what potential is out there to go after and it's at a very -- a relatively higher level to look at a really comprehensive list of options.

And then from that point, you have to take into account the realities of the specific marketplace and previous program activity, and the entity that's going to be delivering it and whatever their program options there are, and do all of the dotting of I's and crossing of T's to turn it into real actions.

MR. WASYLYK:  Right.  So then that's a nice segue into my final question and I think it kind of carries on your response there.

So then would it be your -- if you were the one recommending the approach or kind of from your experience, how do you recommend that policy makers set energy savings targets to ensure that ratepayers funding is achieving the greatest level of potential energy savings.

I think you highlighted two options there through your evidence and our discussion here, is it either by first having a utility design its programs and then completing a study to determine the potential of those pre defined programs -- using a program potential scenario, for example -- or rather by developing a number of achievable potential scenarios more comprehensively without the constraints of specific program design, and then requiring the utility to design its programs to meet the efficiency potential identified from that sort of study?

MR. SHIPLEY:  I don't think I know the answer to that.

MR. O'LEARY:  I was going to ask, Mr. Wasylyk, were you going to recommend that the answer be used for the development of the next framework?

MR. WASYLYK:  Potentially.  You know, this is the thing, Mr. O'Leary, is that as there is -- you know, this is a bit of a unique proceeding in that we do have a policy framework in front of the panel, as well as a plan application that responds to a policy framework yet defined.  So I don't know if it is practical to do as part of this current round, but for future planning purposes, I think this would be informative.

But also we do have now essentially two APS models that have been provided as evidence, the Guidehouse work from 2019 as well as Posterity's work that we're talking about right here, and how the panel should consider those when it is deciding on final targets.

Mr. Shipley, maybe I will just have a follow up there.  Do you think that by looking at potential in two different ways, either by looking at from the pre set utility programs and then looking at the potential of those, or doing it the more traditional route, would you get -- what sort of directionally -- what direction would the savings results look in a sort of normal course.

MR. SHIPLEY:  I think typically, if you -- if you would proceed sort of from the envelope of best possible program activities and sort of the highest outcomes that you could expect from achievable potential as it were, you would tend to get a higher number than if you just started with the existing programs and extended them.

And I think that is a valid approach.  I think that you should be looking at other jurisdictions and seeing what best practices are elsewhere and all of those kind of things to try and develop the outer envelope of what is possible.

MR. WASYLYK:  Great.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Shipley.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Wasylyk.  The last for panel 2 is -- I believe it is Mr. Shepherd at School Energy Coalition.
Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I have only one question.

MR. MURRAY:  Oh.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Shipley, you had a discussion with Mr. Poch a few minutes ago about the assumptions in the Navigant model for industrial incentives in the budget constrained scenario, right?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.  I thought it was all of the incentives, but maybe you're right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Maybe it is all of the incentives.  And Mr. O'Leary objected to you answering questions about the Navigant model, and I understand this.

But your model also has implicit in it assumptions about incentives, right?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.  We're backing out what Navigant was doing and trying to calculate what incentives they applied in each case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And what did you conclude?  Let me put it a different way.  Did you use a different incentive assumptions or did you, because it is a mirror model, did you use their incentive assumption?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Well, we started out using theirs exactly as they were, as close as we could mimic them.

And one of the things we noted -- which I don't know if you are getting at -- is that incentives on average declined with time for the same amount of meter cubes of savings from the measures.

And so we also ran the model with that turned off so that essentially the measures would not get cheaper with time and then we compared the two.

You will see that in our evidence, the report that Posterity Group did talks about that experiment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So but the actual mirror model that you have has the same assumption in it of declining incentives, right?

MR. SHIPLEY:  That's what we started with, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's not intuitive, is it?

MR. SHIPLEY:  So I understand that some measures may behave that way, because perhaps they have the wind behind them in some way and, you know, they get easier to do, people, you know, get more enthusiastic about them and you don't have to give as much incentive with time because the market kind of matures around them.

On the other hand, there are other measures where you get the low-hanging fruit early in the program and it gets harder and harder to get people to do the thing because it is less and less easy to apply.

And some of them might just stay the same.  I think that making the assumption across the Board that they all get cheaper is a mistake.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in your model, the one that you have filed or that you've presented in your report, can you tell us what the underlying assumption is for incentives?

MR. SHIPLEY:  In that case, the declining assumption is turned off in those results.

So it's got a -- we didn't know.  Some measures go up, some go down; we decided to keep them even.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if it started at seven and a half cents a cube, it continued at seven at a half cents indexed to inflation or --


MR. SHIPLEY:  The whole model is in constant dollars.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In constant dollars.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then is that -- have you said somewhere in your report what the impact of that is?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.  I think that's discussed in Appendix D.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I didn't find it, but I will look for it.  Excellent.  Okay, thank you very much.  I appreciate it.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Shepherd, for the concise questioning.  Madam court reporter, I want to check on you because I know we're moving to another panel now.  We had been planning an afternoon break.

That being said, I understand that the next panel won't be available tomorrow morning, so I am really hoping that we can try to get finished them today.  So I didn't know, Madame reporter, whether you need a break now.---Off the record discussion.

MR. MURRAY:  Why don't we come back at 4:05.  In the interim, to the extent any of the questioners can try and concisely cut down their questions, it would be much appreciated as we're trying to get through First Tracks today.
--- Recess taken at 3:57 p.m.

--- On resuming at 4:05 p.m.

MR. MURRAY:  We will go back on the record.

Thank you very much, everyone.  We are back from the afternoon break.  Mr. O'Leary, would you please introduce panel 3.

MR. OLEARY:  Certainly.  Thank you.  This is Enbridge panel 3 and we have Mr. Ted Weaver of First Tracks Consulting.  He is the author of the reply report which was prepared dated January 31, 2022.

And, good afternoon, Mr. Weaver.

MR. WEAVER:  Good afternoon.
ENBRIDGE GAS INC. - PANEL 3

Ted Weaver


MR. OLEARY:  He is available for questions.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much and I am just having -- who is first on my list.
Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  I think I am first up on the list.  David Poch for Green Energy Coalition.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.


MR. POCH:  First I am going to take you to topic 8.GEC.5a and we were asking you there about, as to whether the Enbridge already has an incentive to preserve gas loads with R&D and market transformation.  You have declined to answer because it wasn't part of your scope.  I understand you did not opine on the level of investment in R&D and MT.

I just wanted to clarify, our I didn't was related to the need for the design and performance incentive; that is, just in analyzing that need it is appropriate for the Board to consider the fact that there is already some incentive for the utility to preserve or grow gas loads.  Can you agree with that?


MR. WEAVER:  Well I think as it relates to the performance incentive mechanism what Enbridge put forth was a performance incentive mechanism that covered its entire portfolio.  The long-term -- I have to remember the program names.

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MR. WEAVER:  Long-term transition program which I think you are talking about, the Carbon Transition Program, is a part of the portfolio.  I think it is appropriate for the performance incentive mechanism to cover that, because it is part of the portfolio.

MR. POCH:  Yes.  I am just saying in determining, in designing that incentive and for the Board to understand how strong it should be or how weak it can be, would you agree it is appropriate to consider the fact that Enbridge - would you agree Enbridge already has some incentive to grow and preserve loads with R&D and MT?


MR. WEAVER:  I think the Board can consider many things.  I think it is appropriate for the Board to create a performance incentive mechanism that covers the entire portfolio, and this is part of the portfolio.

MR. POCH:  You are not answering my question, Mr. Weaver.  We have asked you a question; you said it was beyond your scope.  You have been asked to comment on their, to reply and you have ventured opinion.

I am just asking you to, whether specifically you would agree that the utility already has some incentive to grow and preserve loads with R&D and market transformation, and that is a relevant consideration.  That is all I am asking.

MR. OLEARY:  Mr. Poch, I would respectfully suggest that he has answered that question, and what you are doing is cross-examining him asking him the same question again only looking for a different answer.

MR. POCH:  That's fine, Mr. O'Leary.  I have not heard an answer, for the record.  I will return to this in cross-examination in the hearing, then, if you would prefer.

Can we turn to 8.GEC.6b.  We were asking, this is about whether the bands of the incentive should be 50/150 or 75/125 percent, and asked whether it is -- whether there is an upside to lowering the 150 to 125 that compensates for bringing the 50 up to 75.  And you responded that you are not sure if it fully compensates for that downside that you identify.

Could you just indicate what information you would need to say whether it fully compensates?


MR. WEAVER:  I have thought about this because you highlighted that this is one of the questions you were going to ask.

So this was in -- first of all, my mention that you are asking about here was in reference to a specific concern which is that other utilities that have a bandwidth that goes from 75 percent to 125 percent, that band width is applied at the portfolio level, the entire portfolio.  For those utilities, they can hit that -- I mean 75 percent low end by not hitting the 75 percent target for some programs and 75 percent for other programs.

What I highlighted was Enbridge has structured its performance incentive to be different.  They have to hit their target on each individual program, and because of that I think it is appropriate to have a lower floor.

I thought through what about on the upper end, and on the upper end, I think the exact same things happens.

Other utilities can, when they hit the cap on individual programs they could hit 125 percent and they don't max out the cap.  They could drive those programs up to 150 percent, 200 percent and have in some programs not get up to the cap.  So they can manage their portfolio in that way.  So they can exceed 125 percent in individual programs and that allows them to max out their incentive.

There is the exact converse is what I talked about on the low end, on the upper end, and for Enbridge to max out their incentive, they have to max out at 125 percent on every program.

So I think it is symmetrical there and I think it has the same issues.  And I think because it is symmetrical I would still recommend a 50 percent, 150 percent for Enbridge because it is symmetrical.  Sorry, Mr. Poch, I am not hearing you.

MR. POCH:  Can you hear me now?

MR. WEAVER:  Yes, that is better.  Sorry, I don't know what happened.

MR. POCH:  I don't know what happened.  I just want to clarify the primary aspect that you are considering there is the fact that Enbridge is moving to isolate the incentive by program or sector rather than carrying an overall incentive.

MR. WEAVER:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Can you turn to 6.GEC.12a.  I think you have impliedly answered, but I just wanted to get a clearer answer.  This is whether the, whether the 20 percent, when you say the 20 percent annual budget increases tracking closer to the OEB's historic rate guidance including adjustments for inflation, we're asking about that, we never got a crisp answer whether it does or doesn't, your estimates.

MR. WEAVER:  Yes so I think I used inopportune language in the report trying to describe what Enbridge, my understanding of what Enbridge is trying to do with its proposal, which it is being responsive to the direction from the OEB.  And I used the term historic rate guidance.

I think, to be simpler, what I did in all of my analysis and here it referred to a chart, your question referred to a chart in my report, and that had a red line on it that showed Enbridge's forecast of budgets and then budgets increasing after that at two percent.  And so -- and I characterized that line as following the OEB's historic rate guidance because it is following Enbridge's protection.  And then after Enbridge stops protecting in 2027, I increased it about two percent a year, which is approximately inflation.  Until inflation increased over the last year.  That is all I have done.

Does that answer your question?  Again, I don't really have an understanding of the OEB's historic guidance on inflation.

MR. POCH:  I will have to go back and read your answer to give you an answer, so let's move on.

MR. WEAVER:  Okay.  Again, what I have tried to do is characterize Enbridge's protection after 2027 and then after that I just increased it at two percent a year.  That is what I did to show a projection of where the world is going.

MR. POCH:  Right.  And that two percent was your assumption of what, a proxy for inflation?


MR. WEAVER:  Right.  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Let's move on to 9.GEC.14b.  You're referring to here where -- you set the example when Illinois regulators put guard rails in requiring measure lives not to drop below certain levels.  This is with respect to using first year rather than lifetime savings.

Can you just, perhaps by undertaking if you don't have it at the top of your head, tell us what the allowed variance and average measure life was settled on in Illinois for that purpose as a guardrail?


MR. WEAVER:  Yes.  I did hear this come up yesterday with Mr. Fernandes, and so I did go back and look at my notes.  I can answer that now.

So at least for one of the utilities -- so there is three gas utilities in Illinois -- actually four, although two of them work as a combined entity -- and I will talk about Nicor Gas, which is the largest one and the one I have most familiarity with.

So there the key metric for natural gas is annual savings, because that is written into Illinois law, so the law says you shall be -- the target shall be defined in annual savings.

The utilities and other parties agreed that life cycle can also be important, and so what they've agreed to do is the utilities track against annual savings.  They have annual savings goals.  They also have a weighted average measure life -- or WAML is the acronym -- I will use that for   weighted average measure life.  And the utilities are responsible for maintaining a WAML, so they calculated for the proposed plan and then they're given a band width around that.

So for natural gas, the bandwidth is about 10 percent so they agreed to maintain a WAML that is about 10 percent below what the plan average is.  So if their plan averages about eleven years and they agree to keep it within a year of that.

MR. POCH:  Okay.

MR. WEAVER:  They can't drop below around ten years.  There is also an additional provision which is -- in Illinois, every year they make adjustments to the goal to reflect changes in the underlying TRM and certain gross assumptions in a couple of other areas.  So things change from the assumptions that went into developing the plan, and the goals are adjusted for those changes.

So those changes also roll into the target WAML.  So if an event changes and there is a lifetime change for that or the calculation of long-term and something that changes and that affects the weighted average life, then the target changes along with those.

MR. POCH:  So in that case, the 10 percent would apply to the new WAML.

MR. WEAVER:  Exactly.

MR. POCH:  Right, okay, thank you.  And moving on
to --


MR. WEAVER:  I guess also -- sorry to interrupt you.  But in thinking about this, I do think -- have the right -- I know you asked Mr. Fernandes this and so Enbridge should go back and think about it.  But I think to have the right number for Ontario, you have to think about the mix of programs in Ontario and what kind of measure lives could change, so it might be appropriate in Ontario for it to be 20 percent or some other number, because there is a different mix of programs here than in Illinois, so it is appropriate for the portfolio that is on the table.

MR. POCH:  Let's turn on to topic GEC.20b.  In answer Roman numeral (ii), you acknowledge that Energy Futures Group's report adjusted the average measure life being higher for Enbridge, but you still go on to raise concern that to the comparison to savings in other jurisdictions -- that there would be other jurisdictions about twice as large because, in your words,
"Energy Futures Group has not appropriately adjusted those baselines for key changes in regulatory environments, budget levels and market conditions."

So first of all, in recent years have you been -- have you done any benchmarking exercises that compare levels of savings across different utilities and if so, when?

MR. WEAVER:  Sorry.  I just want to make sure I am looking at the right thing.  This is 20b?

MR. POCH:  20b, yes.

MR. WEAVER:  Consumers Energy?

MR. POCH:  Let's see if we've got the right one here.  Yes.  That's the correct response and I have it as Roman numeral (ii) in my notes.

We asked you were you aware that Mr. Neme with EFG had adjusted for measure life.  And in your response, you indicate you were aware and you go on to say you still have these other concerns, which I mentioned.

So with that preamble -- first of all, let me ask you, have you yourself been doing -- been retained and done benchmarking exercises comparing levels of savings across different utilities in recent years?  And if so --


MR. WEAVER:  Yes, I have done benchmarking analyses for other clients.

MR. POCH:  Would it be possible for you to provide copies of that work for perhaps the, you know, the three most recent such studies you have done?

MR. OLEARY:  Mr. Poch, that is not something that's an appropriate question at this late stage in this proceeding, and this witness has not been called to present evidence at the hearing that speaks to a jurisdictional review of jurisdictions that have nothing to do with Enbridge.

MR. POCH:  Well, Mr. O'Leary --


MR. OLEARY:  And all of the qualifications that go with that in terms of when, and for what purpose.  So we will not be giving that undertaking.

MR. POCH:  All right.  I would just like for the record to state my rationale for that question because we may want to return to it at a later time.

Your witness has criticized EFG for their methodology and I just think it is appropriate in that circumstance to see what methodology your witness has found appropriate based on the work he has done.  I think it is perfectly reasonable question.

You may feel it is too much work today, that's fine.  We can come back to it, if we like.

MR. OLEARY:  That doesn't sound like clarification to me.  That sounds like pure unadulterated cross-examination as to credibility, but --


MR. POCH:  All right.  That's fine.  I am trying to shorten things up for later, Mr. O'Leary, and get them in a timely basis, but apparently you are not prepared to allow that.

Mr. O'Leary, please -- Mr. O'Leary, let's move on.  I am trying to be careful here to conserve time if we can.

Let's put aside budget levels for the moment because I think Energy Futures Group would agree with you that budget differences can be very important obviously in this.

But you mentioned regulatory environments and market conditions, and you gave, I think -- I think you list four specific concerns you had, gross versus net savings and sufficiency standards in Ontario, behavioural programs in Maine and I guess it is -- I can't remember where else, it doesn't matter.

MR. WEAVER:  Massachusetts.

MR. POCH:  Massachusetts.  And utilities claiming savings for stretch codes.  Were there -- are there any other adjustments that EFG should have made to account for differences in these comparisons that you haven't mentioned there?

MR. WEAVER:  There might be.  Ontario is different than these other places.  So my main concern with what EFG put on the table basically -- I forget how many benchmarks they used, five or so.  They put five numbers on the table.  they said, well, here's five numbers in other sates that have higher annual savings than Enbridge, without any context about what is different in those states.

And I would be concerned that the Board would adopt one of those numbers as an appropriate benchmark for Ontario because Ontario is very different in all of those areas I talked about and there is probably others.

MR. POCH:  All right.  So you don't have any specifics of other items that should be looked at that you can suggest?

MR. WEAVER:  Well, I know one is -- in working with Enbridge, I know Enbridge does not include for example any plumbing fixtures.  So that is --


MR. POCH:  Sorry?  I couldn't hear that.

MR. WEAVER:  Sorry.  Any plumbing fixtures.  So lots of other utilities put in local shower heads and faucet regulators.  Enbridge does not include those.  They basically saturated the market long ago, so that is a difference.

Enbridge -- I do know Enbridge has a massive amount of large customer load.  And their savings are skewed to large customers.  So the overall portfolio for Enbridge is different than most other utilities just because their customer loads is different.  So those are a couple of examples.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I would like to look at that.  You actually go on in that response, there are two other -- you mention two other issues when comparing National Grid to Enbridge.

One of them you mention is that there is different evaluation approaches and outcomes and the other is higher budgets -- I think we have spoken about higher budgets.

With respect to the former, you note that net to gross are lower for Enbridge and suggest that is a function of evaluation methods.  And then you go on to say Enbridge also has more sales and savings from large customers and National Grid's has higher rebate levels.

Let me just ask about the evaluation method specifically.

MR. WEAVER:  Can you just put that up on the screen? I want to make sure I am tracking which --


MR. POCH:  Sure.  I am actually looking at second and third bullets on page 20 of that -- I guess we're in a different numeration now of pages.

MR. WEAVER:  I think if you go to the next page -- I think I am with you -- is it here?  Massachusetts?  In the middle of the page.

MR. POCH:  Yes.  We are looking at National Grid there.

MR. WEAVER:  Yes.  I said a combination of factors, the valuation method, customer mix and budget constraints as well.

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MR. WEAVER:  Massachusetts Grid has a smaller budget. So there is at least three reasons.


MR. POCH:  I just wanted to ask you about evaluation methods.  How are evaluation methods different in ways that would make Enbridge's savings look less or more robust than National Grid's?  What did you mean by that specifically?


MR. WEAVER:  Evaluators use different methods, and some do a better job of capturing, you know, true net to gross levels.  Net to gross is always a counterfactual.  You cannot measure it directly.  You can only measure it by inference.  And some approaches, for example, relying on self-reported customer information about what they think would have done are I think clearly understood in the industry to be less accurate than other approaches, that factor in more factors and get information from allies and other market actors to really get a full understanding of what is happening in that market.

MR. POCH:  I guess I read it disjunctively.  You refer to valuation as it's an NTJ, it was specifically the valuation method of net to gross that you were referring to.  Am I reading that right now?

MR. WEAVER:  Yes.  There might be valuation methods that are occurring in Ontario that are different than Massachusetts, and so for a program that has the exact same net to gross with a different valuation method, they come up with a different number, the true net to gross in the sample.

MR. POCH:  I see.  Now, Enbridge, as you say, Enbridge have lower -- Enbridge has lower net to gross levels.  Is it possible that that might be in part a function of more problematic or suboptimal program designs?  Is that a possibility?

MR. OLEARY:  Mr. Poch, Mr. Weaver was not asked to undertake an analysis of program designs.

MR. POCH:  That is exactly where I am headed, Mr. O'Leary.  I just wanted to understand what he looked at and what he hasn't looked at.

Would you agree that is a possibility?  I take it from what Mr. O'Leary says you would agree that's not something you looked at?

MR. WEAVER:  That's a possibility.  Again what I am trying to say is that, I didn't put the evidence on the record, Energy Futures Group did.  They put five numbers on the record without really any context about what was going on in those states and how it applied in Ontario.  So the information I put in my evidence was to caution the Board with using those and those should only be used when they are appropriately adjusted to reflect the conditions in Ontario that is different from those states.

MR. POCH:  I hear you.  Now, you also made a point that about Enbridge having -- you said today in addition you've noted that Enbridge has more sales to larger customers.  It is my understanding it is generally less expensive to obtain savings even after adjusting for free-ridership from large business customers than from small residential customers or small or medium business customers.  All other things equal, does that generalization conform with your understanding?

MR. WEAVER:  Well, I will say this:  That is true for Enbridge.  If you look at their proposal, the large customers have lower net to grosses, yet they're still by far the cheapest resources.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Finally you compare National Grid spending to Enbridge, and earlier you had talked about the various programs, the behavioral programs and so on that Enbridge doesn't run.  I just wondered in making that comparison did you deduct that 46 percent of the total?

MR. WEAVER:  I'm not sure what you are asking.  If you go -- if you could bring up the page above.

MR. POCH:  Okay.

MR. WEAVER:  So is this what you're talking about with this graphic?

MR. POCH:  Well, you mentioned there with the graphic a large portion of the savings comes from these programs that we don't do in Ontario.

MR. WEAVER:  Right.

MR. POCH:  Then later on, I believe it is later on you say you compare -- I don't have it in front of me, either.  Can we scroll down?  I think you go on to compare --


MR. WEAVER:  Maybe I can help you.  Oh, go ahead.

MR. POCH:  Just in that paragraph, if we stop there, the second paragraph on the page "taken together" that paragraph.

MR. WEAVER:  Let me walk you through this analysis if you bring up the chart above.  Sorry to make you go back and forth.  Whoever is bringing that up, I appreciate that.

Again, I really feel like EFG should have done this.  I am just doing an example to make it more concrete. We've been talking about abstract topics of net to gross and large customer mix and things like that.

So Energy Futures Group told the Board that National Grid had savings of 1.3 percent.  So you can see and they just said that number 1.3 percent, and this shows their total is 1.3 percent.  That just broke it down by their programs.

Those three programs on the top were basically unavailable in Enbridge.  They don't offer behaviour programs.  Residential rebates, which is mostly furnaces, are really not a big opportunity in Ontario, because there are federal standard that require high efficiency to everybody.  High efficiency units, sorry are being put in everywhere.  In the United States it is much lower.

And then new construction you have the codes and the new construction markets.  Those are basically unavailable.  You can look at that.  That brings National Grid savings down to 0.7 percent.

And then, you know, I said because I didn't know what the exact numbers were, and again I didn't think I needed to do all of this, I think Energy Futures Group should have done that but net to gross is different.  Enbridge's net to gross is something like 50 percent, and I think, I think National Grid is something more like 80 percent.

So if you adjusted for that you take 60 percent of 0.7 now you're down to .4 percent.  That is about what Enbridge is projecting.  And by the way Enbridge is spending probably between a third and an eighth of what National Grid is spending.

I did this in a couple of hours, right.  And I think Energy Futures Group could have done something like this.  They provide richer context for the Board in using those.

Again, I think the bottom line is compared to National Grid Enbridge is actually delivering quite a bit of savings almost the same amount of savings for you know, a fraction of the budget.

So be careful about using these --

MR. POCH:  All right.  I hear you.  You're saying you are concerned that the Energy Futures Group analysis didn't delve into these issues, at least from what you have seen at a deep enough level, but you are not purporting to have done that yourself, either.

MR. WEAVER:  I did one example to show how it is important it is.  It wasn't my evidence to put on the table, it was their responsibility to do that.

MR. POCH:  I understand.  Just a couple of clarification questions.  If we can go to 7.Staff.3.  This was about examples of utility DSM ramp-ups, and some of them are electric and so on.  For consumers energy you suggested electric DSM budgets increase by 55 percent from 2018 to 2022 and gas budgets increased by 44 percent over the same period.

I couldn't find that.  Can I just by way of undertaking -- I think it is probably easiest if you could just point us to where you got those numbers from, that would be helpful.

MR. WEAVER:  Sure.

MR. POCH:  Can we get an undertaking for that?


MR. OLEARY:  Sorry the link there doesn't work, is that what --


MR. POCH:  We couldn't find those numbers, and rather than scroll through evidence today, I thought it would be easier if we could just get a pointer to that.

MR. OLEARY:  You can do that, Mr. Weaver?


MR. WEAVER:  Yes, I can do that we have all of those numbers.

MR. OLEARY:  Okay --


MR. POCH:  Okay, thank you.  So that would be --


MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking --


MR. WEAVER:  There is a couple of references to consumers so can you remind me of what you are asking for.

MR. POCH:  Can you point us to where you found the 55 percent increase from 2018 to 2022 in gas budgets and the 44 percent increase over the same period.  I'm sorry the first was electric budgets.  That's 55 percent over from 2018-2022; then a 44 percent in gas budgets over the same four-year period.  Can we get an undertaking to look for that?


MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Poch, just to clarify.  The first two bullets the two Michigan ones because the third bullet is also 44 percent.

MR. WEAVER:  Interesting.

[Laughter]

MR. POCH:  Yes.  I honestly can't tell you right now.

MR. MURRAY:  Shall we just say the first three bullets?


MR. POCH:  Why don't we just get a pointer, if you don't mind, sir, if it is not too inconvenient.  That would help us, thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT2.20.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.20:  WITH REFERENCE TO 7.STAFF.3, TO PROVIDE THE EVIDENTIARY CITATION FOR THE 55 PERCENT INCREASE FROM 2018 TO 2022 IN ELECTRIC BUDGETS AND THE 44 PERCENT INCREASE OVER THE SAME PERIOD; THEN THE 44 PERCENT IN GAS BUDGETS OVER THE SAME FOUR-YEAR PERIOD; THE FIRST THREE BULLETS.


MR. OLEARY:  What undertaking response are we referring to here, just for the record?

MR. POCH:  That is I.7.EGI.Staff.3.  And it is our understanding that in Michigan from 2016 to 2017, a new law went into effect allowing the utilities to earn a 33 percent larger performance incentive if they achieved greater savings.

And that that actually triggered up nearly a 50 percent increase in just one year.  Does that conform with your understanding?

MR. WEAVER:  I don't know.  I would have to go back and look.  I don't know those numbers off the top of my head.

MR. POCH:  Is that something that is easy for you to confirm?

MR. WEAVER:  Can you state again what the question is?

MR. POCH:  That in Michigan from 2016 to 2017, the electric spending actually increased by 50 percent in that one year alone.

MR. WEAVER:  Yeah, I guess I could do that.  I mean, I have to ask Mr. O'Leary.  Is that something I am supposed to do or is that something --


MR. POCH:  I just assumed you provided these numbers.  If it is not something that is simple for you, I won't ask you to do that.  I just thought if you had that in hand.

MR. OLEARY:  It is not in his report, not in numbers he is relying on.  So in fairness, although -- I think not.

MR. POCH:  I won't trouble him then, that's fine.

We did provide you with a copy of the comment Illinois 2020 annual report, because you referred to that.  I just want to make sure we agree on what's gone on there.

In that report on pages -- I think it is -- if we compare pages 9 and 11 of that report, we just looked and saw from program year eight to program year ten and we didn't look at program year nine because it was a peculiar -- I think it was a 18-month program, yeah, yeah.  So just comparing those two, we noted -- I just want to make sure you agree with our interpretation here, if you go down to the bottom row, that it went from 199 million to -- it is hard to see.

MR. WEAVER:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  To 353 million.  Maybe we can blow that up.  If you go to the bottom row, I guess it is row 8 --


MR. WEAVER:  Yes.  It is that number there on 84 in the middle, kind of 199,118 --


MR. POCH:  It is about the 7th or eighth column over, you get the -- is that the spending?  I assume if we scroll that up, we can see what it is.

MR. WEAVER:  That's their total utility spend.

MR. POCH:  Right.  And so that's right.  You confirmed that number and the comparable number two years later, if we scroll down two pages, is 353 million.  You have no reason to disagree with that, I take it.

MR. WEAVER:  Well, but those are two numbers that are in our report, but there needs to be some context.

MR. POCH:  Sure.

MR. WEAVER:  In 2016, Illinois passed a law called the Future of Energy Jobs Act, which changed quite a few things.

So the prior to -- they went into place in 2018 because that's ERP10, that is your second comparison.

So across those two years, a number of things changed.  Low-income programs transferred from the state agency to the utilities, the public sector transferred from the state agency to the utilities, market transformation programs also transferred to the utilities.  Low-income budgets expanded greatly, and there was this thing called Illinois Power Agency Programs, which were a set of programs that were outside of utility budgets and then they got rolled into the utility budgets.

So what you are showing me for PY8 includes the utility budget and the IPA, Illinois Power Agency programs, but not the low-income or public sector or market transformation programs.  And so that increase is out of context because it is not apples to apples.  It is apples and oranges.

MR. POCH:  That is helpful.  Thank you very much.  That is all of my questions, thank you very much.

MR. WEAVER:  Right.

MR. MURRAY:  Thanks very much, Mr. Poch.  Next on the list is Mr. Brophy with Pollution Probe.
Examination by Mr. Brophy:


MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, Mr. Weaver.

MR. WEAVER:  Good afternoon.

MR. BROPHY:  Michael Brophy representing Pollution Probe.

It is 4:40, so I am going to try and get us done by five, if possible, within my allotment.

So why don't I just jump in.  You don't need to pull these up, but if you want to, that's fine.  The first question relates First Tracks contract which was attachment 1 to the GEC interrogatories for reply.  Did you want to wait or do you want me to just ask the question?

MR. OLEARY:  I think it is fair to pull it up.

MR. WEAVER:  Sure.

MR. BROPHY:  I will give you a minute.  I can tell you the page there, if it is helpful for Staff.  It is page 32 of 98 in the reply IRs for GEC, if that is of any help.

Okay.  Is this the contract, attachment 1?  Okay, great.  So under the deliverable section, it is near the end of the agreement -- I think it is actually an appendix to this agreement.

These long agreements here.  Okay.  So down a little further, deliverables -- there we are, number 2.  Okay.

So you see that up on the screen, Mr. Weaver?

MR. WEAVER:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  So this should be pretty simple.  Some of these I was able to track easily, so provide your recommendations/conclusions.  You know, report.  And then final PowerPoint presentation intended for internal.  And then potentially a PowerPoint presentation provided for external.

So you did provide an appendix with a PowerPoint to the interrogatory responses.  Is that the internal or external PowerPoint presentation in this scope under deliverables?

MR. WEAVER:  That would be what this is referring to, internal.  That was presented to Enbridge internally.  There was not another PowerPoint developed.  At one point, this scope was developed that summer before the proceeding had unraveled and we knew it was there.  So at one point, we thought perhaps my evidence could come in the form of a presentation to the Board.  It became apparent that a report was better, so the evidence that you have seen as the report was developed as a form of a report instead.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  Just one report and that was the one that was filed.  Great, thank you. So that was easy.

The next one relates to Pollution Probe 6a, but it really is page 36 of the First Tracks report.  And again, I don't know if you need to pull it up, but that is the reference.

It sounds like you have been online listening.  You probably heard some discussion with Enbridge's panel on the compromise proposal.

MR. WEAVER:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  And they had referred me to you because you were the one that actually developed that in your report.

MR. WEAVER:  Okay.

MR. BROPHY:  So when I looked at the scope in the contract, there was nothing related to a compromise proposal.  So I guess the question is, did Enbridge approve for you to do the compromise proposal?

MR. WEAVER:  Yes.  So again, the scope was performed last summer and the scope was generally for me to provide them with a scan around amortization and performance incentives, and then to help them respond to evidence provided in the proceeding.

Once evidence was presented by staff with the Optimal Energy report and the Environmental Defence and Green Energy Coalition with the Energy Futures Group, it became clear of what my, what my evidence could be and it addressed, as you have seen, three topics, namely the amortization issue, the performance incentive mechanism, and the limited response around benchmarking other utilities.

And those really were all responding to the recommendations made by the other parties.  So on the amortization it was more straightforward.  What I presented in my evidence was really an extension of what I presented to Enbridge, which is primarily the dynamics how does amortization work, what are the dynamics when you go from expensing to amortizing costs, how do costs change in the near term, long-term.  What happens with regulatory assets, all of the kind of things I put in the first chapter of that report.

But then I also responded to a number of recommendations that Optimal Energy had provided and so I responded to those considerations.

And then -- so that was more straightforward.

On the performance incentives, I also responded to the Optimal and the Energy Futures Group recommendations, but there, there was also an Enbridge proposal that was on the table.  I wasn't even around under contract when they developed that proposal.  So I didn't develop their proposal.

So in terms of -- I forget what you call the response evidence, rebuttal; I forget what you call it in Ontario.  In terms of responding, I couldn't really -- I couldn't really take a position to defend Enbridge's proposal because I didn't help them develop it.

And so I was really trying to understand how could I, you know, what should my role be and then Enbridge also made it clear -- I mean Ontario's unique, in my view, which is, you know, Enbridge and the OEB itself has asked me to come as an independent expert.  I am providing evidence and testimony to the Board, not to support Enbridge.

And I signed the, I forget what that form is called, Mr. O'Leary, but the one you referred to earlier, where I, I state that I am going to provide evidence that is helpful to the OEB.  And that is what I did.

So for now the performance incentive -- I determined how can I be most helpful.  It didn't really seem like it was my job or appropriate for me to just defend Enbridge's proposal.  So instead I created a proposal that looked at the information that was on the table and I didn't want to lob at Enbridge, plus Optimal Energy plus Energy Futures Group.  I didn't want to lob a fourth one on the table that was you know, my idea around it all.

So I thought it would be most helpful to the OEB to put those on the table and look at the argument for and against them and come up with something that was a compromise that would have something on the record that the OEB could respond to.  And I thought that was the way I could be most helpful to everybody in this proceeding to move things forward, so I came up with that compromised proposal.

I proposed that to Enbridge and they said, look, this is your evidence; if you want to do that, then, yes, go ahead and do that.

And so yeah, within the scope -- I wanted to make sure it was within the scope of my contract, and it was, and they told me to proceed.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So thanks for that.  So there is no settlement conference in this proceeding, I don't know if you are aware or not aware of that.

So given that there is no settlement unless Enbridge changes its position on something, there is no compromise.

So how would your compromise proposal even be used in this proceeding?  How do you -- what's the value of it?


MR. OLEARY:  Mr. Brophy I don't think that is an appropriate question for this witness.  That is one to raise with the actual panel themselves, and perhaps in argument but this witness is not going to start providing his opinion on how the OEB should set policies going forward.

MR. BROPHY:  Well, with all due respect, Mr. O'Leary, Enbridge already confirmed they did not ask Mr. Weaver to do the compromised proposal.  It was his own idea.  He went off.  Did it.  He's going to get paid through ratepayer money to do it.  Now we are simply asking questions on you know, he went off and did it, is going to get paid by ratepayer money to do it.  What value does he think it is bringing?

MR. OLEARY:  The questions you are entitled to ask him are why he's made the compromised proposal, not how the Board will implement it.

MR. BROPHY:  Why did you think it was appropriate in this proceeding to submit a compromise proposal?

MR. OLEARY:  He just answered those questions at length.

MR. BROPHY:  No, what he said is he was hired by Enbridge; during that work he decided that he should do a compromised proposal.  Not how it would be of any value in this proceeding.

MR. OLEARY:  And what I am saying to you is that he's not here as a witness to say to the OEB how they should view it in terms of value or lack of value.

MR. BROPHY:  I am not asking about the OEB's impression.  He decided to create the compromise proposal.  I am asking his personal thoughts on why he did that and how it would fit into this proceeding.

MR. OLEARY:  He has answered why he did it already.  And I am going to suggest you move along, Mr. Brophy.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I'm sorry, I must have missed the answer, can you succinctly tell me why you did it to submit in this proceeding?


MR. OLEARY:  I think he has answered the question.

MR. BROPHY:  So you are refusing to answer the question?

MR. OLEARY:  I am refusing to repeat it.

MR. BROPHY:  I didn't hear the answer to the question.  I heard a long answer, but it didn't actually answer the question.  I am just asking for a short answer on how you think it is going to be used.

MR. OLEARY:  That's what I am saying he's not a position to answer, Mike.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  It just seems like a waste of time and money if it has no role, so maybe Mr. Weaver not knowing this process in Ontario, didn't understand that, that's fine.  We can move on if that is the case.

MR. OLEARY:  Thank you.

MR. BROPHY:  My next question, it was Pollution Probe 11 but it deals with figure 5 in your report.  So maybe it was, it was filed in the First Tracks report.  If you could pull that up, that would be great.

Great, thank you.  Do you see that, Mr. Weaver, on the screen?


MR. WEAVER:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  So we had asked a question in Pollution Probe 11 about, because you used a weighted average cost of capital to create these graphs.  I think it was 5.7 percent, if I remember correctly.

And we asked what would change if it was cost of capital, which you responded cost of capital is the same as WACC.

So maybe it was my confusion on the terminology.  Optimal had proposed an interest rate of I think it was 1.17, which I understood was the cost of capital.

So if you were to use 1.17 instead of what you are proposing as the WACC of 5.7, can you just at a high level let me know what you think would happen to this chart?  What would change in principle?


MR. WEAVER:  First of all, Optimal did not -- sorry, Optimal's recommendation was to use a cost of capital of 4 percent, not 1.17 percent.

They did have an original report that had that number in it, 1.17 percent.  Actually, I am not even sure it had a number in it.  I think they said that their cost of capital used for amortization could be the cost of short-term debt, but I think in response to an interrogatory they inferred that maybe 1.17 percent was the appropriate cost of short-term debt.

Optimal updated their report and changed that recommendation, and they said it should be tied to long-term debt instead of short-term debt.  And so in my report I did show some -- a scenario that showed how revenue requirements would look, would change if instead of Enbridge's full cost of capital, they only used the cost of long term debt to cover the amortization costs to calculate the amortization.

So if I could find that chart for you, I think --


MR. BROPHY:  There may be a quicker answer than that.  I will put it in general terms.  Whether theirs is 1.7 or 4 percent, you used something lower than what you used as the weighted average cost of capital, these bars that show the revenue requirement by year would decrease those then, wouldn't it?  Is that what the impact of a lower interest rate being used is?

MR. WEAVER:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, okay.  And I am not going to ask you to reproduce the graph, but that is what I was trying to understand when we --


MR. WEAVER:  If you look down in my report, I forget the number is, table 7, 8, or 9, figures 7, 8, or 9, it shows the -- it shows that exactly.  You can look for that and it will tell you the answer.

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  I will give back four minutes and pass the baton.  Thank you very much.

MR. WEAVER:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Brophy.  Dr. Higgin, you are next on the list.
Examination by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  I will keep my video off.  I only have one question left that wasn't asked by Mr. Poch.  It is really a follow up to one of his.

Can we just look at that by getting to page 5 of your evidence and section 1.12.  This talks about the budget increases.  It is actually the top of the page following, on page 5, thank you.

So I just heard you say to Mr. Poch -- I just wanted to confirm this, Mr. Weaver, that you did not consider the historic OEB guidance on affordability or, quote, "the modest budget increases" in the OEB letter.  Is that correct?

MR. WEAVER:  No, I don't think that is a correct statement.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, so clarify it, please.

MR. WEAVER:  Sure.  So what I did was I showed for the Enbridge trajectory, their projection of their budgets that they would have from 2023 through 2027, and then after that because it's important to show the long-term impacts of amortization -- and then after that extending those at two percent per year.

So I showed that as a baseline.  All of those charts that you have seen earlier there was a red line.  That red line represented that baseline.

Then I showed in the bars under various assumptions around how you structure the amortization what the revenue requirement would look like compared to that baseline under various scenarios.

So that red line factors in the policy framework that Enbridge has rolled into their plan, and that takes into account historic guidance from the Board, from the OEB,   and so that is what I have done.

DR. HIGGIN:  So why did you even look at a doubling because you state that in your evidence, why did you consider that?

MR. WEAVER:  I did two things in my report.  First, I just walked through the dynamics of amortization.  So again, if you were to take the Enbridge plan with extended out budgets and amortize it over different terms, using different cost of capital, how would that change revenue requirements.

And revenue requirements, you know, go down in the early years, they go up in the later years.  You build up a regulatory asset, you create an earnings flow, and I just showed those there.

But it seems to me that the question in front of the OEB is not that.  It's not how to take the current proposed plan budget and amortize it.  But I think -- my understanding of Optimal's recommendation was that use amortization as a way to increase budgets and that you could -- if you do amortization, if you could increase budgets and not increase revenue requirements, in at least the short term by amortizing, because when you amortize in the first few years rates go down, even if the budget goes up.

So it seemed to me the question in front of the Board wasn't what would happen to amortize Enbridge's proposed budgets, but what would happen if you amortized larger budgets.  I didn't see a proposal in the Optimal report.  I didn't really see a proposal in the Energy Futures Group report around specific budgets.  And so I just used two scenarios to show that with larger budgets what would happen.

So I did one scenario with a doubling of the budget and another scenario of a 20 percent increase, just to kind of bound the analysis and give the OEB some information about what would happen under those circumstances and how would those revenue requirements compare to the revenue requirements that Enbridge has proposed for this current budget and expense treatment.

To me, that was a more valuable comparison.  Does that make sense?

DR. HIGGIN:  I understand exactly, yes.  So did you also consider that, as Mr. Fernandes indicated yesterday if you were listening, above some level of increase, the whole DSM portfolio would need to be redesigned?


MR. WEAVER:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  So did you take that into account?

MR. WEAVER:  No.  I didn't really look at what the money would be spent on, or how it would be spent.  It was really just, you know, it's really the revenue requirement.  If budgets were that high, how would that translate into revenue requirement.

I did not look at what plan would be required to develop those revenue requirements.  Again, and beyond picking two multiples, a multiple of 1.2 and a multiple of 2.0, really there was no more thought put into it than that, that those were -- those would be numbers that would give the OEB some information that seemed like it would be useful.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  So just move down to 1.1.4.  This is where you say you disagree -- and we have had a lot of discussion on this, so I won't go very far with this question, but just to give you a chance to clarify something.

So how do you think that the unamortized DSM balance should be treated?  I pose two options amongst others:  a regulatory asset account, or as funds collected from ratepayers and deferred?

MR. WEAVER:  Well, I don't understand the second option, so you would have to explain to me what you mean by that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, it is like a rate rider in reverse.  The money is collected and then it is kept in a deferral account.  And then that deferral account would be cleared.  So it is a different approach to amortization.

MR. WEAVER:  I still don't fully understand it.  I am not sure under -- like on how often it would be cleared and exactly how it would work.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  It's okay.  Since you didn't look at that, that would be -- that's fine.  I don't want to go into this in any more detail.

MR. WEAVER:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  So the only other question -- I just wanted to clarify your response to Mr. Brophy.

You used WACC, weighted average cost of capital that includes all components, short term, long term, and equity.  Is that correct?

MR. WEAVER:  Well, first of all, I just did a simplified example to show the general dynamic.  So my results aren't super precise.  I used a simplified capital structure that only had long term debt and equity in it.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  Well, there is a big difference between the cost of capital for debt, both short and long term, which we call weighted average cost of debt and WACC.  There is -- you would agree there is.

Did you do any calculations using weighted average cost of debt alone?

MR. WEAVER:  Yes.  So there is a section of my report where I looked at the dynamics of the various drivers of amortization and revenue requirements.  So if you look at figure 8, which is on page 21 --


DR. HIGGIN:  Right, okay.  I have seen this one.

MR. WEAVER:  I have a few scenarios.  I will wait until you bring it up.  There we go.

DR. HIGGIN:  There we go, yes, okay.

MR. WEAVER:  So the blue bars there are the weighted average cost of capital.  So that assumes that Enbridge is funding the money required to amortize these expenditures over -- and all of these scenarios are amortization life.



So Enbridge is raising the capital required to support that in ways that it raises on other investments, with a combination of debt and equity.  Those are the blue bars.

The orange brownish bars assume that the calculation is only long-term debt.  As I explained elsewhere in the report I think that is the wrong way to look at it, because Enbridge doesn't just raise money in debt.  It raises by a combination of instruments.

But if you were to do that, then that shows you the impact on revenue requirement.  So I did that scenario.  So that long-term debt is, I think similar to what you are referring to as the weighted average cost of debt, although the weighted average might be a little less than that --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, well, of course short-term debt is a smaller component than long-term debt.

MR. WEAVER:  It is much smaller share and lower in cost.

DR. HIGGIN:  Anyway, as you know, or not, do you know whether in some cases that regulatory accounts are kept and then disposed of using short-term debt as the basis to escalate the amount to be disposed of?  Do you know that?

MR. WEAVER:  Well, I am not sure -- I am not sure I understand the question.

I do know that there are no other jurisdictions that I know that amortize long-term investments over five, ten, 15 years only applying the cost of short-term debt.  And that is because that wouldn't fully compensate utilities for their cost of servicing that capital.  So I don't know of any jurisdiction that does that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  I think I have your answer.  Thank you for your answers, and thank you again.

MR. WEAVER:  You're welcome.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much, Dr. Higgin.

With that, I must let people know that both OEB Staff and FRPO have indicated that they're going to relinquish their time for Mr. Weaver.  So that brings us to the end of panel 3.

I would like to thank Mr. Weaver for his time and for his evidence.  And I would also like to thank everyone, all of the questioners today, in terms of everyone's efforts to try to streamline the process and keep us on time.  Thanks to everyone's efforts I am pretty sure we are pretty much on time for tomorrow.

We will circulate the new schedule for tomorrow, but as it looks right now, we look like we will be able to finish by the end of tomorrow.

With that, I will wish everyone a good night.

MR. OLEARY:  Thank you.  Good night.

MR. WEAVER:  Good night.

MR. OLEARY:  Thanks, Mr. Weaver.
--- Whereupon the proceedings adjourned at 5:08 p.m.
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